The Vault

Open Theses and Dissertations

2021-07-16

Complex students: Understanding how to best supports students with a comorbid developmental or physical health need

Choudhry, Muzna Ijaz

Choudhry, M. I. (2021). Complex students: Understanding how to best supports students with a comorbid developmental or physical health need (Master's thesis, University of Calgary, Calgary, Canada). Retrieved from https://prism.ucalgary.ca.

http://hdl.handle.net/1880/113663

Downloaded from PRISM Repository, University of Calgary

UNIVERSITY OF CALGARY

Complex students: Understanding how to best supports students with a comorbid developmental or physical health need

by

Muzna Ijaz Choudhry

A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

GRADUATE PROGRAM IN EDUCATIONAL PSYCHOLOGY

CALGARY, ALBERTA

JULY, 2021

© Muzna Ijaz Choudhry 2021

Abstract

Minimal literature has investigated the supports teachers access for students with complex needs for their academic and developmental needs in a school environment. Students with complex needs, in this particular study, are those with a neurodevelopmental or medical disorder along with a comorbid disorder (e.g., epilepsy and cerebral palsy), with a focus on preschool children and those in early education. Since teachers are primarily responsible for helping students succeed in the classroom, securing resources and supports for students mostly falls on teachers. As such, the present study explored the following aims: 1) identify the supports this population is receiving within the classroom; 2) understand the challenges and potential barriers teachers experience in supporting students with complex needs; and 3) describe the profiles of children in early and elementary education. This study used a qualitative design approach. An anonymized dataset was used to generate demographic information of students with complex needs enrolled in a specialized academic setting. Five focus groups were conducted at specialized school settings in Calgary, and the focus group data was analyzed using thematic analysis in order to generate themes relevant to the research questions. Those themes were: 1) supports for students; 2) resources for teachers; 3) barriers to supporting students; 4) well-being of teachers; 5) recommendations for better assisting students. Overall, the results from the present study have future research implications and practical utility for educators and administrators.

Acknowledgements

I am incredibly thankful for all the amazing people in my life who have encouraged me to pursue my dreams and supported my journey throughout graduate school.

I am grateful to my supervisor, Dr. Gabrielle Wilcox for her continued guidance, dedication, persistence, availability, and positivity. Without your support this product may never have been possible.

A big thank you to Dr. Carly McMorris and Ms. Cynthia Prasow, for taking the time to be on my committee and asking thoughtful questions. A further thank you for Dr. Carly McMorris for allowing me to lead her project forward and for her guidance and continued support throughout this project.

To my son, Shail –Thank you for keeping me grounded and for helping me to find balance, being my biggest motivator, and being the light of my life throughout my graduate degree.

Finally, I am forever grateful to my parents. Thank you for your unconditional love and support. I am forever appreciative of all the hard work and sacrifices you have both made to give me the best education and opportunities possible. Thank you for always pushing me to reach my potential. I am proud to call you my parents.

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	II
TABLE OF CONTENTS	IV
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	7
Purpose of the Current Research	8
Overview of the Thesis	
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	10
Defining Comorbidity	
Common Comorbid Neurodevelopmental/Medical and Associated Disorders	
Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) and Intellectual Disabilities (ID)	
ASD and Internalizing Disorders.	
ASD and externalizing disorders.	
ADHD and Comorbid Disorders.	
ADHD and externalizing disorders.	
ADHD and internalizing disorders.	
Language Disorders	
Other Neurodevelopmental Disorders and Comorbidity	
Epilepsy and comorbid disorders.	
Cerebral Palsy and comorbid disorders.	
Down Syndrome and comorbid disorders	
Teacher Well-Being and Burnout	
Teacher Well-Being in Special Education.	
Special Education Teacher Well-Being and Stress.	
Summary	
CHAPTER THREE: METHODOLOGYERROR! BOOKMARK NOT DEF	INED
Ontology and Epistemology	
Ontology	
Epistemology	
Axiology and Reflexivity	
Research Design	
Qualitative component	
Focus groups	
Thematic analysis	
Thematic Analysis Considerations	
Step 1: Familiarization with the data	
Step 2: Generating initial codes	
Step 3: Searching for themes	
Step 4: Reviewing themes	
Step 5: Defining and naming themes	
Step 6. Producing report	
Method	55

Research Setting or Context	56
Research Participants	56
Data Recording, Transcription, and Storage	59
Data Analysis	59
CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTSERROR! BOOKMARK NOT DEI	FINED.
Demographic Results	63
Educational Code.	
Diagnoses.	
Different Educational programs.	
Qualitative Results	
Theme One: Utilization of Current Supports and Resources for Students	
Sub-theme 1.1: Therapists	
Sub-theme 1.2: Family Programs	
Sub-theme 1.3: Specialized equipment, areas, and material resources	
Sub-theme 1.4 Community Services	
Sub-theme 2.1: Professional Development	
Sub-theme 2.2: Supportive Staff Relationships	
Sub-theme 3.1: Classroom size	
Sub-theme 3.2: Wide Range of Needs	
Sub-theme 3.3: Communication with Families	
Sub-theme 3.4: Available Staffing	
Sub-theme 3.5: Funding and wait times	
Sub-theme 3.6: Available Time	
Theme Four: Well-Being of Teachers	82
Sub-theme 4.1: Wellness for Teachers	
Sub-theme 4.2: Unequal Work-Life Balance	82
Sub-theme 4.3: Inadequate Self-Care	83
Theme Five: Recommendations for Better Supporting Students	
Sub-theme 5.1: Communication between staff	
Sub-theme 5.2: Better compensation	
Sub-theme 5.3: Increased manpower	
Sub-theme 5.4: Awareness of early intervention	
Summary	85
CHAPTER FIVE: DISCUSSIONERROR! BOOKMARK NOT DEI	TINED
Research Aim 1: Identifying the Supports Students with Complex Needs Are Ro	
research 7 mm 1. Identifying the Supports Students with Complex 1 reeds 7 the 10	_
Utilization of Current Supports & Resources for Students and Teachers	
Research Aim 2: Understand How Teachers Can Better Support Students with G	
Needs	_
Identified Barriers to Supporting Students	
Research Aim 3: Describe the profiles of preschool and elementary children with	
complex needs	109
Strengths and Limitations	114

Implications & Directions for Future Research	118
Conclusion	
REFERENCES	122
APPENDICES	150
Appendix A	150
Appendix B	
Appendix C	
Appendix D	
Appendix E	

Chapter One: Introduction

Approximately 12.6% of youth and children in Canada suffer from at least one mental health diagnosis (Waddell et al., 2014). This number represents only those children and youth with clinically significant disorders who require intervention to address their symptoms and reduce their impairment. It is further estimated that of children and youth who suffer from a neurodevelopmental or medical diagnosis, 29% also meet criteria for two or more disorders at any given time (Waddell et al., 2014). This is relevant as individuals with comorbid neurodevelopmental or medical disorders are at even higher risk for experiencing poor mental health than the general population (Quinn, 2008). Some common neurodevelopmental disorders include autism spectrum disorder (ASD), attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), down syndrome, cerebral palsy, and epilepsy among others. Common comorbid diagnoses consist of anxiety, depression, obsessive compulsive disorder (OCD), and externalizing disorders, such as oppositional defiant disorder (ODD) and conduct disorder (CD). Children with comorbid disorders, specifically younger children, are at increased risk for severe learning challenges in school, being placed in segregated classrooms, bullying, social isolation, disruptive behaviours, and poorer outcomes related to self-care and daily living skills than those experiencing a neurodevelopmental or medical disorder alone (Quinn, 2008; Yoshimasu et al., 2012). As a result, these conditions are costly in relation to treatment and services as well as educational and occupational achievement and productivity (Yoshimasu et al., 2012) because children with complex needs require more accommodations, academic support services, educational assistants, and teacher support.

Academic, individual, and administrative support can range from increased administrative duties, such as paperwork for funding, increased communication and meetings with parents, and multi-disciplinary meetings, along with meeting the diverse special needs of their students, which includes preparing visuals, schedules, and modifying classroom instruction and materials to be at the same level of needs of their students, leading to teacher frustration and burnout (Castro et al., 2010; Gibbs & Miller, 2013; Klassen, 2010). Current literature suggests that teachers utilize a variety of strategies to support students with complex needs in the areas of academics, behavioural needs, physical and emotional needs. These strategies include consultation, professional development, help-seeking, and problem solving to build additional resources and support for children with more complex needs; however, the burden for helping students succeed within schools and securing those resources falls primarily on teachers (Castro et al., 2010; Gibbs & Miller, 2013). This impacts teacher well-being as they begin to feel their workload is unreasonable and outside of their competencies when the context of the classroom is highly demanding and compromise classroom instruction (Castro et al., 2010; Dicke et al., 2014).

Purpose of the Current Research

Despite the needs of children with comorbid disorders and the possible impact on teachers, no known research in Canada has examined the profiles of children with complex needs. This is relevant to better examine the demographic, cognitive, and academic profiles of students with complex needs and how to best support them. Furthermore, minimal literature has investigated the supports teachers access for complex kids in their academics, medical, and developmental needs related to their neurodevelopmental disorder in a school environment. In light of the above-described research, the primary aims of this qualitative study were to: 1)

identify the supports this population is receiving in an academic setting; 2) understand the challenges and barriers teachers experience in supporting students with complex needs; and 3) describe the profiles of children in early and elementary education. There is a great need to hear teachers' voices given their training and background in supporting students with complex needs in order to understand the additional supports they need to fully support children with complex needs. The results of this study have the potential to benefit administrators at the school-site level in supporting novice and experienced teachers through recognizing their challenges and providing opportunities for training and professional development activities for in-service teachers and educational assistants. Further, it will also benefit teachers to hear the experiences and challenges of others within the special education field and gain information of resources and supports they utilize within their classrooms. Finally, by giving us insight into the current supports being used by teachers and any barriers they face in providing these supports, in turn we can better understand how to tackle and overcome the challenges to providing resources to students with complex needs in the classroom.

Overview of the Thesis

Chapter two provides a review of the relevant background literature including a presentation of common neurodevelopmental and medical disorders along with comorbid health issues, as well as teacher burnout and well-being. It concludes with a statement of the research problem and purpose of the study and presents the research questions. The chosen qualitative approach to inquiry and the study's methodological details, from design through to analysis are presented in Chapter three. Chapter four presents the results of the study. Finally, the findings are discussed in the context of relevant literature and offer implications for both practice and research.

Chapter Two: Literature Review

This chapter provides an overview of the literature on neurodevelopmental disorders and medical disorders along with their common comorbid disorders, particularly in early and elementary education. The subsequent section will focus on teacher well-being and burnout as well as their background and competencies when supporting children with complex needs. The review of this diverse literature connects emerging concepts that are not widely discussed with the educational context.

Defining Comorbidity

Since comorbidity is common in neurodevelopmental disorders, it is a particularly important issue in the overall care of children. A common definition of comorbidity used across literature is when multiple diagnoses are present, the term comorbidity is utilized when children meet diagnostic criteria for more than one disorder (Angold et al., 1999; Bax & Gillberg, 2010; Kaplan et al., 2006; Lilienfeld et al., 1994; & Van Loo & Romeijn, 2015). This definition of comorbidity draws attention to the frequent co-occurrence of conditions, suggesting that there could be a genetic relation between them (Bax & Gillberg, 2010). One problem with the term comorbidity is that it has been used to include a variety of different temporal relationships amongst disorders. Some child and adolescent studies have considered disorders co-occurring over a short span of time, while others have reported rates of comorbidities over one year or even the individual's lifetime to date (Angold et al., 1999). Comorbidity between current disorders at the time of assessment means that both must be present at the same time (Bax & Gillberg, 2010). Although their times of onset and offset may vary, during some period both disorders must have been present concurrently to be labelled as concurrent comorbidity (Angold et al., 1999). Additionally, comorbidity can also arise from one disorder increasing the

risk of another disorder, such as the relationship between ADHD and ODD, possibly due to a causal association (Angold et al., 1999; Barkley, 2006). This shared etiology can include common genetic influences or neurological processes (Tuvblad et al., 2009). Poorly distinct boundaries between disorders with a shared etiology can produce co-occurring disorders that are different presentations of the same underlying neural circuit disruptions (Morris & Cuthbert, 2012). However, further research is still developing and evolving in understanding neural circuits and common neurological processes amongst co-occurring disorders. When using comorbidity in developmental disabilities research, an accurate application of this term is essential across studies. It has been emphasized that when two or more developmental disorders are said to be comorbid, we presume they are simultaneous, independent disorders with possibly different etiologies (Angold et al., 1999; Kaplan et al., 2006). Whereas co-occurring disorders in developmental disabilities are better utilized to explain cases when two disorders co-occur together and have similar symptoms and etiologies, likely part of a spectrum (Kaplan et al., 2006). Kaplan and colleagues (2006) assert that the term comorbidity may be less helpful than the idea of a continuum in developmental disorders. In other words, when the child may be suffering from a single underlying condition that displays similar symptoms and features of two arbitrarily defined disorders, that can have similar etiologies (Kaplan et al., 2006). For instance, in developmental disorders, where there may be a continuum of severity with children identified with ADHD and DCD be at the lower extreme end of the continuum and children with ASD showing greater severity in overall functioning (Angold et al., 1999; Kaplan et al., 2006). However, the usage of a consistent definition of comorbidity and co-occurring disorders is not prevalent yet in developmental studies, with these terms being used interchangeably in research.

Overall, epidemiological studies show that at least one in three children with one disorder meet criteria for one or more additional disorders (Angold et al., 1999; Costello et al., 2003). Children with a comorbid condition are more likely to be referred to pediatric psychiatric services than children with a single disorder (Wolff & Ollendick, 2006). For example, preschool and school-age children with ADHD and a co-occurring disorder showed more substantial impairment in academics, greater social dysfunction, and were more frequently evaluated at a pediatric psychiatric clinic for an evaluation than children with only ADHD (Wilens et al., 2002; Wolff & Ollendick, 2006). Children with multiple comorbidities also tend to experience more impairment including school failure and criminality and are less responsive to interventions compared to children with a single disorder (Connor et al., 2010; Sexton, et al., 2012). For another example, children with ASD frequently have comorbid medical and psychiatric conditions, such as sleep disorders, epilepsy, food intolerance, gastrointestinal dysfunction, mood disorder, and aggressive and self-injurious behaviours that require more frequent referrals to a mental health specialist once they approach adolescence (Mannion et al., 2014).

The literature has focused on co-occurring disorders that belong to the same diagnostic class, referred to as homotypic comorbidities (i.e., anxiety with other internalizing disorders; Angold et al., 1999). *Homotypic comorbidities*, tend to result from similar mechanisms, and consequently, often both disorders fall into the same expertise of the researcher. Whereas *heterotypic comorbidities*, known as co-occurring disorders, that go beyond their diagnostic categories, such as learning disabilities with internalizing or externalizing disorders, are less studied, but they are still common and will likely be more beneficial in helping to understand the underlying mechanisms of disorders (Pennington et al., 2019). Also, current developmental

research focus more on what differentiates one disorder from another, using research designs involving pure groups without comorbidities and forming groups based on their comorbidity label (ADHD alone, ASD alone, ASD and ADHD; Newcorn et al., 2009). Fewer studies focus on comparing comorbid disorders and the varying needs and supports children with different comorbid disorders require.

However, there is currently not a consistent differentiation between comorbidity and co-occurring disorders in developmental studies, and these terms are frequently used interchangeably in research. For present purposes of the study, comorbidity is used to refer to students with two co-occurring disorders. This aligns with the common definition of comorbidity mentioned above is used in research to describe the co-occurrence of disorders, and children meeting the diagnostic criteria for more than one disorder (Angold et al., 1999; Bax & Gillberg, 2010; Lilienfeld et al., 1994; & Van Loo & Romeijn, 2015).

Common Comorbid Neurodevelopmental/Medical and Associated Disorders

The disorders presented here have certain features in common and were relevant for the students involved in this study as they were common diagnoses of the students at the school. Most of these diagnoses have an early onset with continued impairment throughout life. Additionally, there is considerable heterogeneity in the symptoms and severity the of the neurodevelopmental disorders discussed. These neurodevelopmental disorders show overlapping genetic influences; however, it is not yet clear whether those genetic differences are specific to the individual disorders (Tuvbald et al., 2009).

Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) and Intellectual Disabilities (ID).

ASD is a pervasive neurodevelopmental disorder characterized by deficits in sociocommunicative functioning in conjunction with restricted and/or repetitive patterns of behaviours, activities, and/or interests as described in the current edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition (DSM-5; American Psychiatric Association [APA], 2013). Specifically, individuals exhibit a wide range of cognitive, communicative, and behavioural symptoms (APA, 2013). These symptoms are present in early childhood and impair everyday functioning (APA, 2013). When discussing comorbidity in the assessment of ASD, it has often been in the context of ASD with intellectual disability (ID), as these two conditions frequently co-occur, and other symptoms including language delays, stereotypes, and self-injury increase as the severity of ID increases (Matson & Nebel-Schwalm, 2007). Approximately one-third of those with ASD have comorbid ID (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2016). At the same time, there is variability in intellectual functioning in ASD ranging from those with ID to those with higher-than-average intellectual functioning (Richler et al., 2010). Language impairment is another common comorbidity in children with ASD, but a higher cognitive IQ (intelligence quotient) and the presence of some speech before the age of five predict more favourable outcomes specific to language, leading to diverse language profiles (CDC, 2016). Approximately 43.9% of individuals with ASD demonstrate average or above average cognitive functioning (IQ score > 85), 24.5% include those with borderline intellectual functioning (IQ score of 71-85), and 31.6% present with an ID (IQ of ≤70; CDC, 2016). The severity of the ID can greatly impact the functioning of the students in the classroom, and the level of support they may require (Mannion et al., 2014). In addition, considering the variations in the symptoms presented in ASD, there are other associated medical and psychiatric conditions, such as sleep disorders, epilepsy, and aggressive and self-injurious behaviours that co-occur in children with ASD (Mannion et al., 2014).

ASD and Internalizing Disorders. Children with ASD commonly have comorbid mental health concerns such as generalized anxiety and depression, even though some individuals with ASD are unable to verbalize changes in mood due to insufficient language skills (Skokauskas & Gallagher, 2012). In a population-based study, 71% of children with ASD also met the criteria for at least one current comorbid health disorder; 41% met the criteria for two or more; and 24% had three or more diagnoses (Simonoff et al., 2008). The prevalence of anxiety in school-age children and adolescents with ASD varies greatly depending on the samples' characteristics (Merikangas et al., 2010). Nonetheless, studies consistently demonstrate that children with ASD have a higher rate of anxiety than the general population (Matson & Nebel-Schwalm, 2007; Merikangas et al., 2010; White et al., 2009). Between 22% and 65% of individuals with ASD have a comorbid anxiety disorder depending on the study (Maddox & White, 2015; Simonoff et al., 2008; Spain et al., 2018). Disparities in prevalence rates of anxiety in studies can be attributed to differences in sampling (clinical samples versus epidemiological samples) the method of assessment (measures rated by teachers and parents vs. clinician-rated measures, self-rated measures or the use of one or multiple measures), diagnostic overshadowing (when comorbid symptoms are attributed to ASD), and difficulty with introspection in individuals with ASD which makes it difficult to describe their internal states (Chang et al., 2012).

Social anxiety includes symptoms of anxiety that occur in specific or general social situations, a fear of negative evaluation of judgement by others, and avoidance or escape from cues that produce anxiety (APA, 2013). High levels of comorbid anxiety disorders with ASD could be influenced by symptoms, such as being socially withdrawn, which are extremely common in ASD (Skokaukas & Gallagher, 2012). Social impairment is one of the defining

deficits in ASD because one of the primary features of ASD is difficulty with social reciprocity. Social motivation can influence the frequency and types of social situations individuals engage in, responses to others, and turn-taking during conversations which influence the sustainability of social interactions (Spain et al., 2018). Similarly, stereotyped speech or limited interests can also affect the fluidity of conversations (Chang et al., 2012; Spain et al., 2018). Therefore, these social skills deficits can derail interactions with others and can increase susceptibility to social rejection, teasing, or bullying, leading to social withdrawal and isolation (Schroeder et al., 2014). These difficulties with social interactions can produce negative ways of thinking and beliefs related to inferiority, solidifying the symptoms of social anxiety (Schroeder et al., 2014; Spain et al., 2018).

Hess and colleagues (2010) found that children and adolescents with ASD displayed a higher number of psychiatric symptoms compared to same-aged typically developing peers. These significant differences were in relation to symptoms of worry or depressed behaviour, under-eating, avoidant behaviour, and repetitive behaviour. However, it is also important to consider that anxiety may act as a secondary phenomenon, which occurs from children's self-awareness of their difficulties in situations when they are expected to display age-appropriate social behavior (Gillot et al., 2001). Greater levels of anxiety are found in children with ASD who have average or higher intelligence, likely due to greater insight of their struggles with social understanding (Hallett et al., 2013; Strang et al., 2012). In research conducted by Gillot and colleagues (2001), high-functioning children with ASD were compared with two control groups: one consisting of normally developing children and one comprised of students with specific language impairments on measures of anxiety using the *Spence Children's Anxiety Scale* (Spence, 1997a). Children diagnosed with ASD were the most anxious, with high self-

rated anxiety on both separation anxiety and obsessive-compulsive disorder subscales. Gillot and colleagues (2001) suggested that anxious behaviours might be expected when children show resistance to changes in their environment or the fear of difficulty in understanding what is happening; feelings of constant uncertainty can also be a source of anxiety, suggesting this as a plausible explanation for the higher rates of comorbid anxiety.

Similarly, comorbid depression also occurs in individuals with ASD with estimates ranging from 17% to 27% (Leyfer et al., 2006). Based on parent reports of children and adolescence with ASD who had average or higher intelligence, about 44% exhibited symptoms of depression, and 30% exhibited symptoms in the clinical range (Strang et al., 2012). Interestingly, higher levels of depression, behavior problems, and getting teased was found to be a good predictor of attempts and suicide ideation in children with ASD (Mayes et al., 2013). Therefore, it is suggested that individuals with ASD be assessed for depressive symptoms, particularly suicide ideation (Kato et al., 2013; Mayes et al., 2013).

ASD and externalizing disorders. Beyond anxiety and depression, children with ASD also have higher rates of comorbid ADHD and OCD, which become more apparent beyond the preschool age (Elia et al., 2008). Through the DSM-IV edition, clinicians were prohibited from making an ADHD diagnosis in an individual with ASD. With the DSM-5, clinicians are permitted to make a ASD and ADHD diagnosis (APA, 2013). Both ASD and ADHD are reported to have had substantial increases in prevalence rates within the past decade. As a result of the increased prevalence of both disorders, as well as the ability to make an ASD diagnosis in ADHD, there has been a significant amount of research focusing on the comorbidity between ADHD and ASD in the past few years (Elia et al., 2008). These research findings point to a genetic connection between ADHD and ASD and that they commonly co-occur together.

ADHD is characterized by developmentally inappropriate inattention, impulsiveness, and/or hyperactivity that remains persistent over time and results in impairments across multiple domains of life activities (APA, 2013). Rates of comorbid ADHD and ASD, range from 14-78% (Gargaro et al., 2011). Furthermore, Simonoff and colleagues (2008) found ADHD to be the second most common comorbid condition with ASD after ID. Additionally, almost half of the ASD group, 44.78%, met criteria for ADHD (not specified; Skokaukas & Gallagher, 2012). These studies have also found that children with ASD and comorbid ADHD are at increased risk of bullying when compared to children with either ASD or ADHD alone, due to increased deficits in social understanding and communication (Garagaro et al., 2011; Montes & Halterman, 2007; Skokaukas & Gallagher, 2012). Finally, children with ASD and comorbid ADHD, displayed more problems with executive functioning skills when compared to children with only ASD, children with only ADHD, or typically developing children on a performance-based measure. (Sinzig et al., 2008).

Beyond anxiety and depression, Leyfer and colleagues (2006) found frequent comorbid obsessive compulsive disorder (OCD) diagnoses among children with ASD. Leyfer and colleagues utilized the *Autism Comorbidity Interview-Present and Lifetime Version* (ACI-PL) and found that 37% of children with ASD also met criteria for diagnosis of OCD compared to the *Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Assessment*, that resulted in only 8% of children with a comorbid diagnosis of OCD (Simonoff et al., 2008). Due to this variability, one of the main difficulties in diagnosing comorbid disorders in individuals with ASD is the lack of consistent diagnostic measures designed to screen for these disorders in individuals with ASD (Mannion et al., 2014). Comorbidity in the assessment of ASD continues to be explored, particularly the relationship between ASD and ID, as ID is a predictor of poorer prognosis among children with

ASD. However, there is considerable heterogeneity in symptoms of ASD and more focus has been placed on associated disorders such as anxiety, depression, ADHD and OCD.

ADHD and Comorbid Disorders

ADHD is a neurodevelopmental disorder affecting between 3% and 10% of the childhood population and is often associated with a significantly increased risk for a broad range of mental health comorbidities (Newcorn et al., 2009). ADHD is a neurodevelopmental disorder characterized by inattention and/or excessive activity and impulsiveness (APA, 2013; Barkley, 2014). The DSM-5 (APA, 2013) describes ADHD as a disorder characterized by two primary symptom clusters: inattention and hyperactivity/impulsivity. Symptoms of inattention include off-task behaviours, having difficulty remaining focused, and being disorganized (APA, 2013). Children exhibiting these symptoms may be described as often daydreaming or as easily distracted (APA, 2013; Nigg & Barkley, 2014; Roberts et al., 2014). Symptoms of hyperactivity/impulsivity in children with ADHD include excessive motor activity (e.g., running, fidgeting, tapping), inability to wait (e.g., acting before waiting for instructions, interrupting others), and inability to consider the impacts or consequences of their actions (Roberts et al., 2014). These children may be described as having difficulty staying still and acting as though they are driven by a motor or always on the go (APA, 2013). Individuals can also meet the criteria for ADHD combined, by meeting the criteria for both inattention and hyperactivity/impulsivity. To meet diagnostic criteria for ADHD, according to the DSM-5, symptoms of inattention and/or hyperactivity impulsivity must be present in two or more settings, have been present before the age of 12, and persisted for at least six months prior to the diagnosis. Additionally, the presentation of symptoms may vary depending on the

individual but will be diagnosed based on the criteria for predominantly inattentive, hyperactivity/impulsivity, or combined ADHD based on the DSM-5.

ADHD is highly comorbid with many disorders, including anxiety, other disruptive disorders, and reading disorders (Levy et al., 2013). In one such longitudinal study using a population-based sample, approximately 60% of both boys and girls with ADHD had at least one comorbid concern, and 35% had two or more, which is consistent with the idea that pure ADHD is rare in clinical samples (Yoshimasu et al., 2012). Although the exact etiology of ADHD is still relatively unknown, it is considered to be largely influenced by genetics and heritability; however, identifying the actual genes involved in the etiology of ADHD has been more difficult (Thapar et al., 2013).

ADHD and externalizing disorders. As mentioned previously, disruptive or externalizing behavior problems are the most common co-occurring domain for ADHD. Barkley (2010) proposed that this increased comorbidity is due to the significant deficit in the self-regulation of emotion, common in ADHD which heightens the risk for emotional dysregulation leading to comorbid ODD in children with ADHD. Other longitudinal research suggests that the severity of early ADHD acts as a contributing factor to the risk of later ODD (Loeber et al., 2009). Based on evidence from twin studies and research on shared environmental risk factors, both genetic and environmental factors have an impact on rates of co-occurring ODD/CD with ADHD (Levy et al., 2013; Tuvblad et al., 2009). In terms of disruptive disorders, ADHD comorbidity rates with ODD/CD range from 35% to 50% (Levy et al., 2013). There is evidence that ADHD and ODD can start to emerge during the preschool and early elementary years, and our understanding of the development of comorbid ADHD/ODD can be advanced by studying these early symptom trajectories (Harvey et al.,

2016). Although high activity levels, impulsive behaviours, defiance, and aggression are sometimes normative during the preschool years and early elementary years, about 75% to 85% of children who exhibited clinically significant ADHD symptoms in preschool met criteria for ADHD when they reached school age (Larson et al., 2011). When examining children from age 3 to age 7 in a sample of children at risk for ADHD and ODD based on their family histories, about half of the children later met criteria for both ADHD and ODD (Harvey et al., 2016). Other studies also show that children who later met criteria for ADHD and ODD had more severe symptoms of inattention, hyperactivity, argumentativeness, defiance, and anger in their preschool years (Riddle et al., 2013).

Two prominent models have been proposed to explain high comorbidity between ADHD and disruptive behavior disorders, which include the correlated risk factor model and the developmental precursor model. The *correlated risk factors model* suggests that comorbidity is due to shared risk factors, such as genetics, while the *developmental precursor model* proposes that symptoms of ADHD leads to the development of ODD (Harvey et al., 2016; Hazell, 2010; Riddle et al., 2013). The developmental precursor model suggest that symptoms of ADHD place stress on the family disrupting family functioning, which can place children at risk for ODD. Families of children with comorbid ADHD and disruptive behaviour disorders have been documented to experience more parenting stress and to engage in more negative parenting practices (Riddle et al., 2013). Also, children with ADHD are more likely to be rejected by peers, which can contribute to the development of conduct problems (Harvey et al., 2016; Riddle et al., 2013). Overall, findings have shown that both the correlated risk factor model and developmental precursor models are supported and suggest that multiple

mechanisms are involved in the development of comorbidity between ADHD and ODD/CD (Harvey et al., 2016).

Children with ADHD and comorbid disorders are linked with poorer outcomes in academic achievement, delinquency, social competence, parent-child communication, and negative parenting experiences (Cuffe et al., 2013). ADHD and comorbid ODD/CD appear more strongly related to poor academic performance and problems with executive functioning and associated with disciplinary action or being held back in school (Connor & Doerfler, 2008; Cuffe et al., 2013). Disruptive behaviour disorders in children with ADHD are linked with below average grades, repeating a grade, peer rejection, and school suspension compared to those with ADHD and comorbid anxiety or depression (Cuffe et al., 2013; Hazell, 2010). Since ADHD and symptoms related to disruptive behaviour disorders can begin to be observed in early childhood, clinicians working with young children are encouraged to screen for these conditions so that if they emerge, can be managed at an earlier stage (Harvey et al., 2016). Furthermore, for those children at higher risk or showing more severe symptoms of ADHD and disruptive behaviours, parent behavior training is recommended to reduce negative parenting practices and parenting stress (Cuffe et al., 2013). Since children with ADHD and comorbid CD or ODD have problems with peer and parent relations, early intervention with evidencebased parent training and skills training for children in the high-risk population can be especially important (Connor & Doerfler, 2008; Cuffe et al., 2013).

ADHD and internalizing disorders. The overlap of anxiety disorders with ADHD ranges from 10% to 35% in children referred to a clinic (Jarrett & Ollendick, 2008). Some studies propose that anxiety might be a feature of the development of ADHD (Levy, 2004) while others propose that comorbid anxiety with ADHD is characteristic for specific subtypes

of ADHD, and those with comorbid anxiety are different from those with the pure disorder (Jarrett & Ollendick, 2008). For instance, higher rates of anxiety disorders and depression have been noted in children specifically with inattentive ADHD and especially for Sluggish Cognitive Tempo (SCT), than either the combined or hyperactive subtype (Schatz & Rostain, 2006). SCT is an attention disorder and resemble signs of inattentive ADHD, with trouble focusing, paying attention, and excessive daydreaming, but are less likely to be impulsive or hyperactive and more likely to be linked to anxiety and depressive symptoms (Fassbender et al., 2015). Specifically, there were higher rates of agoraphobia, separation anxiety disorders, social phobias, and obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD), than other anxiety disorders in children diagnosed with ADHD and anxiety (Spencer et al., 1999). At the same time, even though the presence of anxiety can partially inhibit impulsivity, it can also make working memory and cognitive deficits worse, impacting academic performance (Schatz & Rostain, 2006). Therefore, anxiety in children with ADHD reflects concerns about competency and performance (Brown, 2000).

Research shows that children with ADHD and anxiety perform poorly on cognitive complex tasks that required sustained mental effort and working memory tasks (Tannock, 2009). For example, on laboratory tasks, children with both ADHD and anxiety have demonstrated difficulty on task measures requiring sustained or selective attention compared with children that are only diagnosed with ADHD alone (Vloet et al., 2010). There is evidence that children with both ADHD and anxiety have working memory impairments (Jarrett et al., 2016; Skierbekk et al., 2011). In one such study, there were significant group differences between groups of children diagnosed with ADHD alone and those diagnosed with ADHD and comorbid anxiety, on the processing speed tasks on the WISC-V (Jarrett et al., 2016; Wechsler,

2014). Furthermore, in another study, performance on working memory tasks showed little improvement after a stimulant medication trial for children with comorbid ADHD and anxiety (Bedard & Tannock, 2008). This finding supports past literature showing that children diagnosed with ADHD and anxiety demonstrate greater working memory impairment than children with ADHD only, leading to even greater academic difficulties (Jarrett et al., 2016; Tannock et al., 1995).

At the same time, it is important to highlight those diagnoses within the DSM-5 rely heavily on teacher and parent rating scales (Schatz & Rostain, 2006). Although parent and teacher ratings are helpful for externalizing symptoms, as they are more readily observable and easily identifiable, such as the more external hyperactive aspects of ADHD, they are less accurate at capturing the inattentive symptoms of ADHD or anxiety that include more internalizing symptoms (Schatz & Rostain, 2006). Certain internalizing aspects on parent and teacher ratings can also be misinterpreted as negative affect or depression instead of anxiety and can underestimate the prevalence of anxiety-related symptoms (Schatz & Rostain, 2006). This especially applies to younger children, who may not have the appropriate language skills to fully describe their feelings and so parent and teacher ratings are relied upon for diagnoses and research.

Finally, ADHD is also comorbid with Tourette syndrome (TS) and obsessive compulsive disorder (OCD; Debes et al., 2010; Freeman, 2007). This triad of disorders are often highly comorbid (Lebowitz et al., 2012). TS is a disorder characterized by simple and complex motor and vocal tics (Lebowitz et al., 2012). The onset occurs in childhood, and the tics are repetitive, stereotyped movements or vocalizations that are involuntary (Debes et al., 2010). Over time, these symptoms progress and become more severe and complex with

vocalizations, motor movements like squatting and twirling while walking and even echolalia or palilalia (repeating one's own phrases; Debes et al., 2010; Lin et al., 2007). TS and OCD are similar because of the difficulty to inhibit repetitive behaviours, and ADHD is related to the difficulty to inhibit socially unacceptable behaviours, verbal responses, and impulsive actions (Freeman, 2007). The effort to suppress tics can distract children and impact their ability to focus in the classroom and motor tasks like writing is also made difficulty by frequent tics. This combined with silent rituals related to OCD, such as counting, results in further attention problems combined with the concentration difficulties by ADHD interferes greatly with learning (Debes et al., 2010). These symptoms also lead to social isolation, with children with TS and accompanying disorders being at a higher risk for having poor peer relationships. They are often the targets of peer teasing compared to their typical classmates, leading to poor selfesteem and lower social competence (Freeman, 2007; Lin et al., 2007). Debes and colleagues (2008) examined a group of children and adolescents with a combination of comorbid TS, OCD, and ADHD compared with those who only showed TS. They found that having a diagnosis of either OCD or ADHD with TS contributed to impaired social functioning, selfreported depressions, rates of teasing, academic difficulties, and higher enrollment in special educational programs and schools.

Language Disorders

Speech and language development are important for understanding ID, ASD, ADHD as language skills is a major component of psychometric intelligence, and every case of ID includes delayed language development (McKean et al., 2017). Speech and language delays affect about 7-9% of preschool children and can result in problems in one or more areas, such as understanding vocabulary and grammar, inferring meaning, expressive language, sound

production, voice, fluency and articulation and the use of language in social situations (Boyle et al., 2010; McLaughlin, 2011). It is important to distinguish between speech and language. *Speech* is the verbal production of language or the oral form of communicating whereas *language* is the processing of communication and refers to the words and symbols, grammar, and pragmatics used to communicate meaning (McLaughlin, 2011). A speech disorder indicates someone has trouble producing certain sounds accurately such as with articulation, and language delays refers to receptive language (difficulty understanding the meaning of what is being said) and expressive language (the ability to share information, feelings, thoughts, and ideas; Boyle et al., 2010; McLaughlin, 2011). Language and speech problems can exist together or separately. Reported prevalence rates for speech and language delay varies widely, for preschool and school-entry children ages 3-5 years of age, studies that evaluated speech problems have reported prevalence rates of 5% to 8%, and studies of language delay alone have reported prevalence rates of 4% to 15% (Lindsay et al., 2010; McKean et al., 2017; McLaughlin, 2011).

For some children, language delays are a primary delay that is not better explained by hearing impairment, neurological impairments, or developmental disabilities (McKean et al., 2017). Language disorders are defined as difficulty using language in different manners, such as speaking or writing, due to deficits in understanding or production (APA, 2013). Other times, language delays are secondary to certain neurodevelopmental conditions, such as ASD, ID, physical speech problems, and sensory impairment (Bennett et al., 2008). Speech disorders consist of disorders linked with articulation and speech sound disorders where a child can speak fluently but may substitute or omit sound from words (McLaughlin, 2011). Childhood apraxia of speech (CAS) is another speech disorder characterized by impaired motor programming for

speech production in the absence of muscle weakness, and falls under speech disorders (McLaughlin, 2011). Mixed receptive-expressive language disorder, delays in expressive language and social communication disorder (SCD) falls under impairment with language disorders (Boyle et al, 2010). Those with SCD have difficulty with the use of verbal and nonverbal language for socialization (Boyle et al, 2010). Common risk factors for speech and language delays are male sex, prematurity, low birth weight, socioeconomic status and level of parental education (McKean et al., 2017). It has been noted that children coming from low SES are read to less and exposed to a less language-rich household in their early years, which contribute to lower language abilities at 4 years of age (McKean et al., 2017). Although a proportion of children between the ages of 3 to 5 may initially present with language delays, a number of these children can go on to later be diagnosed with another disorder that explains their difficulty in mastering language (Bennett et al., 2008). This is because delay in the communicative use of language form part of the diagnostic criteria for ASD, and children who experience difficulties mastering language can also develop social problems, such as bullying and isolation, as a result of their reduce use of communication skills to interact and play with peers and reciprocal social interaction (Bennett et al., 2008). The characteristics of two groups of 7- to 8-year-old children with average intelligence were compared, one with ASD and the other with severe receptive language disorder which showed that children with ASD had more severe language delays and produced more echolalia, scripted speech, greater difficulty with peer relationships, than the children with severe receptive language disorders (Bennett et al., 2008).

Due to the instability in child language development in the early years, it is difficult to reliably identify children at risk for persisting difficulties (McLaughlin, 2011). Language and

speech delay disorders respond well to early intervention, and their prognosis is a function of the nature and severity of the underlying disorder (Lindsay et al., 2010). More than half of the children with low expressive language abilities at two years catch up with their peers by 4 to 5 years old with appropriate intervention (Boyle et al., 2010; Lindsay et al., 2010). Children between the ages of 2- to 5-years old with articulation difficulties also tend to show substantial improvement in their language scores (McLaughlin, 2011).

Studies consistently reveal that receptive-expressive language impairment is a greater risk factor for adverse long-term outcomes than expressive language impairment alone (Boyle et al., 2010). Language impairment with receptive language is more resistant to intervention than an expressive language delay or phonological delays and shows a greater risk of comorbid behavioural difficulties as well as difficulty with academic progress (Boyle et al., 2010; McLaughlin, 2011). Children with low language abilities in both the receptive and expressive domain were more likely to have lower intelligence scores, ASD diagnoses, social-emotional and behavioural difficulties, and higher rates of comorbid literacy difficulties, compared to their peers in one more of these additional areas (Bennett et al., 2008; Lindsay et al., 2010). In adolescence, a significant proportion of those diagnosed in childhood as having a developmental language delay (in both receptive and expressive language impairment) showed poor social competence and also low academic progress (Lindsay et al., 2010). Since speech and language form the basis of communication, delays in these areas can result in negative outcomes. Speech and language delays are also associated with increased difficulty with reading, writing, attention, and socialization, making it important to provide early intervention and to seek professional assessment since atypical language development can be a secondary characteristic of other developmental problems that may first manifest as language problems.

Other Neurodevelopmental Disorders and Comorbidity

Additional neurodevelopmental disorders including epilepsy, cerebral palsy, and Down Syndrome are discussed along with the disorders that are commonly comorbid with them.

Epilepsy and comorbid disorders. Epilepsy is a common neurological condition that is characterized by a propensity for recurring, unprovoked seizures; seizures reflect abnormal firing of brain neurons accompanied by behavioural changes (Seidenberg et al., 2009). Epilepsy is not seen as a single disease but rather a constellation of syndromes and disorders. The presentation, symptoms, and etiologies are heterogenous, and this can make the diagnosis and treatment of epilepsy challenging (Seidenberg et al., 2009). Furthermore, comorbid conditions with epilepsy are common in children and teenagers and include medical, psychiatric, and cognitive conditions alone or in combination. Epilepsy can be the consequence of heritable conditions or secondary to a coexistent neurological condition (Seidenberg et al., 2009). Most commonly, children with epilepsy frequently have comorbid conditions like cerebral palsy, ID, and moderate to severe learning disabilities (Prasad et al., 2014; Seidenberg et al., 2009). Based on a sample of children with epilepsy between the ages of 5-15 years, while those with epilepsy alone accounted for 56.87%, while 23.05% reported at least one comorbid condition, 11.03% had at least two comorbid conditions while 9.53% had three or more conditions (Prasad et al., 2014).

In a study comparing preschool children with epilepsy between the ages of three to six to peers without epilepsy, children with epilepsy scored lower on auditory attention, short term memory, rapid word retrieval, along with slower processing (Prasad et al., 2011). They also showed lower and highly variable Peabody Picture Vocabulary Test-Revised (PPVT-R) scores compared with peers (Prasad et al., 2011). Those with associated comorbid conditions of

cerebral palsy or developmental delays had the lowest scores. Difficulties in domains related to short term memory, retrieval, auditory attention, and processing speed can become a barrier to academic achievement in early childhood (Prasad et al., 2011). In another study, elementary children with epilepsy underperformed in reading in comparison with their peers and were functioning almost two years behind their grade level (Duncan et al., 2007). Of particular significance is the occurrence of developmental delay and moderate to severe learning disabilities in more than half of this survey population (Prasad et al., 2014). Overall, children with epilepsy, especially those with comorbid diagnoses and cognitive deficits, are more likely to access special educational services in comparison with those only diagnosed with epilepsy alone (Duncan et al., 2007).

Cerebral Palsy and comorbid disorders. Cerebral palsy (CP) is a common group of lifelong neurological disorders. CP is a group of permanent disorders of the development of movement and posture, causing limitations in activity (Craig et al., 2019). CP is commonly classified by level of functional independence in terms of gross motor function, fine motor function, and communication abilities and by the area of the body affected (Gabis et al., 2015). Although cerebral palsy is not a progressive disorder, new symptoms may appear or alter in severity as a child develops, and additional comorbidities can develop throughout a child's lifetime with a negative impact on function (Craig et al., 2019; Gabis et al., 2015). Motor disorders in CP are associated with disturbances of sensation, perception, cognition, communication, behavior, and epilepsy. In children, a wide range of neurodevelopmental disorders are associated with CP, such as ADHD, ASD, learning disabilities, ID, speech and language delay, and developmental coordination disorders (Bjorgaas et al., 2012). Furthermore, a systematic review showed increased risk rates of emotional liability, irritability,

impulsiveness, and behavioural problems in children with CP (Gabis et al., 2015). The ASD prevalence estimates in CP vary from 3% to 16% and can vary based on the population studied (Gabis et al., 2015). A higher prevalence of comorbid ASD with CP was found in populations with other associated medical conditions such as visual impairment and hydrocephalus (Gabis et al., 2015). Similarly, comorbid prevalence of CP and ADHD, ranged from 19% to 35% (Craig et al., 2019). These findings suggest that ADHD seems to be more common in children with CP than in the general population. As with other comorbidities, differences in prevalence rates between studies could be due to the different diagnostic tools used (Bjorgaas et al., 2012; Craig et al., 2019). Even though studies suggest children with CP are at increased risk of neurodevelopmental disorders, depending on the complexity of the CP condition, it can be a challenge to diagnose ASD or ADHD, particularly when sensory impairments and motor deficits limit use of gestures such as pointing that can complicate differential diagnosis (Craig et al., 2019; Gabis et al., 2015). Also, certain characteristics such as social communication, attention, and behavior problems can be thought of as being part of cerebral palsy and be overlooked as characteristics also being associated with ASD or ADHD (Craig et al., 2019; Gabis et al., 2015). Similarly, intellectual impairment is another common comorbidity found with cerebral palsy. Evaluating intellectual abilities is important for determining impact on function and independence and prognosis (Gabis et al., 2015). However, cognitive assessments require adjustments of measures used and alteration of subtests as it can be challenging due to motor impairments and sensory deficits (Gabis et al., 2015).

Down syndrome and comorbid disorders. Finally, Down syndrome (DS) is chromosome-based neurodevelopmental disorder typically accompanied by ID occurring in about 1-1.5 per 1,000 live births (Reilly, 2009). A majority of cases of DS are non-familial,

and the most well-documented risk factor is maternal age (Reilly, 2009). Primarily, children with DS have a relative weakness in speech and language skills and strengths in adaptive skills, social skills, and social engagement compared to individuals with other cognitive disabilities (Ekstein et al., 2011; Reilly, 2009). Previously, the association of ASD and DS was considered uncommon as the typical personality profile of DS was described as someone who is affectionate and outgoing (Reilly, 2009). But more recently, there is evidence that not all individuals with DS possess these personality characteristics (Dressler et al., 2011). Common behavioural problems observed in children with DS and ASD include impairment in reciprocal social interaction and inability to start and maintain communication, repetitive play, such as rolling a toy over and over again, abnormalities in speech such as echolalia and seldom use of spontaneous speech, undue attachment to objects, restricted range of interests, distress over changes in environment and insistence on following the same routines (Dressler et al., 2011; Reilly, 2009). About 10%-15% of children with DS display similar behavioural concerns, and so it is possible that a number of these children may also have comorbid ASD (Reilly, 2009). However, it is difficult to determine a precise prevalence rate of ASD comorbid with DS since children with both DS and ASD are under-reported (Ekstein et al., 2011; Reilly, 2009) The reported levels of cognitive functioning of children with DS and comorbid ASD have varied, but there appears to be more children with comorbid DS and ASD operating in the severe range than children with DS alone (Reilly, 2009). In research, a common difficulty is distinguishing between ASD-type behaviours and similar behaviours associated with the level of ID (Dressler et al., 2011). A number of children with DS display stereotyped behaviours, especially those functioning with a severe ID, and distinguishing between stereotyped behaviours due to the level of cognitive functioning and those due to the presence of ASD can be difficult (Dressler et al., 2011). Likewise, hearing loss, vision problems, and communication impairment in young children with DS can affect the progress in social interactions and communication, making it complicated to diagnose ASD with complete certainty (Dressler et al., 2011; Ekstein et al., 2011). Oxelgren and colleagues (2016) studied a group of 108 children with DS, with a mean age of 15 years, and found that 19% met the criteria for ASD. They compared this group with children just diagnosed with ASD and concluded they had broad similarities with those diagnosed with both DS and ASD but noticed very subtle differences between the degree of social impairment. The children diagnosed with DS alone tended to be less withdrawn and seemed to enjoy more interaction with peers and social contact. However, the children with both DS and ASD showed weak independence and adaptive living skills.

Similarly, decreased attention span, difficulty in concentration, hyperactivity and impulsive behaviours (disproportionate to mental age) are often observed in children with DS, but the exact prevalence of diagnosed ADHD is not clear in this population (Oxelgren et al., 2016). However, in a research sample of 474 individuals aged 7 to 16 years old with DS, 14.8% met the criteria for combined ADHD (Ekstein et al., 2011). The diagnosis was made by pediatric neurologist and included an interview with the parents, questionnaires completed by teachers and parents, a neurological examination, and details regarding the cognitive abilities and medical conditions which might have an effect on clinical symptoms of ADHD. A failure to recognize and diagnose ASD or ADHD in children can prevent parents from accessing supports and interventions available for children needed to better manage these diagnoses (Ekstein et al., 2011; Reilly, 2011) Early identification of ASD or ADHD allows significant benefit in managing difficult behaviours, using appropriate strategies at school, and having

access to appropriate services and professionals experienced in the management of ASD (Reilly, 2011).

Teacher Well-Being and Burnout

At some point in teachers' careers, they are likely to become frustrated with their job or feel unsatisfied with their profession. Burnout is described as stress encountered that overcomes resources and abilities to cope adequately, leading to negative feelings of emotional exhaustion, depersonalization or reduced feelings of personal accomplishment in their work (Maslach et al., 2001). Emotional exhaustion is being depleted emotionally due to job-related demands, and teachers feel they can no longer give psychologically, while depersonalization is detachment and withdrawal from their job and students accompanied by feelings of selfcriticism or indifference towards their students (Chang, 2009; Maslach et al., 2001). Reduced feelings of personal accomplishment are related to teachers' perceiving themselves as less effective in their work because they are not achieving personal goals (Chang, 2009; Maslach et al., 2001). Teachers who have difficulty creating an organized classroom or who are continually focused on controlling students' misbehaviours, show concurrent feelings of burnout because their workload seems more burdensome or unmanageable (Chang, 2009; Grayson & Alvarez, 2008; Pas et al., 2012). Furthermore, lack of material resources and funding restraints from school administrators, professional development opportunities, along with feelings of isolation and insufficient community support systems are major factors in feelings of burnout (Castro et al., 2010; Scherff, 2008; Smethem, 2007). Moreover, studies show that inexperienced teachers, especially those who have been teaching for five years or less, are more vulnerable to work burnout and report higher emotional exhaustion and attrition than their experienced counterparts (Young, 2018). This can be related to pre-service special

education teachers often overestimating the amount of support special education teachers receive from administrators and their colleagues and underestimating their expected workload and additional responsibilities when teaching special education (Wasburn-Moses, 2009).

Teacher Well-Being in Special Education.

The increased responsibilities on the workload of special education teacher compared to mainstream teachers contribute further to the phenomenon of teacher burnout (Brunsting et al., 2014). These responsibilities can range from increased paperwork, challenging student behaviours, too many unique demands on time and resources, and mismatch between what was expected and the reality in a special education environment (Adera & Bullock, 2010; Brunsting et al., 2014; Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2007). Pre-service special education teachers often overestimate the amount of support special education teachers receive from administrators and general educators (Wasburn-Moses, 2009). Furthermore, special education teachers also spend more time performing noninstructional tasks such as completing paperwork, preparing for individualized program plans (IPPs) meetings, monitoring IPPs and behaviour intervention plans (BIPs), and more frequently communicate with parents (Brunsting et al., 2014; Vannest & Hagan-Burke, 2010). Unfortunately, special education teachers face these challenges daily, putting them at increased risk of burnout. Furthermore, lack of material resources and funding restraints from school administrators, professional development opportunities, along with feelings of isolation and insufficient community support systems are major factors in feelings of burnout (Castro et al., 2010; Scherff, 2008; Smethem, 2007). As a result, students with disabilities also face a continual change of teachers in higher proportions compared to general education as a result of increased turnover in teachers and educational assistants within special education (Castro et al., 2010).

Teachers in special education utilise a variety of strategies to lessen the feelings of burnout such as seeking help, problem-solving with colleagues, managing difficult relationships with parents of children, and seeking rejuvenation (Castro et al., 2010). Although these strategies helped teachers, especially those new to the profession, in building resources and support, the teachers had to take the initiative to securing resources (Castro et al., 2010). This burden to seek out additional resources and supports also extended to issues of meeting the diverse special needs of students (Castro et al., 2010; Scherff, 2008). Therefore, teachers who were likely to feel burnout or leave the profession were those who felt that the workload was unreasonable, their efforts were futile, and that their needs were not being met (Brunsting et al., 2014; Castro et al., 2010). Also, teachers' concerns about students' misbehaviour and discipline problems, has been linked with increased stress and burnout as well (Klassen, 2010). This can be further exacerbated if teachers are investing time in controlling students who are disruptive in the classroom but feel they will have little improvement if their efforts are not supported at home (Gibbs & Miller, 2013).

Special Education Teacher Well-Being and Stress.

Although the role of the special education teachers vary depending on the characteristics of the student population, they often hold responsibilities such as teaching to older students vocational skills, life skills, social skills, and adaptive skills in addition academic skills (Adera & Bullock, 2010). Students with complex, comorbid disorders require additional assistance and support to develop proficiency in these areas. Often, students with complex needs at the elementary level, are delayed in their independence and daily living skills and are often taught concepts at a toddler or preschool level. Consequently, toileting, eating at the table, getting dressed, changing their shoes, and using utensils appropriately are integrated into the curricula along with

academic concepts (Adera & Bullock, 2010; Probst & Leppert, 2008). Likewise, students with complex needs at the preschool and kindergarten level also require extra support in hygiene such as toileting whereas students are typically expected to be fully toilet trained when attending preschool and kindergarten (Adera & Bullock, 2010). They require additional assistance from both parents and teachers to improve their adaptive skills. These additional needs expand the role of the special education teacher beyond teaching academic skills. As students get older, these concepts change to a more life-skill focus such as budgeting, using money, opening a bank account, and purchasing groceries for instance, which are taught by special education teachers in addition as part of the academic curriculum (Adera & Bullock, 2010). Along with juggling the multiple roles and demands, special education teachers are held accountable for meeting their students' educational goals (Gibbs & Miller, 2013; Kaff, 2004)

In a special education classroom, the aggregate externalizing behaviours will possibly be higher than typical classrooms (Pas et al., 2012). In classrooms with higher aggregate externalizing behaviours, these classroom settings are highly demanding, resulting in more job-related feelings of burnout and can impact classroom instruction as well (Dicke et al., 2014). Higher externalizing behaviours in the classroom can negatively impact teachers' ability to maintain a supportive and organized classroom, to bond with students, to lead lessons, and to engage children (Dicke et al., 2014; Pianta & Allen, 2008). Often, children with disruptive behaviours require more one-on-one support (Hoglund & Leadbeater, 2004), but a teacher may already be feeling too overwhelmed by work to invest more energy into additional support (Hoglund et al., 2015). Teachers of students with behavioural disorders tend to experience higher burnout and depart from their positions in higher proportions than other special education positions (Adera & Bullock, 2010; Kaff, 2004). It is important to highlight the gap

in the literature for behaviours specifically of kids with complex needs. It is expected that these behaviours might be more different than those with primary behaviour challenges with a different etiology and the way they express themselves, but due to the gap in research, it becomes challenging to make those direct comparisons.

There are many challenges specifically associated with teaching children with ASD that make this more complex such as a pervasiveness of the core impairments and the increased parent-teacher contact necessary for students' success (Dymond et al., 2007). Furthermore, various comorbid disorders associated with ASD, such as anxiety and ID, make teaching this specific population more difficult (Coman et al., 2013). In particular, students with ASD demonstrate behavioural problems that produce educational concerns and stress to teachers (Probst & Leppert, 2008). Particularly, in the younger student and those with more severe symptomology with ASD self-injurious behaviour: head banging, biting students or staff members, meltdowns, and struggles with changes in routine or transitions between tasks are prominent as ASD students struggle to regulate themselves and communicate their needs through more appropriate means (Coman et al., 2013). These common occurrences as well as the aftermath of getting everyone back on track to focus and learn again have been described as additional stressors for teachers as they can impact educational programming, result in losing valuable time, and take away from instruction provided to other students (Coman et al., 2013).

As a result, more awareness is growing that undergraduate training for teachers is limited and lacking that specifically trains teachers with the skills to educate ASD students (Probst & Leppert, 2008). It has been brought forward those interventional methods and knowledge about the particular characteristics of children with ASD should be integrated into teacher training educational programs (Probst & Leppert, 2008). Teachers and professionals

with specialized mental health training and previous experience of serving ASD children has a positive impact on teachers' capabilities to adjust the educational programme to remediate the deficits of ASD students (Cotugno 2009; Dip & Sturmey, 2007; Lerman et al., 2008). Providing teachers with more specialized training and workshops on ASD has also shown improvement in children's behaviour, language, and social capabilities (Probst & Leppert, 2008). When considering teachers' perceptions related to the management of student with ASD in the classroom, teachers considered autistic students to be highly demanding and needy compared to typically developing students for achieving similar educational outcomes (Syriopoulou-Delli, et al., 2012). Teachers' reported that additional training and specialized education strengthened their self-esteem and put them in a better position to work as a team with specialized professionals, parents, and staff and confidence in managing their classroom.

Summary

In sum, the literature reviewed common neurodevelopmental and medical disorders that can be comorbid and commonly found diagnosed together in addition to other diagnoses as well as research exploring teacher well-being and burnout in special education, along with potential barriers they face. Given the dearth of information in the area of how teachers support students with complex needs, the purpose of this exploratory study was to 1) explore common supports utilized in the academic environment for students with complex needs; 2) understand challenges and potential barriers teachers experience in regard to supporting students with complex needs; and 3) describe the profiles of children with complex needs in early and elementary education. The population of students being studied with complex needs are those that have more than one co-occurring diagnoses and are at the preschool or elementary level within a specialized academic setting where they receive necessary supports to participate in

the classroom. While conducting the literature review, a gap identified within the literature was to compare students who have comorbid disorders, identified as students with complex needs within this study, versus those who have just one diagnosis in terms of how well they function in the classroom and the supports they require and even how their behaviours might differ as well. A large focus remained on teaching students with ASD and so it was difficult to find research that identifies possible barriers teachers are experiencing related to teaching students with complex needs.

Chapter Three: Methodology

The purpose of the present study was to better understand the kind of supports that early education and elementary teachers of students with complex needs access to aid their students' academics, behavioural, and developmental needs in a school environment. By better understanding how teachers access supports, we can better understand how supporting teachers will assist students with complex needs in an academic environment, potential barriers in supporting students, and teacher well-being. For the purposes of this study, students with complex needs are defined as having a neurodevelopmental disorder or medical disorder as well as an associated comorbid disorder. This research has the potential to provide a better understanding of how teachers support complex students and how teachers can be supported further, in return improving students' success within an academic environment. This chapter will present the methodological framework and methods used in the present study. It begins with a description of the research paradigm, followed by a discussion of the chosen methodology, focus groups research design, and highlighting potential researcher biases. Second, the selected data analysis approach, thematic analysis (TA), will be outlined, including its origin, limitations, and comparison with other methodologies. A demographic piece of the diagnoses of the students, their Alberta Education Code, gender, and age is also included to better understand the profiles of the students with complex needs. These two approaches will assist in achieving the following primary aims of this study: 1) identify the supports this population is receiving within an academic environment; 2) understand how teachers can support these students and any challenges they experience; and 3) describe the profiles of preschool and elementary children with complex needs.

Ontology and Epistemology

The major dimensions of qualitative research are ontology, epistemology, methodology, and methods (Carter & Little, 2007). The chosen ontology and epistemology guides the research design, methods, and data analysis (Carter & Little, 2007). Researchers should identify their understanding of the nature of reality (ontological assumptions) and their beliefs about what can be known (epistemological assumptions), and consider how these assumptions inform their methodological approach and methods (Madill et al., 2000).

Ontology. Ontology refers to characteristics of reality and the nature of being (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2016; Creswell, 2013). Ontology assumes that the way we view reality is complex and can be interpreted through many lenses (Willis, 2012). Ontology enables researchers to evaluate how their perceptions of reality impact the approach they use to reveal truths (David & Sutton, 2004). The present study was approached from the ontological stance of critical realism, which lies in the space between realism and relativism (Braun & Clarke, 2013). Critical realism states that what is real and true varies according to time and context and that what we know is a reflection of where and how knowledge was generated (Braun & Clarke, 2013). A critical realist approach was adopted as an approach to eliciting participants' unique opinions and experiences (on supporting students with complex needs) and for ascribing human meaning to reality (Carter & Little, 2007). In critical realism, researchers assume that there is an objective reality that exists for knowledge to be useful and relevant (Stainton Rogers & Stainton Rogers, 1997). Within this position, the reality of the participants in this study provides the foundation for knowledge (Braun & Clarke, 2013), while the interpretive work of the researcher assists in the clarity and applicability of the results. Attempting to access and understand portions of this reality can potentially provide valuable information that can be

translated into meaningful content useful for researchers and those supporting complex students.

Epistemology. Epistemology refers to how we create knowledge and the assumptions about the nature of knowledge, how knowledge is acquired, and the relationship between the participant and the researcher (Carter & Little, 2007; Scotland, 2012). The social constructivist approach was used for this study. The social constructivist approach views knowledge as being co-constructed by individuals who interact with and make meaning of their world in an active way (Creswell, 2014; Willig, 2012). Therefore, within this framework, knowledge is constructed based on participants' experiences, through the interaction and discussion between the researcher and participants, and the interactions among participants (e.g., commenting on each other's experiences; Bloomberg & Volpe, 2016; Creswell, 2013). As a result, in relation to the critical realism view mentioned above, there will be an objective reality about the supports needed for complex students within an academic environment. The researcher approaches and gathers reports of the experiences of participants on the supports being currently used for complex students and how teachers can better support these students, based on the perspective of participants.

Axiology and Reflexivity. Utilizing the social constructionist framework, researchers acknowledge how the interaction between themselves and participants and their own values influence how they identify themes and patterns (Carter & Little, 2007). In this research study, I acknowledge the central role I played as the primary research contact with the participants through the focus group discussions. *Axiology* refers to a researcher's personal values and biases that contribute to the interpretation of research (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2016). As part of qualitative research, researchers need to actively acknowledge and reflect on their own values,

preconceptions, and interests throughout the process (Carter & Little, 2007). Reflexivity entails researchers' active and intentional awareness of their values, opinions, and experiences brought forward and their effect on the process and outcomes on research. Reflexivity is influenced by the extent to which the researcher is part of the research and shares the participant's experiences (Berger, 2015). This acknowledgment and self-monitoring is known as bracketing, and is intended to reduce the deleterious effects that the researcher's preconceptions can have on tainting the research process (Morrow, 2005; Tufford & Newman, 2012). Bracketing is an ongoing process in which a qualitative researcher recognizes personal perspectives and makes effort to prevent their personal meaning from being imposed on the data (Fischer, 2009; Tufford & Newman, 2010). The goals of bracketing are to continually check assumptions about a topic and compare emerging insights against former understandings and assumptions about the data (Fischer, 2009). Engaging in this process helps a researcher to recognize personal opinions and set them aside to view the data through a different perspective. Therefore, researchers need to actively acknowledge and reflect on what personal experiences and biases may influence the analysis process and outcomes of the study.

During the process of this research project, I acknowledge my position as a mother to a son recently diagnosed with ASD. From this recent experience, I have developed empathy and understanding towards parents and students with exceptional needs and recognize that additional supports are crucial to their success within an academic environment. I assume, from a parent's perspective, that children with exceptional needs require greater support in self-care, communication, social skills, and academics, which parents would advocate for and request assistance from the school to achieve. At the same time, I have also worked as a support worker for elementary students with diverse needs within a specialized classroom setting, and so I

recognize that teachers often have diverse duties they need to juggle to meet the needs of their students, which can interfere with providing those supports. As a result, my background can produce biases that teachers require better support and resources to teach their students but also that even with resources and strategies in place, there are occasions where students may not be fully supported to the extent they require. The steps taken to minimize the effect of this bias are discussed below.

During all stages of the research process, I engaged in reflexivity to be mindful of my experiences that can create any biases and ensure they are not impacting data collection or interpretation, especially when developing codes and themes. Strategies such as discrepant findings, where I am being aware of and identifying negative findings that are discrepant from my assumptions or expectations acted as a form of credibility (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2016). For instance, I assumed that teachers would require more material resources, but one teacher was very satisfied with the material resources she accessed. Therefore, it was important for me to be attuned to evidence from the data that contradicted my preconceptions. Other strategies included recruiting a second coder to review the data, and consulting with a colleague and my supervisor to review the themes emerged were utilized. Additionally, keeping selfreflective notes when reviewing the transcripts and highlighting impressions, reflections and thoughts throughout the transcript analysis as a way to engage in reflexive practice and manage potential biases. Throughout the data analysis, a second coder reviewed the data, and we discussed emergent themes and patterns, to offer alternative ways of looking at the data. This also included discussing with my research supervisor of the emergent themes and frequent check-ins.

Research Design

The research design is the plan for conducting the study (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2016). The methodological design to address the research questions of this study entails the use of a qualitative research approach. The qualitative research framework emerged as an outcome to research questions that could not be answered using quantitative methodologies and questions. This study was guided by qualitative methodology, designed as a research approach that seeks an understanding of a social setting or activity from the perspectives of the research participants (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2008; Creswell, 2012). Also, the current study examines words and phrases that participants used to describe their experiences and reality. Quantitative approaches would not provide this insight into the experiences of educators. Qualitative approaches allows for the analysis of themes to provide answers to research questions which was needed for this thesis research design. Therefore, the current study utilized a qualitative design to adequately capture the personal, situational and contextual nature of participants' perspectives, views, and experiences (Johnson & Christensen, 2014; Yin, 2011).

Qualitative component. Qualitative methodologies offer the ability to understand the personal experiences, perceptions, and meanings constructed by individuals (Bowen, 2008). Primarily, qualitative research draws on narratives and observations as its data to understand and interpret the meaning of data gathered in specific contexts and then uses that knowledge to contribute to more general understandings and applications (Braun & Clarke, 2013). The primary aim of qualitative research is to gain a better understanding of the phenomenon of interest through the experience of those who have direct experience, thus recognizing the value of participants' unique viewpoints that can only be fully understood within the context of their experience and worldview (Braun & Clarke, 2013). This is valuable as it provides, a deeper,

richer understanding of the meanings that people place on actions, events, and relationships to allow the researcher to build a complex picture in a natural setting. (Lichtman, 2012).

Qualitative approaches allow for the analysis of themes to provide answers to research questions which was needed for this thesis research design.

Focus groups. Focus groups were chosen over other types of qualitative data procedures because they permit accrual of considerable information in a short period of time (Onwuegbuzie et al., 2009). A focus group is defined as a discussion by research participants targeting a specific theme or idea and is an effective method for analyzing perceptions as well as gathering ideas and input from the participants (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2008; Krueger & Casey, 2009). In other words, focus groups can be viewed as performances in which the participants jointly produce dialogue about proposed topics in a socially organized situation (Rio-Roberts, 2011). An important characteristic of focus groups is that groups are the main unit of analysis, rather than individuals (Kreuger, 1994). This characteristic is beneficial as it allows for group interaction to answer the research questions, as the goal of focus groups is to create a candid dialogue among participants that addresses, in depth, a particular topic that is devised by the researcher (Krueger & Casey, 2009; Morgan, 1996). The assumption of a focus group is that there will be an environment that encourages a range of opinions and discussions that can lead to a clearer view of the issues and reveal other information that a research might not have uncovered in the literature review. Focus groups naturally lend themselves to attaining more insight into a topic as focus groups are composed of participants who are similar to each other in a way that is important to the researcher (Krueger & Casey, 2009). Focus groups allow insight into a topic when participants feel comfortable, respected and free to give their opinions

and bounce ideas off each other or expand on others' points and discussions (Krueger & Casey, 2009).

At the same time, participants should be selected based on characteristics they have in common related to the purpose of the study (Kreuger, 2000). Therefore, focus groups do not involve representative samples but instead teachers in each school were asked to participate because they have pertinent knowledge and share key characteristics with the population or research questions at hand due to the nature of the student population served in the schools. A major advantage of focus groups was that it allowed participants the opportunity to question and explain themselves to each other, providing further depth of data on both the consensus and diversity of perspectives among the participants for a richer dialogue (Morgan & Krueger, 1993). Therefore, determining any agreements and disagreements among participants is a benefit of focus groups that would not be achieved through conducting semi-structured interviews (Morgan & Krueger, 1993). As a result, focus groups appear to be the most effective method to address the present study's research questions.

There are disadvantages to conducting focus groups as well, such as potentially dominant and controlling viewpoints that can emerge, irrelevant discussions, participants' reluctance to share their thoughts with others present, the position of the facilitator of the focus groups in the organization, and participants' concerns about confidentiality are potential issues resulting from the nature of focus groups (Smithson, 2008; Soklaridis, 2009). Krueger (2007) suggest that facilitators use a variety of strategies such as asking good questions, using probing and pauses, and keeping the conversation going while balancing the opinions in the group. Focus group facilitators often struggle with the degree to which they should allow the participant group to stray away from the interview questions (Piercy, Franz, Donaldson, &

Richard, 2011). As a result, it is important for the facilitator to have a balance throughout the group discussions between the facilitator and the group participants to prevent participants from overtaking the discussion off topic in order to produce important insights (Grudens-Schuck et al., 2004). Smithson (2008) expands on this by suggesting that research interests are best met by having the facilitator achieve a balance between the interview protocol questions and a healthy discussion by participants. A difficulty that can arise when transcribing focus groups is knowing who is speaking and identifying their contribution to the discussion. Krueger (2007) suggested that researchers transcribe their own interviews to avoid the chance of incorrectly attributing statements and to ask participants to introduce themselves at the start of the interview. Both these suggestions were implemented for this study. Furthermore, the facilitators used probing and follow-up questions to keep the conversation moving forward while balancing the opinions in the group.

The researcher's primary role is to facilitate a small number of questions to produce responses from all participants in the group. Krueger and Casey (2009) noted that groups of seven to ten participants are an ideal size to ensure everyone feels comfortable sharing information and enough to provide a diversity of perspectives. They also suggested having multiple focus groups on the same topic to balance out the idiosyncrasies of individuals and to include enough people to provide information and perspective on what is being explored (Krueger & Casey, 2009). A similar group discussion conducted across several groups allows the researcher to identify trends and patterns in perceptions (Krueger & Casey, 2009).

Furthermore, designing a specific set of interview questions for all focus groups helps identify group similarities and differences, to allow a form of structure along with some degree of flexibility (Knodel, 1993; Vaughan et al., 1996).

Although the focus groups provided a better understanding of the supports complex students are accessing and provided by teachers, the chart review of these complex students gave additional insight into their demographic profiles. Data from the charts of students enrolled at Renfrew Educational Services were analyzed to obtain information on students' age, gender, Alberta Education Code, and diagnoses. A staff member from Renfrew Educational Services compiled an anonymized dataset with the above variables for all students currently enrolled in the schools in which the focus groups were conducted.

Thematic analysis

Through appropriate consideration and consultation, Thematic Analysis (TA), as outlined by Braun and Clarke (2006) was chosen to analyze the current research purpose. TA is defined as "a method for identifying, analysing and reporting patterns (themes) within the data" (Braun & Clarke, 2006, p. 79). TA is an approach that is foundational for qualitative analysis (Clarke et al., 2010) and is useful when exploring the experiences of people (Braun & Clarke, 2006). TA can be used to gain a comprehensive understanding of participants' experiences and to identify themes and patterns in the data that reflect those experiences in a meaningful way (Yin, 2011). TA was deemed most suitable to address the current research questions as it facilitated the identification and analysis of supports which teachers are currently providing to students with complex needs and identifying associated barriers in an open and non-restrictive manner. This allows the researcher to create meaning out of written data and then translate this meaning to the present research context. Therefore, TA was deemed suitable to adequately address the current research questions.

Although focus groups are useful in studying issues when participants have experienced shared, concrete situations, no defined framework has been provided that encourages specific

types of qualitative analysis techniques that focus group researchers have at their disposal (Ahmed et al., 2017; Leech & Onwuegbuzie, 2008). There is an array of qualitative analysis techniques available to qualitative researchers, but TA is frequently used for analyzing focus group data and varies depending on the complexity of the data (Ahmed et al., 2017; Leech & Onwuegbuzie, 2008). TA is a method for identifying, analyzing, and reporting patterns within data, and a theme captures something important about the data in relation to the research question (Ahmed et al., 2017; Onwuegbuzie et al., 2009). As such, TA suits focus group and interview data when analyzing dialogues and can be used with different epistemological paradigms, but there is a need to make such epistemological and theoretical interests clear (Ahmed et al., 2017). Furthermore, focus group data can be analyzed through thematic analysis, especially when there are multiple focus groups within the same study. Because focus group data are analyzed one focus group at a time, researchers could use the multiple groups to assess if the codes that emerged from one group also emerged from other groups, which helps to refine themes (Leech & Onwuegbuzie, 2008; Onwuegbuzie et al., 2009).

Thematic Analysis Considerations. TA is not linked to any particular framework, so it can be applied when using a range of theories and epistemological approaches (Joffe, 2012). Braun and Clarke (2006) offered guidelines and steps for conducting TA for use as a framework to interpret qualitative data. TA allows for the use of inductive (data-driven) or deductive (theory-driven) approaches when examining data to identify, check, and modify codes in the data (Braun & Clarke 2006; Feraday & Muir-Cochrane, 2006). The themes are linked to the data through the inductive approach, which establishes clear links, categories, and associations between the research questions and findings (Braun & Clarke, 2006). The deductive approach involves data analysis of the themes being driven by the researcher's

theoretical framework and gives a more detailed description of some aspect of the data. In this case, the data was analyzed inductively as the research study is more exploratory in nature.

Since the inductive approach was taken, the process of coding the data was done without trying to fit into a pre-existing theoretical framework or the researcher's theoretical interest.

Themes and patterns were generated based on the participants' accounts of their experiences supporting complex students within an academic environment, rather than confirming or refuting pre-established hypotheses and theoretical frameworks. It is important to acknowledge that the literature review carried out prior to the data analysis along with previous clinical knowledge likely influenced in the interpretation of the data. However, the coding was not driven by theory, and there was no effort to frame the data within pre-existing theoretical frameworks or themes (Braun & Clarke, 2013). To my knowledge, no known research has examined the demographic profiles of this population of complex students, which supports they are accessing, which ones they need, and the barriers on how best to support them in an academic environment. Therefore, the present study had no previous literature which could reliably inform any themes or categories in the dataset, and the open and flexible nature of focus groups allowed participants to provide detailed and varied responses that became this present study's dataset. As such, inductive thematic analysis was the best option for interpreting the study's data in a detailed and thorough manner.

Furthermore, in thematic analysis, the researcher examines the dataset to extract meaningful units of information, referred to as codes, and looking for patterns across the codes that fit into themes. The process of how codes fit into themes is based on the researcher's interpretation, and these themes help capture information relevant to the research questions (Braun & Clarke, 2009). The researcher indicates which level of analysis the themes will be

identified, either at the semantic or latent level (Braun & Clarke, 2006). Themes generated at the *semantic level* are considered surface level or at face value and do not look for interpretation beyond what the participant has said (Braun & Clarke, 2006). The semantic lens focuses on deriving themes from the explicit or surface meanings of the data (Braun & Clarke, 2006). On the other hand, *latent coding* goes beyond the semantic content and identifies underlying assumptions or inferences are made regarding what was meant by the participants' statement. In latent coding, researchers apply their own interpretation of the information that participants have communicated. The semantic approach to data analysis aligns well with our approach because individuals develop subjective meanings of their experience, and the goal of the research is to rely more on participants' views of the situations being studied.

Although the flexibility of TA is beneficial for the present study, undertaking TA should be done in a rigorously and methodically to ensure accurate results (Nowell, Norris, White & Moules, 2017). This is done through the step-by-step approach to conducting thematic analysis, which provides a detailed approach to analyzing the data (Braun & Clarke, 2006, Nowell et al., 2017). Based on the six-step guide by Braun and Clarke (2006), the current study used thematic analysis to examine the supports complex students are accessing, which ones they need, and how best to support them in an academic environment.

6 steps of thematic analysis:

Step 1: Familiarization with the data. The initial stage of the analysis was to become familiar with the data by actively reading each source of data in its entirety and then re-reading to understand the depth of the information (Braun & Clarke, 2006). Braun & Clarke (2006) consider transcribing interviews as a facet of data analysis that should be done by researchers because it helps researchers to familiarize themselves with the data. Initially, I actively read and

re-read each transcript of the focus groups to understand the depth of the information, familiarize myself with the data and to begin initial interpretive considerations, while making note of significant phrasing and recurring ideas expressed by the participants

Step 2: Generating initial codes. Next, each interview transcript was carefully read, and codes were generated with regard to the supports school staff utilized and required in supporting complex students in an academic environment. The codes were created using words that were commonly used in each individual statement or those that reflected the overt meaning of the quote. New codes were often developed in response to sections of data that did not fit into one of the initial codes.

Step 3: Searching for themes. The next phase involved the process of organizing codes and their excerpts from the transcripts into meaningful groups, themes and sub-themes. After data was initially coded and collated, this phase involved focusing on the broader themes that more fully described the research aims. Codes that fit together were separated and combined into potential themes. According to Braun and Clarke (2006), meaningful themes are not dependent on quantifiable measures but rather whether it captures something important in relation to the overall research questions.

Step 4: Reviewing themes. In this phase, the researcher began to critically evaluate the themes to determine if there was enough data to support them, if some themes could be collapsed, or whether themes needed to be broken down further into sub-themes, to answer the research aims. Each theme and subtheme was checked against the codes they contained and the sections of transcripts pertaining to those codes to ensure best fit. In this phase, the themes were also checked against their representativeness of the whole data set, (e.g., themes were not consistently answering only one question from the data set) and against their ability to answer

the research question (e.g., were the themes able to provide insight into the supports utilized for complex students and how they can be supported further).

Once all codes were identified and successfully sorted into themes, they were gathered in a codebook that consisted of a definition and example from the dataset. The second coder than used it as a guideline and examined and coded the entire dataset. The second coder provided an external perspective in determining how well the data fit within the developed themes.

Step 5: Defining and naming themes. The fifth step involves refining the themes, analyzing their related excerpts, and generating clear definitions for them. Themes and subthemes were defined regarding what they represented and how they related to the research question. In this step, each theme and subtheme are described in terms of their differential characteristics, outlining why each theme and subtheme was unique, and any similar qualities that they had with one another. A second coder was used to provide an additional outlook on the names of themes and subthemes.

Step 6. Producing report. In this step, the final analysis of the data was completed, including more detailed information on the themes and subthemes, and the report written based on that analysis.

Method

Focus groups were the chosen method of data collection for this study. Prior to starting the study and data collection, ethics approval was obtained by the University of Calgary Conjoint Faculties Research Ethics Board for the project and covered by ethics certificate number REB 17-0195. The procedural steps involved: 1) conducting focus groups with the participants recruited by Renfrew Educational Services at specified schools; 3) analyzing data

to determine emerging themes and patterns regarding the supports received by complex students; 4) analyzing the demographic profiles of the complex students at the specific schools the focus groups were conducted. These steps are outlined in the section below.

Research Setting or Context

The research setting consisted of five schools within Renfrew Educational Services in the province of Alberta that provides a specialized educational setting for students with a wide range of disabilities, including but not limited to ASD, Cerebral Palsy, Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders (FASD), physical, cognitive and developmental delays. They offer both early childhood services (ECS) and elementary education programs. The schools serve a diverse population of students and their families with varied English proficiencies, cultural backgrounds, socio-economic status, and learning needs. Each school included a team of professional staff including teachers, child development facilitators, speech and language pathologists (SLP), occupational therapists (OT), psychologists, therapy assistants, and family support workers. School A consisted of an elementary school in the northeast quadrant of the city whereas School B was an elementary school situated in the southeast quadrant. School C, School D, and School E are early childhood services schools, serving of students aged six and under. School C and School D are located in the northwest quadrant while School E is within the northeast quadrant of the city.

Research Participants

The research sample for this study was made up of 22 individuals, working primarily as teachers, within the schools. Considering the primary aims of this study were to: 1) identify the supports this population is receiving within an academic environment and 2) understanding how teachers can support students with complex needs, a purposeful sampling strategy was

utilized for this inquiry. These aims sought to gain insight into the supports students with complex needs are receiving and understand how teachers can support these students along with any associated barriers. This study was funded by the Werklund School of Education, Research Collaboration Grant, and the lead principal investigator, Dr. Carly McMorris, was the primary person in contact with the schools, scheduling the focus groups with staff members. Within all schools, teachers interested in discussing the supports utilized for complex students and possible barriers were invited to participate in focus groups. Managers at participating schools were asked to forward an email from the research team with a Letter of Invitation (Appendix B) and the Informed Consent form to teachers in their schools (Appendix C). The focus groups were organized for the noon hour at participating schools, as the most suitable time for participants. Lunch was provided to acknowledge the effort in participating in the groups, along with a draw of the names of the participants entered to win 1 of 6 \$25 Visa gift cards.

The participant breakdown (Table 1) included twenty certified teachers and two uncertified teachers. All participants were female. The group consisted of teachers of varying background and experiences.

Table 1
Number of Participants on Demographics Variable

		Number
Gender	Male	0
	Female	22
Job title	Teachers	19
	Uncertified Teachers	3
Educational	Diploma	3
Background	Bachelors	15
	Masters	4
Training in Mental	Limited	4
Health Needs	Moderate	8
	Extensive	10

Years of Experience	Less than 5 years	4
	5-10 years	10
	10-15 years	4
	15-20 years	3
	20+ years	1

Data Collection for Qualitative Component

The main form of data collection for this study was audio-recorded, transcribed focus groups with teachers from each of the schools. A brief demographics questionnaire was provided prior to the focus group discussion that included questions related to self-identified gender, type of education, job title, years of experience, and specific training related to child development and mental health (Appendix E).

The same open-ended interview questions were used for all five focus groups (Appendix D). Focus group size ranged for two to eleven participants. The manner in which the research questions were structured allowed them to be addressed in an open dialogue from the participants' professional experiences and their perceptions of the barriers and supports and resources accessed. Discussions followed a focus group protocol, and participants were provided with guiding questions at the beginning of the focus group discussion to follow along and allow for reflection and time to collect relevant information to be shared. My supervisor, Dr. Gabrielle Wilcox, and the lead principal investigator, Dr. Carly McMorris, co-facilitated the initial two focus groups after which I facilitated them independently. Once informed consent was obtained, focus group discussions lasted approximately 60 minutes each. The focus group discussions were audio-recorded with consent of participants for later transcription. Upon the conclusion of each focus group, participants were also asked to complete a brief demographics questionnaire with questions on gender, level and type of education, job title,

years of experience, and training related to child development and mental health, in order to gain a better idea of the participant sample (Appendix E).

Data Recording, Transcription, and Storage. The focus groups were audio-recorded and transcribed verbatim by the researcher. In the transcription process, the participants were assigned a Participant ID to represent their comments and to protect their anonymity and confidentiality. Any identifying information such as city, school and people's names were removed from the transcriptions as much as possible. All electronic data (including transcriptions) were stored on encrypted devices (researcher's personal computer) and password protected. Following this, voice files from the digital recording device were deleted.

Information of students enrolled at Renfrew Educational Services such as age, gender,
Alberta Education Code, the specific program they were enrolled in and diagnoses were
collected for the demographics component. A staff member from Renfrew Educational Services
compiled an anonymized dataset with the above variables for all students currently enrolled at
Renfrew Educational Services.

Data Analysis

For the demographic information of students, the anonymized dataset gathered from a staff member at Renfrew Educational Services was used to gather information about the students enrolled within the specialized academic setting. For the purposes of this study and aligning with the definition of complex students (those who have a neurodevelopmental disorder or medical disorder, as well as an associated comorbid disorder) only students who had more than one diagnosis was selected for looking at the profiles of students with complex needs. The information gathered for the demographic profiles includes the mean age of the

students, the frequency of male and female students, the number of diagnoses each student has, and the most frequent educational codes that has been assigned to these students.

Once all focus group transcripts were transcribed and read for accuracy, they were then analyzed using TA. For the analysis and generation of themes and categories, NVivo 12 was utilized as a computer-based analysis tool that is used frequently in the literature for use with TA (Silver & Lewins, 2014). Initially, I actively read and re-read each transcript of the focus groups to understand the depth of the information and to familiarize myself with the data and began to form initial interpretive considerations, while making note of significant phrasing and recurring ideas expressed by the participants. At first, codes were generated as they related to the research questions of the study questions while being open to other information that could be helpful to understand the phenomenon (Hays & Singh, 2012); as more codes were generated, and using the functionality of NVivo 12, some were merged or renamed. The process of coding was an integral part in the analysis as the researcher organized the data into meaningful categories. This process involved an open coding approach whereby each line of the data was closely examined "giving full and equal attention to each item" (Braun & Clark, 2006; p. 86) to generate codes.

After data were initially coded and collated, the next phase involved focusing on the broader themes that more fully described the phenomenon. There is no hard and fast rule for determining what constitutes a theme. Themes are not necessarily based on the frequency at which a theme occurs. Therefore, whether something is insightful or important for answering the research question is not necessarily determined by whether large numbers of people said it. Instead, a researcher's judgment is key in determining which themes are considered crucial. Nevertheless, themes generally represent recurring patterns of response derived from the data

that is related to the research question. Once initial themes were determined, they were reviewed and refined. Codes that did not fit within a theme upon review were re-assessed and either assigned to a more appropriate theme or became an entirely distinct theme. Throughout this analysis, the researcher initially wrote separate notes in the columns to capture reflections and tentative themes. While analyzing the codes and focusing on the broader themes, the researcher engaged in reflexive practice of keeping self-reflective notes when reviewing the transcripts and highlighting impressions and thoughts as a way to engage and make note of possible emerging themes. This also consisted of identifying findings that were discrepant with my assumptions as a form of credibility (e.g., I came across a teacher who shared she had a wide variety of resources available for her students and felt well supported in the classroom). The second coder was also a School and Applied Child Psychology Masters student with a similar educational background. Using the code book as a guideline, a second coder examined and coded the dataset. Afterwards, both I and the second coder compared the codes we had assigned separately. Miles and Huberman (1994) recommended that an inter-rater reliability (IRR) of at least 80% agreement between coders on at least 95% is considered acceptable and sufficient. The first and second coder had over 83% agreement on over 97% of the data. We compared the codes generated from the data and refined the themes. Any examples of codes and data that did not conform to the emergent themes were noted and any discrepancies between raters were discussed and a resolution was agreed upon before proceeding. Coders shared their rationale for the themes and sub-themes generated as well as excerpts that embodied those themes. Each section of the finalized transcripts was carefully analyzed and discussed to ensure that the assigned code and theme best represented that portion of the data.

Following this, the names for the themes were selected based on how well they captured the theme's content. After initial names and definitions were created, the second coder was consulted to determine the level of applicability. Together, it was decided which names and definitions were successful in capturing the essence of the data set, and which required refinement. Refinements were discussed together until agreement was reached on how best to name or describe the theme. The results of the thematic analysis including more detailed information on the themes and subthemes, are report in chapter four.

Chapter 4: Results

This chapter reviews the results of the present study. The purpose of the present study was to better understand the kind of supports that early education and elementary teachers of students with complex needs access to aid their students' needs in a school environment. By better understanding how teachers access supports and potential barriers teachers face in supporting students, we will have more knowledge which can be used to mitigate potential challenges teachers experience, improve teacher well-being, and prioritize resources teachers need to effectively assist students with complex needs in an academic environment. This chapter presents the key findings obtained from the demographic data of the profiles of the students and the qualitative data obtained from the five focus groups, with the presentation of the themes and sub-themes that emerged from these focus groups.

Demographic Results

The anonymized dataset gathered by Renfrew Educational Services was used to generate demographic information about the students enrolled within the specialized academic setting. This included the mean age of the students, the frequency of male versus female students, the number of diagnoses, and the most frequent educational codes assigned to this population of students. There was a total of 397 students attending Renfrew in the compiled dataset. Only students who had more than one diagnosis were selected for the demographic information, which lead to 53 students in total and consisted of 17 female students and 36 male students. The students were preschool and primarily elementary-aged students, with an age range of 4 to 11 years old and led to a mean age of M = 7.6 years.

Table 3

Demographics of Students with Complex Needs

Educational Code	Initially Listed Diagnoses	Enrolled Programs at
		Renfrew Educational
		Services
Code 44: 46 students	ASD: 21	Kindergarten (KSN): 3
		students
Code 43: 7 students	Medical: 19	
		Kindergarten/ISMD
	Cerebral Palsy: 13	(Integrated Services for
		Children with Motor
		Disabilities): 5
		Junior Kindergarten (JKSN):
		7 students
		Junior Kindergarten/ISMD
		(Integrated Services for
		Children with Motor
		Disabilities): 3 students
		Elementary Education
		Program (EEP): 35 students

Educational Code. The most common educational code was 44, Severe Physical or Medical Disability, which was attached to 46 students in the dataset. Code 44 are given to students in early childhood services up to grade 12, who have a severe physical, medical or neurological disability. This includes those with ASD, CP, FASD, a medical condition, or specific neurological disorder that severely impacts a student's ability to function and learn in an educational environment. Seven students were given the educational code 43, Severe Multiple Disabilities, which includes students who have severe multiple disabilities, of two or more non-associated moderate to severe cognitive and physical disabilities which impact a student's functioning at a profound level. This also includes students diagnosed with Down Syndrome who require extensive support in the classroom. In this dataset, this included students with Down Syndrome, those with brain malformations such as microcephaly, and students who had

severe cortical visual impairment along with other severe multiple disabilities such as microcephaly, CP, and epilepsy, which all impacted both their cognitive and physical abilities.

Diagnoses. While the total dataset had 397 students, only 53 students were selected that were classified as students with complex needs. Out of these 53 students, 38 students had 2 diagnoses, 11 students had 3 diagnoses, and 4 students had 4 diagnoses. The most common diagnosis listed first was ASD (21 students); comorbid disorders included ID (16 students), ADHD (three students), Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD; two students), Developmental Coordination Disorder (DCD; one student), and selective mutism (one student). Nineteen students had an initial medical or genetic disorder such as Down Syndrome, abnormal brain malformations, and rare genetic syndromes (e.g., Kleefstra Syndrome or 15q13.3 microdeletion) along with a second associated disorder of ID (twelve students), ASD (four students), or a secondary medical disorder (three students). CP was the first listed diagnosis for 13 students, along with a comorbid disorder of both epilepsy and visual impairments (five students) or ID (13 students).

It is important to highlight that although ID was diagnosed in quite a few elementary students, the severity of the ID was not always specified. As mentioned in the literature review, the severity of the ID can greatly impact the functioning of the students in the classroom, and the level of support they may require. Likewise, the severity of the ASD was also not identified as part of the diagnosis.

Different Educational programs. A variety of programs are available at Renfrew Educational Services to help support the diverse needs of their students. When looking at the profiles of students with complex needs, the largest number of students are enrolled in the Elementary Education Program (EEP). This program provides modified elementary education

to students within a safe environment, and teachers modify their programs to meet the needs of each child. The Junior Kindergarten (JKSN) and Kindergarten (KSN) programs form the early childhood services and also receive PUF funding. A focus is on learning through play and the curriculum set out by Alberta Education is also modified to meet the special needs of the students. Some of the students enrolled in JKSN and KSN are also part of the Integrated Services for Children with Motor Disabilities (ISMD), which is a program offered for students diagnosed with motor disorders, such as CP, with a multi-disciplinary team targeting the severe motor challenges. Although a large number of students at Renfrew are enrolled in the early childhood services programs, only a few of them were recognized as students with complex needs because many of them have not yet received a comorbid diagnosis.

Qualitative Results

This section presents the results of the thematic analysis of the focus group data. Only summaries are provided with no quotes because of limitations related to informed consent. It describes the themes that emerged pertaining to the supports students with complex needs are receiving and possible barriers to these supports. Five themes emerged from the data. Each theme will be described in terms of what it represents, how each is unique from the others, and how they answer the purpose of this study. The five themes and its subthemes are depicted in Table 2.

Table 2:

Overview of Themes and Sub-Themes Developed Through Thematic Analysis of Focus Groups

Theme	Subthemes	Description
1: Utilization of Current Supports and Resources for	1.1: Therapists	Supports and resources utilized by teachers to assist
Students	1.2: Family Programs	students with complex needs in the classroom, within their

	1.3: Specialized equipment, areas, and material resources1.4: Community Services	families, and in the community through the use of tools, programs, and professionals.
2: Utilization of Resources for Teachers	2.1: Professional Development 2.2: Supportive Staff Relationships	This theme focuses specifically on supports for teachers within schools in each of the subthemes. Specific resources available for teachers to expand their knowledge and skillset and create a positive support network between colleagues at school.
3: Barriers to Supporting Students	 3.1: Classroom Size 3.2: Wide range of Needs 3.3: Communication with Families 3.4: Available Staffing 3.5: Funding and Wait Times 3.6: Available Time 	Barriers and challenges that make it hard to support students in the academic environment.
4: Well-being of teachers	4.1: Wellness for Teachers4.2: Unequal Work-Life Balance4.2: Inadequate Self-Care	Focuses on teachers' wellness options offered to teachers and self-care outside the school, along with managing a work-life balance.
5. Recommendations for Better Supporting Students	5.1: Communication between staff5.2: Better compensation5.3: Increased manpower	Recommendations given by teachers for better supporting their students with complex needs.

5.4: Awareness of early intervention

Theme One: Utilization of Current Supports and Resources for Students

The first theme refers to the current supports and resources regularly used in the academic environment by teachers to support students with complex needs in their classroom. This was one of the most prevalent themes represented across the focus group data and relates to the research purpose of determining what supports are available to students with complex needs in an academic environment. This theme is made of up of the various subthemes that described each of the supports being received in the subthemes. These subthemes were appropriate to explain the different supports and resources that emerged in the classroom for teachers. Separate themes were not created because of the similarity and links between the dialogue making up each of the subthemes, as resources utilized to assist their students in the classroom.

Sub-theme 1.1: Therapists. Each of the focus groups mentioned the utilization of therapists in the classroom with therapists either being physically present in the classroom to help implement strategies and offer support, or through providing consultation through team planning meetings on a regular basis. A multi-disciplinary team was mentioned in each focus group that were needed for consultation such as occupational therapists, physical therapists, physiotherapists, assistive technology team, speech and language pathologists, psychologists, family support worker, and early learning specialists. Both in focus group #4 (FG#4) and focus group #2 (FG#2), it was mentioned that team planning meetings occur on a regular basis with the teachers and therapists, discussing immediate concerns, strengths, challenges, strategies that are working and need modifications of strategies required, and IPP goals. Other teachers

mentioned that therapists support them in implementing different pieces of equipment and devices in the classroom. For example, occupational therapist (OT) or physiotherapist for mobility or the IT team on different devices and software to be used with the students.

Alongside ongoing consultation for child development facilitators (CDFs) and teachers, therapists are also involved in teaching on the correct use of equipment and devices in the classroom and how to implement them accordingly to address the needs of specific students. Furthermore, therapists are also present in the classroom to coach teachers further on additional strategies. It was discussed within the focus groups that both the SLP and OT will come into the classrooms weekly to run classroom centers based on the weekly theme and to coach the teachers and CDFs on strategies to be used with each child to work on certain goals.

Furthermore, a family support worker, also referred to as a home visit coordinator, is an additional support utilized to maintain a connection with students' families to provide feedback and coaching to parents as needed, to help with consistency and the carryover of knowledge and strategies in the home environment as well, by modeling strategies used with their child, and to give parents an opportunity to ask questions.

As indicated in the focus group discussions, the use of a multi-disciplinary team is a significant support system available for teachers in discussing the developmental and behavioural needs of their students within an academic environment. The extension of support to the family system also allows for consistency in strategies between both environments to help students strive further.

Sub-theme 1.2: Family Programs. Although a family support worker was mentioned as part of the multidisciplinary team available for teachers, an additional subtheme was created discussing family programs and resources as a focus on connecting with families to better assist

them in addressing the needs of their child was highlighted in the discussion of focus groups. One example of how families are supported is through the family support worker who helps parents develop a network with other families of children with similar needs through organizing coffee and chat groups and connections to relevant community resources. In terms of financial resources, the family support worker also helps with bursaries and supporting families with grocery gift cards when needed.

Often during times of transitions, such as switching schools, the family support team is available to help parents walk through the process and explore options available at different school boards and private schools, including transitioning kids in grade six out of Renfrew.

The need for programs to offer specialized home programming, funded through FSCD, is another resource available to eligible parents as it allows for a common approach between home and school, since the same therapists working with a student at school are also the same ones that provide services in the home environment. Certain programs that bring therapy into the home included a specialized autism services program and a program for fetal alcohol syndrome. These programs also extend to a respite relief programs for parents on the weekend and seminars available throughout the year for parents on unique topics such as toileting and feeding.

Moreover, family resources are also available to help overcome barriers that might impact the parents' mental health and point them in the direction needed to obtain help, as it was discussed within the groups that parents often have a hard time coming to terms with their child's diagnosis. Also, families coming from diverse backgrounds with English not being their first language, support is available for families to help overcome this barrier, through the use of interpreters.

Finally, teachers having ongoing communication with parents through meetings, newsletters, sending pictures to parents of their children in the classroom, and frequent emails, is another key aspect brought up during the focus group discussions, to keep parents updated on their child's progress. Teachers shared they send a newsletter home at least once a week and frequently communicate back and forth with parents to provide updates on each child. These resources help families expand their knowledge and skillset, as well as overcome barriers such as language or some financial limitations. Resources and services are suggested to guide families and equip them to support their children better.

Sub-theme 1.3: Specialized equipment, areas, and material resources. Throughout each of the focus groups' discussion, teachers noted a diverse range of material resources, particular devices and programs, and specialized areas within the schools that were available to support them in addressing the needs of their students in areas such as speech, gross motor, fine motor, and emotional and behavioral regulation. Teachers also reported the use specialized equipment such as sensory rooms and areas to help their students regulate and a fitness room with treadmills and variety of equipment for children with motor challenges, that are frequently used by OTs and physiotherapists.

In addition to specialized areas within the school, there are also programs to aid with speech and language for those students with minimal language and specialized chairs and equipment to help those with gross and fine motor delays. Teachers shared that iPads, GoTalks, eye gaze communication system and the PECS (picture exchange communication systems) are available for students with minimal language. It was discussed that access to programs available for teachers, such as Boardmaker, are especially useful in creating visuals to help teach students self-care skills, that are not always academic related, such as dressing and

toileting. Beyond language, certain switches and buttons for child with fine motor and gross motor difficulties to activate electric devices are also other resources teachers mentioned were in use for the classroom.

In addition, material resources that are available to staff by the school such as a variety of educational toys, games, puzzles, and fidget and sensory toys were another common resource implemented by teachers in the classroom. Teachers shared that they relied heavily on the use of visuals made for individual students based on their needs, for transitions, and classroom activity schedules,

Throughout these focus group discussions and the development of this subtheme, the diversity of specialized devices, sensory areas, and material resource available for teachers became more apparent. A variety of programs were also utilized by teachers that have not all been highlighted in the information listed above, such as eye gaze communication systems. Considering the different developmental, behavioural, speech, and motor needs of students present in the classroom, these wide range of supports are essential to enhance the programming provided to students.

Sub-theme 1.4 Community Services. Beyond the services available within the school environment, an array of options is used within the community that involved visitors coming into the classroom to provide the service. The community services mentioned consisted of specialists such as music therapists and vision and mobility specialists who provided consultation for checking specialized equipment and also consultation for supporting students' direct needs. These specific examples were the only ones shared within the focus group discussions.

In general, a wide range of supports are needed to help students with complex needs succeed in the classroom environment. These supports also extend to the family environment to increase consistency, offer respite, and help overcome barriers. Through the focus groups discussions, teachers frequently reported use of programs to create visuals (e.g., BoardMaker) for their students to support teaching academic skills as well as life skills to increase independence. Teachers also reported helping students regulate their emotions, through the use of sensory rooms, visuals, and movement breaks, and also requested community services to come to their classrooms, such as music and dance therapy, or the local library. Furthermore, teachers also mentioned utilizing the multi-disciplinary team to help their students thrive in the classroom. However, resources available are not limited to supporting students but are also accessible to teachers for their own well-being, as detailed in the next section.

Theme Two: Utilization of Resources for Teachers

Theme Two focused on the participants' perceptions of the different resources available to expand their knowledge and skillset and create a positive support network between colleagues at school. The distinctiveness of Theme Two is its focus on supports for teachers and staff members to better support their students in the classroom. Overall, a similar response was found amongst participants across the focus group discussions for Theme Two.

Sub-theme 2.1: Professional Development. The first subtheme pertains to the different types of avenues available for professional development, such as conferences, workshops, and training communicated to staff members. Teachers mentioned that there's a lot of in-services trainings that occur during lunchtime that teachers attend to learn new skills and help them feel more confident in the classroom when meeting their students' needs.

The teachers discussed that although these opportunities for professional development are communicated to staff on an ongoing basis, if there is a certain conference or training teachers seek out on their own that they would like to attend, this is also an option. The use of professional development was highlighted as a resource frequently used by teachers and other staff members in each of the focus group discussions, because of its benefit in increasing their knowledge and skillset to feel better equipped in the classroom.

Sub-theme 2.2: Supportive Staff Relationships. Secondly, throughout each of the focus groups, the positive atmosphere present in each of the schools with staff members feeling connected and relying on each other to form a supportive and understanding network, either to vent or being offered an extra pair of hands, from the therapy teams and even the admins, was continuously highlighted.

In addition to the hands-on support available by staff members, many of the teachers felt very fortunate that their co-workers were open to brainstorming ideas, allowing observations and sharing ideas for any challenges that may be present. Participants in the different focus groups described that peer mentoring was done by most teachers where they would travel to another site or another classroom to observe and complete a checklist that offers feedback and takeaways, or things learned. Teachers find this useful to share ideas and consider things they might want to change or implement in their own classroom as they have children with similar needs.

Overall, beyond the resources available to assist students, specific supports were also highlighted as being available for teachers to support them in their well-being, relying on a positive staff network, and having opportunities to expand their skills in order to feel better equipped in working with students with complex needs in the classroom. At the same time,

there are certain barriers to supporting students that have been brought up through the focus groups and are discussed further as part of Theme Three.

Theme Three: Barriers to Supporting Students

Theme Three notes the participants' perceptions on common barriers that make it difficult to fully support students in the classroom. The barriers mentioned throughout the focus groups related to classroom size, community services, diverse needs of students, family, funding, staffing and time.

Sub-theme 3.1: Classroom size. The first subtheme for barriers in supporting students is related to classroom size. The one focus group that did not bring up classroom size as a possible barrier was a smaller Renfrew location that consisted only of PUF students (preschool and kindergarten students). In four of the focus groups, educators noted that having smaller class sizes, in terms of fewer number of students in the classroom, would make a big difference in the time and support provided to students. Teachers shared that more time and support is available with smaller classes, especially, because a small number of students require direct one-on-one support which cannot always be provided due to the class size. Other participants also mentioned that on days when fewer children are present, there is more time available to focus on each student, providing students with better language opportunities compared to days when more students are present.

In the focus group discussion, the classroom size not only pertained to the number of students present in the classroom, but also in terms of physical space. In particular, it also relates to the ability to easily use devices and equipment related to mobility, such as wheelchairs or standing frames in the classroom, which is difficult with more students and a lack of space.

Sub-theme 3.2: Wide Range of Needs. The second subtheme relates to the diverse needs of students present in the classroom. Often, these students require one-on-one support. Teachers mentioned that the number of higher needs students have increased over the years and certain students require larger amounts of supports in certain areas than others. Many of the participants mentioned they only have students with severe codes in the classroom that require one-to-one support on many tasks throughout the day but are not funded for one-to-one and often do not have the manpower to provide that level of support either.

Furthermore, although the number of students with a wide range of higher needs have increased, the way to better identify those that require more support has not. It was mentioned that although PUF funding is similar for all children, one child may need much more support than another child, but there is not a system to identify a general level of support required for students based on where they are developmentally.

Additionally, because most of these students need support to keep regulated, programming and other students in the classroom, are impacted as a result of this outcome. It was shared that at times, programming suffers because a child is underregulated and showing aggressive behavioural concerns which impacts other students in the classroom, leading to planned programming being pushed aside as teachers struggle to manage these behaviour problems. Teachers in four of the focus groups said they also have severe medical needs in the classroom, with students having seizures on a frequent basis and it becomes difficult to keep other kids on-task when incidents like these occur.

In other focus groups, the topic of programming and finding an environment that is developmentally appropriate for all children was seen as an area of difficulty. Teachers in all focus groups pointed out although there are different resources and activities available, it is

difficult to create a classroom environment that is entirely developmentally appropriate for every single child because they are all at different levels. Teachers highlighted that some of their students with complex needs have a wide range of goals that focus not only on academics or language, but also self-care skills, and are often taught these adaptive functioning skills by staff members. However, because not all students require this level of support in self-care skills, it impacts those who present as being more independent. These skills include being taught to sit at a table to eat and certain kids require a two-person bathroom change, which mean fewer staff supporting the larger group because one child needs a higher level of support.

The comprehensive range of needs present amongst the students has shown up throughout the different focus group discussions. The diverse needs have an impact on efficient programming and maintaining a developmentally appropriate classroom environment for all which impacts the type of supports and teaching all students are receiving.

Sub-theme 3.3: Communication with Families. Communication with families, providing families with resources and seminars, and assisting those who may have language barriers was mentioned as a support system used to assist students. However, challenges working with families were also brought up that impact how well these supports are provided to families. One such challenge that was emphasized was parents placing high expectations on teachers and the school that they will "fix" their children, which becomes challenging for all individuals involved. Teachers shared that since a lot of the younger students attending have just been diagnosed, parents are often going through phases of grief, anger, and confusion and place unrealistic expectations on teachers to help overcome their complex needs.

Another aspect of some challenges involved includes open communication that consists of not only overcoming language barriers, but not all parents are responsive. Teachers

discussed that with language barriers, it does impact understanding with communication methods like emails and newsletters. Other parents are less involved and not always available for meeting or responsive to emails means of communication.

At the same time, while some parents are not very involved in communication with their child's teacher, other parents can also have difficulty understanding the teachers' perspective or pursuing with recommended assessments suggested to better understand and assist the student. It was discussed in four of the focus groups that families are contacted when their child has a language delay or global developmental delay (GDD) but further assessments are recommended by teachers and the therapy team as other delays or diagnoses, such as ASD, are suspected as well. However, parents have refused to do further assessments as they believe only a deficit in language is the main cause, thus impacting additional supports the child could avail. Participants also said that another challenge is when parents become upset and have a hard time understanding and accepting the challenges their child experiences in the classroom and often putting the blame on the teacher when these difficulties occur, suggesting they are not doing things right.

Many of the students are still in early education and are preschool age, so although most students began their school with a severe language delay, they later on receive another primary diagnosis such as ASD or ADHD along with the language delay or GDD. Some parents are not open for further assessments as participants shared that this is often a result of parents not fully understanding the diagnosis, even if they do understand English, and being at different stages in understanding and fully accepting the diagnosis, and its long-term prognosis.

Sub-theme 3.4: Available Staffing. Another common area pinpointed during the focus groups related to barriers to supporting their students with complex needs was the limited

number of staffing available. Due to the varying and high needs of students in the classroom, a limitation of staff members can make it more demanding to manage it safely. Participants emphasized that especially in cases when a student escalates and is in a behavioural crisis, more than two people are required to restrain and take the student to a safe spot, leaving the other kids in the classroom without proper supervision.

When staff is limited, teachers often rely on staff members from different classrooms, but it is considered stressful when this happens, since it is a matter of shuffling staff around and pulling others into the classroom when some students need to be taken out of the classroom for safety reasons or require a two-person bathroom change. Considering the limited number of staff members available, this often impacts the programming or activities planned for the classroom, as well as individual programming, such as not placing a student in a standing frame because the classroom is short-staffed.

The limited number of staff not only impacts programming and how efficiently students are supported but also the ability to make community outings, due to safety concerns without sufficient staff members. Participants in two of the focus groups shared that a lot of the field trips previously done are no longer appropriate because of the higher needs of the students attending and the level of support required to take them out into the community is not available, especially with the older kids who require more one-on-one staff support in the community.

It was highlighted during the discussions that since it is a private and specialized school, there is often no substitute teacher list available when needed if more than one staff members is sick. Participants mentioned that classroom staff levels are a barrier and would benefit immensely from more educational assistants and manpower; however, although increased staffing is highly needed in the classroom, it is often the first impacted during funding cuts.

Finally, increased turnover was also brought up because of the demands that can arise in the position of teaching students with complex needs. Teachers share that a lot of time is devoted to training and preparing new staff and once they start the role, they find it overwhelming and decide it is not for them. This often makes it difficult for students to build rapport and start to become comfortable with staff members and for staff to understand their needs and strengths, only for them to leave their position and someone new takes up the role.

Limitations in the number of staffing available has an impact on how well students are supported within and outside of the classroom. Based on the perspective of participants, the limited number of available staff can make it stressful for teachers to safely manage the classroom, affect both classroom programming and direct support available for students, and community outings. Sometimes, the busy roles of staff members can lead to increase employee turnover and impact the time for students to develop good rapport with the new staff members.

Sub-theme 3.5: Funding and wait times. Another barrier to efficiently supporting students is reduced access to funding and wait times. This was discussed mainly in two of the focus groups, and it was specifically those groups that consisted of both preschool and elementary students at the school site. Teachers discussed that a lot more support was available for preschool and kindergarten as they have the family-oriented program (FOPs) and the specialized autism services program, with a lot more support from therapists whereas the elementary level has minimal therapist time, because of decreased funding at the elementary level. This not only includes funding but also long wait times to access suitable devices or equipment for students, which can act as a barrier to assist students fully. It was mentioned that although the assistive technology team is resourceful, it still takes a long time to get the appropriate numbered wheelchair for a student and several of them with complex needs have

been on a wait list for some sort of augmentative communication device. Visuals and sign language are not producing sufficient results which is discouraging for teachers as they wait for communication devices for students.

Overall, the drop in funding in elementary school for students with complex needs requires teachers to do a full documentation of a child's needs, even if a student has severe needs, this needs to be proven to Alberta Education, and then they are only partially funded to attend. This has been a limitation in terms of the number of hours and supports received by professionals, compared to the preschool level. This not only consists of funding but increased wait times for communication devices and equipment to support students' physical and language deficits.

Sub-theme 3.6: Available Time. There is a lack of time available to prepare resources such as visuals for students, communicate with parents, and complete required documentation and so most prep time is done outside work hours, leading to an unequal work-life balance. Teachers shared that if they functioned the same way as the public-school board where they have every Friday afternoon for tasks like prepping for the coming week, meetings, communication with parents, and completing documentation, they would be functioning more smoother with a lot less stress. All the focus groups recognized time as a barrier to supporting their students as they are already short-staffed and often need to help their students transitions and on top of their normal job duties, teachers are also required to complete additional responsibilities such as cleaning the classrooms, documentation for IPP goals, communicating with parents, meetings or lunch coverage, which further adds on to the time spent working in the classroom. Participants also discussed that since their time is so stretched thin throughout the day, just having time to create materials, additional training, train staff, team meetings and

conferences with parents and daily communication leads to a stressful work experience and an unequal work-life balance.

Overall, additional job responsibilities and lack of prep time available during the school hours has brought forward the unequal work-life balance teachers are managing. The following theme dives further into the teachers' perspectives on the difficulty maintaining a balance outside school hours and their own personal health and wellness.

Theme Four: Well-Being of Teachers

Theme Four goes further into wellness activities available for teachers offered by the school is initially discussed followed by the discussions with the participants regarding their wellness and self-care outside school, along with managing a work-life balance.

Sub-theme 4.1: Wellness for Teachers. The first subtheme refers to the availability of options for promoting staff wellness and self-care, through wellness activities planned during school hours, but staff are still responsible for creating their own work-life balance outside school hours. Renfrew encourages wellness activities during the lunch hour such as potlucks, exercise groups like yoga, and a wellness day. Beyond wellness activities available during hours, staff members also have health benefits that can be utilized on a more personal basis, such as personal counseling from the family support worker,

Sub-theme 4.2: Unequal Work-Life Balance. Due to the increased responsibilities on top of their role as a teacher (e.g., increased documentation, preparing resources, providing appropriate programming), and the minimal prep time available during school hours, many teachers highlighted their lack of a proper work-life balance. Teachers worked at home in the evenings or weekends or took a sick or personal day when deadlines needed to be met, to prep and plan resources, complete IPPs, and documentation to get the tasks completed.

Sub-theme 4.3: Inadequate Self-Care. During the focus groups, teachers shared how they often feel guilty if they do not complete a task or if they do not spend extra time after work as it helps their classrooms run more smoothly. Teachers shared that they often push through a rough day in order to be more supportive for their students, even if it causes them mental stress. Teachers shared that although they might be experiencing stressors in their personal life, they push themselves to the side to be happy and supportive to the kids, especially since there is no substitute list to cover their position if away.

Three of the teachers who identified themselves as veteran employees at Renfrew shared how they are diligent to ensure self-care as part of their work-life balance and avoid burnout. They mentioned how mindful they needed to be to ensure a balancing lifestyle, which was a real challenge when they first started. Veteran teachers shared that they needed a conscious effort to not feel guilty about not working in the evenings or weekends because they were experiencing burnout if they did not take this approach. Other teachers who were not as experienced mentioned they noticed their colleagues investing time outside typical work hours to complete tasks, and they started to do the same.

Quite a few teachers are aware of the services available through Renfrew, which were discussed in subtheme 4.1 such as a family support worker for counselling and wellness activities such as exercise groups or potlucks over the lunch hour. However, it is up to teachers to create a balance outside of school hours; teachers noted that it is a struggle to make adequate time for self-care.

Theme Five: Recommendations for Better Supporting Students

Theme Five captures educator recommendations for better supporting students with complex needs. These recommendations varied and revolved around increased communication

between staff, more manpower in the classrooms, increased prep time, better compensation, better coding for PUF students, and more increased awareness for the services available at Renfrew. Most of these recommendations' teachers shared are compiled together to form a separate theme and some were also addressing the barriers brought up in Theme 3.

Sub-theme 5.1: Communication between staff. During the focus groups, teachers discussed the need for increased and more frequent communication between staff members, therapists, and teachers to discuss new behaviours when they emerge in order be more up-to-date regarding any changes in their students. Teachers shared that lots of communication between staff and constant debriefing and strategizing awhile help them better manage new behaviours and relay advice to parents.

Sub-theme 5.2: Better compensation. Another recommendation brought up by some participants revolved around the high stress and increased responsibility staff members experienced in their position. They also noted that there is inadequate compensation related to their duties. Participants in four of the focus groups shared that the job is very stressful, and they are not compensated to the level of stress and responsibility, with staff leaving throughout the year because they are not paid enough for the high demand and stress of the job.

Sub-theme 5.3: Increased manpower. Quite a few discussions for recommendations revolved around ways to include more staff members or small class sizes to better support students with complex needs. This allows teachers to have some extra prep time and a better ratio of adults to students, especially for those who require the extra level of support. It was put forward that a system to determine those students who require the increased support would allow for extra staff members within those particular classrooms.

Sub-theme 5.4: Awareness of early intervention. Another recommendation revolved around increased awareness of the services available at Renfrew. Teachers shared that students who began Renfrew at a later age have more difficulty adjusting to the classroom and responding quickly to the therapy services provided. The earlier children start to access services, the more support they will receive early on for a longer period of time and the more responsive they are to the interventions. Teachers shared that parents have mentioned that their child was not babbling or saying any words at two years old but they were not aware of the services out there until a later age.

Summary

The results consisted of the demographics information of the students enrolled within a specialized academic setting. Each of the students in the dataset had comorbid disorders along with the primary disorder. A large number of students with complex needs were part of the elementary education program, with a smaller portion enrolled in early childhood services in junior kindergarten or kindergarten. The most common diagnosis was ASD and associated comorbid disorders, followed by medical disorders, such as rare genetic syndromes, brain malformations, and Down Syndrome, and finally a group of students with CP along with comorbid diagnoses.

For the qualitative results, five themes were derived identifying the supports and resources students with complex needs are receiving, barriers teachers experience, and understanding how teachers can better assist this population of students. Resources and supports used for students was discussed in theme one while theme two focused on resources available for teachers in the school environment to better assist their students and maintain their own wellness at school. Barriers and challenges that made it difficult to help students was

highlighted in theme three along with teachers' well-being and self-care along with their worklife balance was brought forward in theme four. Some recommendations given by teachers to improve the supports being received was discussed in theme five.

Chapter Five: Discussion

The purpose of this thesis was to better understand the kind of supports that early education and elementary teachers of students with complex needs access to aid their students' academics, behavioural, and developmental needs in a specialized school environment along with identifying barriers and challenges they experience in supporting these students.

By better understanding how teachers access supports, we can better understand how supporting teachers will assist students with complex needs in an academic environment, potential barriers in working with students, and how to more effectively support teacher well-being. The following aims were investigated via five focus group discussions and exploring the dataset for brief demographic information of students with complex needs: 1) identify the supports this population is receiving within an academic environment; 2) understand how potential barriers teachers experience in supporting students with complex needs; and 3) describe the profiles of preschool and elementary children with complex needs.

Qualitative methods through focus groups were utilized to determine the resources being received within an academic environment and potential barriers to supports. Through thematic analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2006) of focus groups transcripts, five themes were identified: 1) supports and resources for students; 2) supports and resources for teachers; 3) barriers to supporting students; 4) well-being of teachers; 5) recommendations for better supporting students. An additional portion consisted of a demographics piece of the diagnoses of the students, their Alberta Education Code, gender and age to better understand the profiles of the students with complex needs being supported by the teachers in the focus group discussions. The results are discussed as they relate to the primary research aims, followed by the implications of the study, strengths and limitations and suggestions for future research.

Research Aim 1: Identifying the Supports Students with Complex Needs Are Receiving

Through this aim, I explored the supports and resources students with complex needs are receiving within an academic environment. This section will compare our findings to the existing research. It is important to note that research has explored general supports and resources students with special needs receive but very minimal literature has examined the supports utilized for young students with complex needs.

Themes One and Two focused on current resources for students and teachers to help address this research aim. Since few studies have examined this area, findings from this study are novel and give insight into specific supports and resources utilized for both students and teachers within a specialized academic setting.

Utilization of Current Supports & Resources for Students and Teachers. Most of the existing literature has a primary focus on ways to include students in inclusive classroom settings whereas these focus groups concentrated on teachers within a specialized academic setting due to the severe needs of the children. Notably, as part of the inclusive education movement, it is encouraged for students to be in inclusive settings. Systemic changes to remove barriers and provide reasonable accommodations and supports is required to ensure students with disabilities are in the least restrictive environment and not excluded from mainstream educational opportunities. In our research, all students are within a specialized academic setting modified for students with severe needs in different domains, such as communication, motor, and behaviour. It is important to address that according to the inclusive education movement, the school system should identify and remove barriers and provide appropriate accommodation, allowing every learner to participate and achieve within mainstream settings (WHO, 2011). It should be considered that these students may have different outcomes in a mainstream

environment because some research does point to better social outcomes for students with disabilities in mainstream education (Jordan, 2009; Idol, 2006). A wide range of supports and resources were highlighted in the focus groups as being frequently used by teachers to assist their students. Supporting medical, physical, and health needs has been identified consistently by teachers as an important skill area for students with severe disabilities (Westling et al., 2015).

Previous literature that explored the experience of four new teachers teaching kindergarten-age children with ASD and ASD-like behaviours in a self-contained classroom within a public school board mentioned that one of the main difficulties they had was collaborating with professionals such as occupational, speech, and physical therapists in planning and providing for services required within everyday teaching because there accessibility was limited within a large school board (Leko et al., 2012). This made it harder for teachers to work with students with severe behaviours, such as biting and head-banging, and they were less likely to receive effective training to use assistive technology devices (Leko et al., 2012). In this study, however, many teachers mentioned accessing therapists as part of the multi-disciplinary team in the school for consultations and meetings to enhance strategies and resources implemented in the classroom. Since this was a specialized academic setting, many of the therapists are in-house, and they have team planning meetings on a regular basis. The multi-disciplinary team consists of professionals who work with students to support their language, self-care, gross and fine motor skills, behavior and regulation, learning, and who connect with students' families. The findings in our study showed teachers access assistive technology to support students' learning in the classroom through collaboration with an assistive technology team. This is related to research that shows assistive technology is critical

for ensuring students' access to instructional content and helps create a comprehensible learning environment to make sense of what is happening and build independence and communication skills. (Ruppar et al., 2016). Beyond ongoing consultation, therapists also provide support implementing new pieces of equipment or devices in the classroom such as augmentative and alternative communication supports; are present in the classroom, especially to run centers; and demonstrate ways to implement strategies or modify ones being used to help teachers work effectively towards the goals for individual children in the classroom. The therapists are also part of family meetings and communicate with parents on how to use specific devices that might have be sent home or to implement strategies used in the classroom.

Alongside readily available therapists, the use of specialized settings to target goals, such as the fitness room for students working towards gross motor-related goals and sensory rooms to help students regulate, are frequently utilized by teachers. The sensory room was especially needed when students presented with high anxiety or had extreme energy, and students were taken to the fitness room to do some heavy work and play to release energy before returning back to the classroom. Other tangible items are provided to all teachers such as a wide range of toys to suit the varying developmental levels of their students, fidget and sensory toys, and different types of timers for transitions. In addition to communication devices, supportive equipment is also available to children who require more motor support such as large strollers for outside trips, walkers, adaptive chairs in the classrooms, and switches and buttons for toys and electronics for those with fine motor difficulties. In a study examining the academic goals of preschool and kindergarten students enrolled in a special educational setting, the goals consisted primarily of pre-academic skills such as writing and recognizing their names, identifying colours, eye contact, turn-taking, the alphabet, and working on

adaptive skills such as toilet training (Ruppar et al., 2016). The students in the study were also not toilet trained and had accidents throughout the day (Ruppar et al., 2016). This overlaps with our findings, since the students in our study also focused more on adaptive independence skills like toileting and basic pre-academic skills with a modified curriculum for both the preschool and kindergarten students. In the discussions, teachers highlighted that due to significant developmental delays, many of the students in preschool, kindergarten, and even early elementary focused on basic academic skills that involved pre-reading and pre-math skills: recognizing their names, basic greetings, and attending and responding to their names. Visual supports were noted as a significant tool used by teachers to support students in a variety of activities throughout the classroom including daily routines, transitions, academics, and teaching independence, as they can be individualized for each child. Visual supports were a primary resource to aid children with significant developmental delays, especially ASD, to maintain attention, understand spoken language and make sense of their environment, especially when they have difficulty processing and understanding language (Achinstein et al., 2010; Hamilton & Vail, 2013; Jones et al., 2013). Visual supports allow students to predict scheduled events, organize their environment, comprehend expectations placed on them and anticipate changes made during the day (Dettmer et al., 2005). Visual scheduling and visual warning devices to alert students of the time remaining are commonly used in special education settings, and to also acquire skills in cooking, daily living and self-care, education and vocational skills, facilitate social interaction and manage behaviours (Hamilton & Vail, 2013; Jones et al., 2013). Similarly, our findings indicate visual supports played an important role in the way teachers assist their students in the classroom. Alongside academics, teachers in our focus groups also created visuals to help teach self-care skills such as dressing, toileting, as part of the routine to promote independence and life skills as this is an area of need for many of the students and also part of their goals, as reported by teachers. In our study, visuals tools were used with a variety of students with varying cognitive and social abilities because they can be easily individualized. Many teachers also heavily relied on visuals for classroom activities, transitions, individual schedules, and pre-teaching materials, which they created themselves through Boardmaker [®], as a very large portion of early education and elementary students within their classroom required visual support for academic instruction and understanding.

A large part of the discussion also focused on providing supports to students within their family circle and going beyond the classroom setting to also utilize community services. A family support worker regularly availed families of resources in the community to help cover the cost of devices or diapers, tickets to the zoo or grocery gift cards for low-income families, and for counselling or programs that can be accessed by parents themselves. Setting up homevisits with coordinators to go into the homes and model the strategies and activities that are being used with their child for parents can support the extension of these strategies in the home environment. Supporting families also included providing seminars on topics like menstruation for parents of pre-adolescent girls and discussing class options of local schools with parents to give them the knowledge needed to support and make effective choices for their children. Research indicates that parent training related to their child's education results in positive outcomes for children with special needs including greater generalization and maintenance of strategies and treatment gains (Duke et al., 2007). Parents are more satisfied and willing to fully participate when school officials' partner with families though communicating on an ongoing basis, inviting parents to attend school activities, involve parents' input on IPP goals, and allowing them to address their own needs (Duke et al., 2007). Similar to our study, teachers

reported frequently communicating with and updating parents, involving them in their child's IPP meetings, finalizing IPP goals, and taking part in family programs and events at the specialized school (Duke et al., 2007; Dymond et al., 2007; Grayson & Alvarez, 2008). In our research, respite services on the weekends as a relief program for parents and events also helped families develop a support network with others going through the same challenges. Also, teachers regularly communicated with parents through newsletters, emails, sending pictures of their children to keep parents updated on their child's progress and providing them a glimpse of the activities that occurred in the classroom. Moreover, with the diversity of families being assisted, access to interpreters to support new families who do not speak English is an essential service being provided to reduce miscommunication. Overall, compared with other findings (Daniels et al., 2011; Dymond et al., 2007; Langher et al., 2017) that show schools providing support to parents through frequent communication and updates, involvement in their child's IPP meetings and goals, and taking part in family programs at school, Renfrew goes further and provides more support for parents such as assistance with in-home support, modelling of strategies for the family, and respite programs on the weekend, which proves to be a strength of this program.

Agencies and services within the community, such as dance therapists, music specialists, bakers, magicians, and public library staff have been invited into the classroom as special guests instead of taking all the students in the classroom into the community, as a lot of planning and logistics, such as arranging for a sufficient number of staff and volunteers, need to be sorted out before each outing can occur. Teachers stated that depending on the size of the classroom and the number of students with complex needs, some field trips can occur such as short walks in the community, (e.g., local fire station), but a large number of agencies come

into the school because it becomes difficult to have sufficient one-on-one support for each child with complex needs for community field trips. Beyond just field trips, community agencies are also needed for consultation and specific suggestions for individual students in the classroom, such as those with vision problems.

There were also different supports available specifically for teachers and staff members to expand their knowledge and skillset. In our study, a primary support offered to teachers in assisting their students was professional development opportunities such as conferences, workshops, and in-service training accessible during lunchtime. Teachers are also supported to attend other professional development opportunities they seek out. This is supported by research because professional development is a key factor in reducing teacher occupational stress, increasing well-being, and promoting job control (Langher et al., 2017). Importantly, teachers should have a say about the types of professional development they would like to attend and the topics it should cover whenever possible, as they are much more motivated and likely to see it in a positive light and as a way to solving a problem or challenge in the classroom, instead of making professional development compulsory and teachers viewing it as another list of duties that need to be done (Langher et al., 2017). Similarly, in the focus groups discussions, opportunities for professional development brought forward feelings of confidence when meeting the varying needs of their students in the classroom.

In the present study, teachers reported that positive staff relationships and a supportive work atmosphere was present in each of the schools. Supportive staff relationships and the positive atmosphere present in each of the schools helps staff members and teachers rely on each other to form a supportive and understanding network and was highlighted by teachers as an ongoing resource for them. These results lend support to previous research suggesting that

strong relationships with colleagues and positive perceptions increases levels of commitment and emotional support for special educators (Kane & Francis, 2013). Along with hands-on support from available staff members and the opportunity to vent at the end of the day, many teachers felt their co-workers were very open to brainstorming ideas and peer mentoring, through observing other classroom and sharing ideas for recommendations or any challenges for students that have similar needs. This also includes observing classrooms at other school sites, offering feedback and weekly team planning that helps teachers brainstorm and think of ways they may want to change how they run their classroom. This supportive staff network was discussed as an ongoing resource recommended by teachers.

In general, a wide range of supports were identified to support students with complex needs succeed and promote independence in an academic setting. The details of the diverse supports and resources identified for this population of students is not readily available in literature and, consequently, these findings contribute to this notable gap. Based on these findings, there is an overlap in the kinds of supports being used, such as visuals, parent involvement and training in their child's education, professional development, sensory areas, and material resources like fidgets and sensory toys. At the same time, our findings also show additional ongoing resources that teachers with complex needs require, indicating that these teachers are asking for more than just what is available for students with special needs.

Teachers of students with complex needs are using more frequent and ongoing involvement and consultations with professionals from the multi-disciplinary teams available, more use of assistive technology such as specialized equipment for fine and gross motor, augmentative and alternative communication supports, and increased involvement of community agencies for both consultative support and to compensate for the lack of outside field trips. Positive staff

relationships in special needs settings are generally a supportive resource (Kane & Francis, 2013), and our findings also show that the teachers relied on supportive staff relationships to help manage their classrooms during behaviour crises.

Furthermore, in our findings, the staff support also extended to observations, weekly team planning and brainstorming new ideas to implement with their students. This form of peer mentoring and feedback through observations was seen as an additional support for teachers working with complex students.

Research Aim 2: Understand How Teachers Can Better Support Students with Complex Needs

The second research aim involved understanding how teachers can better support students with complex needs and potential barriers that arise in assisting their students.

Existing literature (Adera & Bullock, 2010; Beltman et al., 2011; Brunsting et al., 2014) has explored teacher well-being and additional duties required by special education teachers that can lead to stress and teacher burnout but less of a focus has been from a teachers' perspective on identifying specific barriers to resources or understanding how teachers can improve these supports for students; therefore, this research focus is considered novel. This research aim is answered using Themes Three to Five. Theme Three identified possible barriers to supporting students with complex needs, Theme Four concentrated on teacher well-being and Theme Five on recommendations provided to better supporting students with complex needs.

Identified Barriers to Supporting Students. A common set of responses were provided related to recognizing barriers and challenges that make it difficult to fully assist students in the classroom. First, both class size (i.e., number of students) and classroom size (i.e., physical space), along with limited staffing were noted as significant barriers. Based on

the discussions, it was brought forward that having a greater number of students with varying needs present in the classroom was a more substantial barrier to providing effective student supports compared with the physical space in the classrooms. Teachers in four out of the five focus groups highlighted that class size is a concern when students require more one-on-one support than can be provided because of the number of students present in the class combined with the severity of their needs. The specific school that did not report classroom size as a barrier was a school that consisted of only PUF students and had fewer students per class than other schools. Teachers reported that students often produce far more language and appear more attentive on days when fewer students are present in the classroom. It was discussed that with fewer children present, there is more focus on each student, allowing for more intensive language opportunities resulting in better student communication. Along with the number of students present, insufficient physical space in classrooms makes it difficult to fully support students due to large equipment, such as wheelchairs or physical supports (standing frames), that students require.

Secondly, available staffing was also identified as a barrier. Participants shared that if more staff were accessible in the classroom, the difficulties associated with having high numbers of students with severe needs in the classroom would be reduced because more manpower would be available to assist students with toileting and would permit smaller group activities, trips in the community, and improve managing behavioural crises. Since the focus groups were conducted at a private school, there is not a substitute list available if teachers or educational assistants are sick. Unfortunately, limited available staff in classrooms combined with a large number of students with varying high needs makes managing classroom safety more demanding, making the absence of substitutes even more challenging. Due to limited

staff, teachers and educational assistants reported coming to work even if they were sick because extra work would be placed on others by their absence. Situations often occur where all available staff members in the classroom are needed to help manage and regulate one student, which requires the teacher to shuffle staff around and request assistance from staff from other classrooms. This can be challenging as it takes time away from other students in the initial classroom where classrooms staff were recruited from. These situations interfere with planned lessons or other programming. For example, planned activities like going to the gym are delayed, or a student who should have been placed in a standing frame does not receive this opportunity due to safety concerns related to being short-staffed. Also, limited staff supports makes it harder to have community outings because of the high level of support required, especially with elementary students who often require one-on-one staff support for field trips. Finally, the busy and demanding roles of teachers and other staff in the classroom can lead to increased employee turnover as new staff members can find the position is overwhelming. This makes it challenging for the students to build good rapport and to become comfortable with staff members. These findings are consistent with previous studies that show special needs educators and educational assistants who leave the profession early because there is too much paperwork and extra duties, insufficient administrative support, insufficient supplies and resources, too many high needs students in a class, pressure from parents, and scarce collaboration with colleagues as major reasons for leaving their positions (Prather-Jones; 2011). Additionally, whenever there is a funding cut, it often comes from staffing instead of resources; consequently, the limited classroom staff levels can become a barrier in efficiently supporting students.

Another barrier to adequately supporting students is reduced access to funding and increased wait times. Although this was only identified as a barrier by teachers in two focus groups, specifically from those school sites that consisted of both preschool and elementary students. This is primarily due to the drop in the funding for elementary students with complex needs, even if they have severe needs, as it needs to be proven by a full documentation of the student's needs. Teachers and therapists are tasked with completing this paperwork and making the case that students need these services. If this extensive documentation is successful, the student receives only partial funding. This decreased funding often limits the number of hours and therapy received by students in elementary school compared to the preschool and kindergarten students who receive PUF funding, which consists of a larger amount of funding per student. For instance, students with PUF have family-oriented programming sessions (FOPs), which are developmentally appropriate interventions for children with severe disabilities and their families and helps supports parents in implementing IPP goals within the home and community environment (Alberta Education, 2018). No such programming is available for families from Alberta Education due to the decreased level of funding for elementary students. Therefore, schools such as Renfrew often utilize their own funding and the yearly tuition paid to continue some level of support for families at the elementary level. Longer wait times for accessing devices or equipment for students at the elementary level also acts as a barrier to assist students fully in the classroom. For instance, one student was temporarily given a poorly fitting wheelchair because there was a delay for a specialist to come in. After the specialist came, the student still needed to wait for the new wheelchair to be delivered. In another example, students with complex needs were still on a wait list for augmentative communication devices after waiting for more than half of an academic year.

Another barrier identified in the present study was the challenge in working with families. A common challenge emphasized in the focus groups was parents placing unrealistically high expectations on teachers and the school to "fix" their children. One participant shared that these discussions with parents placed a huge burden on teachers' shoulders. Some parents have difficulty understanding the teacher's perspective when challenges their child is facing in the classroom are communicated during meetings. Teachers reported that parents sometimes suggested that they are not providing the right supports to assist their child and place the blame on teachers for their child's slow progress. This challenge is similar to what is consistently reported by special education teachers in research, where teachers note that pressure from parents is intense and stressful due to the complex emotional state parents may go through when dealing with the diagnosis and health of their children (Kourkoutas et al., 2015). Parents can have unrealistic expectations and undervalue the work of teachers in supporting their children (Kourkoutas et al., 2015). Also, in our study, although teachers felt that they worked hard to provide frequent communication, they felt that parents were not always forthcoming and responsive to that communication. Moreover, although there are translators present for meetings, families with language barriers have a hard time understanding emails and newsletters on their own or completely understanding the diagnosis and ways to access better supports and resources, which can act as a barrier. Teachers working at schools that cater to families from diverse backgrounds shared that language barriers can impact the process of offering additional assessments and supports to students. Preschool and kindergarten students diagnosed with a severe language delay often demonstrate additional needs beyond just a language delay (e.g., gross motor and fine motor delays, deficits in social skills, restrictive and repetitive behaviour, and other behavioural concerns such as biting),

based on formal observations by therapists. Therapists reach out to parents to obtain consent for a formal assessment due to these concerns. However, some families have declined additional testing as parents believed that their child only has a language delay, which feels like a milder disorder than additional assessments could reveal. Teachers shared their concerns that students cannot access appropriate supports without the appropriate diagnoses, so when parents decline additional assessment, they often do not understand the implications: their children miss opportunities for appropriate intervention. Teachers shared that since all families are at a different place in accepting their child's diagnosis and long-term prognosis, especially families that speak English as second language and are new to Canada, they are not always open for further assessments and have a hard time fully accepting their child's challenges and needs due to differing cultural views on disability. Teachers mentioned this being a concern when further assessments or testing is suggested if additional diagnoses should be looked at, but parents refuse consent because they believe their child only has a language delay.

Moreover, the diverse needs of students present in the classroom along with minimal prep time available was also highlighted as barriers in fully supporting students in all of the focus groups. Teachers mentioned the number of students with high needs attending the schools have increased over the years and have been coded as severe, which also constitutes those with just a single diagnosis of either severe language delays or ASD. They require one-to-one support but are not funded for that level of support, so teachers try to manage and to creatively provide the level of supports needed for tasks throughout the day. The teachers in this study provided specific examples of students in their classroom who need additional assistance. Teachers shared that there are students who have had seizures on a daily basis as well as other severe medical needs that need to be managed. Furthermore, when a student is in sensory

overload and showing aggressive behaviours like biting or pushing, students who use physical supports for mobility need to be moved out of the way so that no one gets hurt. Teachers commented that having such a diverse range of needs in one classroom often makes programming suffer as the goal reverts to keeping everyone regulated and managing behavior or medical crises rather than meeting IPP goals. Results from De Stasio and colleagues 2017 compared teachers who worked primarily in a school for students with ASD with those working in a special needs school catering to students diagnosed with a range of disabilities and identified that teachers working in the diverse special education classroom experienced more stress, exhaustion, and turnover. They claimed the nature of special education teaching with a variety of needs requires full use of specialized skills and resources to cater to the different levels of ability and meet the diverse socio-emotional, behavioural, and learning needs on the parts of students. In the present study, teachers also expressed that programming and creating a classroom environment that is developmentally suitable for all students can become challenging when students are at such different levels in their self-care and independence, language, cognitive ability, and academic skill. Various toys and activities need to be modified to suit the different levels of each child, to promote good participation in the classroom. Unfortunately, although the diversity and complexity have increased, there has not been an improvement in better identifying those that will require more support. The teachers in the focus groups commented on how having a better way to identify students with higher level of needs and supports required prior to entry would allow administrators to plan for smaller number of students or higher level of staffing in that particular classroom.

All of the focus groups in this study expressed that the lack of time available during school hours acted as a barrier and shared they would be able to support students with complex

103

needs more effectively and function much better if more prep time was available. The teachers participating highlighted the importance of extra time to complete additional duties on top of their typical job duties such as sanitizing the classrooms and toys, since some students still explore objects orally; taking part in meetings during the lunch hour or after school; communicating with parents; completing extra documentation related to their students' needs to access funding or IPP goals; and preparing resources such as visuals becomes challenging to juggle on a daily basis. Along with providing academic teaching, teachers also teach self-care skills such as toileting, dressing, and eating at the table as part of their classroom routines. Teachers also have frequent conferences with parents and the therapy team along with daily parent communication. Teachers highlighted that many public-school boards have Friday afternoons as a half day of prep. They noted that a similar schedule would give them the time needed for meetings and to complete additional duties required for the following week, such as creating material resources and individualized visual supports that neither teachers nor therapists have time to complete during the school hours. Teachers noted that they need to either leave these tasks unfinished or complete them on their own time outside of school hours. In relation to previous literature, similar factors were reported by teachers as a source of stress that impacted their well-being such as problematic relationships with parents and miscommunication, time pressures, not enough resources, lack of administrative support, and large classroom sizes (Jones, 2009; Split et al., 2011).

Teachers Identified Ways to Better Supporting Students with Complex Needs.

Teachers participating in the present study brought light on the number of barriers they experienced supporting students with complex needs. The barriers of limited staffing, increased number of students with varying high needs in the classrooms, and lack of prep time available

during the school hours had led to an unequal work-life balance for teachers. Additionally, research states that teachers who reported higher level of stress related to certain risk factors such as difficult working relationships with colleagues, time pressure, and large classes showed higher levels of burnout, were more likely to experiences problems with their health, personal well-being, and commitment to their work (Brunsting et al., 2014; Duli, 2015). Teachers in this study expressed that along with identifying the barriers, they need discussions surrounding ways to manage a work-life balance, as many teachers are not participating in self-care needed outside of school hours. One such teacher stated that she is new to Renfrew and noticed her colleagues working outside school hours in the evening and even on the weekends when things needed to get done to meet deadlines. Since there is a normalcy surrounding this practice and no discussions occur on the importance of a healthy work-life balance and obtaining self-care, many teachers, including new ones, have adopted this process to get their work completed, and some even use their personal days to get some tasks completed. Inexperienced teachers benefit from mentorship from experienced teachers and following their example in managing their workload and educational tasks (Young, 2018). A similar approach was found in our research with teachers observing other school sites and classrooms to takeaway new strategies they can this to be a positive experience they benefited from, new teachers also noted they observed and followed the more experienced teachers in working long hours and not maintaining a healthy work-life balance. Having more healthy discussions around normalizing boundary settings is especially important for inexperienced teachers, to develop these habits early on in their career and a recommendation raised by teachers within our study. This is important since burnout and attrition of new teachers occurs at a higher rate in special education (Pas et al., 2012).

The schools in our present study promote staff wellness through activities planned during school hours and lunch hours such as potlucks, yoga, and wellness days, along with a family support worker that can offer resources such as personal counseling and employee health benefits. This is a positive contribution and supported by literature that shows teachers reporting higher levels of support for well-being at an organizational level results in teachers showing more satisfaction with their job and better self-esteem (Kang & Berliner, 2012). However, it is up to the teachers to create their own self-care and to maintain a balance of work and personal life outside school hours, which many teachers in the present study noted they have difficulty doing. Teachers even expressed feelings of guilt if a certain task is not completed because spending extra time after work helps their classrooms run smoother the next day. At the same time, teachers identified how having such an excessive work schedule causes mental stress as they have less quality time with their own families, and they push through a rough day in order to be more supportive for their students. The lack of a substitute list especially causes them to push themselves to come into work for their students when they should take the day off. A few teachers who identified themselves as working at Renfrew for more than ten years highlighted that they personally had to be diligent in ensuring their own self-care and maintaining a work-life balance to avoid burnout. Some teachers shared that not feeling guilty for not working in the evenings and weekends required a conscious effort, but they put limits on their time because they realized their mental health was important in supporting their students more efficiently. This practice of maintaining a work-life balance was used by more of the self-identified experienced teachers and should be discussed and shared more openly with new teachers, as they transition into teaching in a special needs classroom and to create a healthy self-care approach early on in their careers. These findings are

consistent with existing literature that states teachers' stress levels and job satisfaction has implications for student learning. Satisfied teachers may provide better quality and more consistent instruction to their students whereas those with reporting higher levels of work burnout are less motivated to give their best in the classroom (Split et al., 2011). Furthermore, similar to our findings, teachers in special education frequently leave because of the stresses of limited supported, limited staff development, feeling overwhelmed by students' needs, and difficulty managing workload, (Emery & Vandenberg, 2010). These feelings referred to lack of preparedness, for the position, unsupportive environment, which all has an impact on their job satisfaction (Emery & Vandenberg, 2010). Likewise, our findings showed that professional development opportunities and a supportive staff network, along with the peer mentoring, was viewed positively and acted as a small buffer for the stress and burnout teachers experienced. However, the high needs of students, lack of time to manage workload during the day, and few support staff leads to an unequal work-life balance and feeds into the cycle of burnout.

Alongside increased awareness of self-care outside school, teachers also identified other recommendations for better supporting their students with complex needs. The supportive staff network and the form of peer mentoring is an ongoing practice at Renfrew which teachers considered a recommendation that should be continued, especially for new staff, to better supporting their students with complex needs. This type of supportive atmosphere for teachers, not surprisingly, is consistent with previous literature revealing that positive interpersonal relationships in special education teaching settings can act as a buffer against risk of high levels of work burnout (Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2016; Van Droogenbroeck et al., 2014). Mentoring programs have been introduced in special needs settings to reduce feelings of isolation, especially for novice teachers, provide emotional and mental support, act as an avenue to share

resources in an open-minded environment, and to ultimately reduce turnover rates impacting special needs schools (Kang & Berliner, 2012). Furthermore, literature focusing on teachers' voices within special education emphasized the value teachers gave to professional development sessions and an added emphasis on the value of being able to observe others putting into practice the techniques and strategies being learned (Young, 2018). Within the focus groups, teachers highlighted that increased communication between therapists and teachers allow teachers to manage new student behaviours more effectively and to relay the same advice to parents earlier on. Having more frequent communication amongst professionals and teachers was recommended in the present study was a way to keep therapists updated with their students and modify strategies or amend recommendations to parents when a student's needs or behavior changes.

Quite a few discussions by teachers in each of the focus groups commented on recommendations around ways to either have smaller classroom size or include more staff members for a better ratio of adults to students, especially for those that require an increased level of support. In the literature, the use of an increased ratio of teacher's aides in the classroom has offered a middle ground for special education teachers instead of reducing the class size to improve the level of supports teachers required (Morewood & Condu, 2012). In the present study, teachers expressed that having smaller class sizes, in terms of the number of students, or more manpower would allow teachers to carve out some prep time during music or gym class and also explore more potential community outings. This sheds light on a better system by administrators to code or identify those students who would require an extra level of support to ensure a smaller number of students or additional staffing in that particular classroom. It was also brought up in the focus group discussions that despite the high stress,

additional tasks, and increased level of responsibility required in working with students with complex needs, not enough compensation is provided in relation to their duties. This is consistent with literature that indicates large class sizes, low salary, lack of professional development, and poor peer relations are several reasons contributing to special education teachers exiting the field earlier on compared to general mainstream teachers (Mee & Haverback, 2014; Morewood & Condu, 2012).

Furthermore, teachers commented that increased awareness around the services and supports available at Renfrew for young children, even those who have just a language delay and might not be meeting all developmental milestones, will improve outcomes for children due to the early intervention. Teachers mentioned they often have students coming in for just kindergarten, at which time some of the behaviours and routines become harder to change and require a lot more extra effort to help them adjust. Often, parents are unaware of the services available at Renfrew, and those who have their children already enrolled are hesitant for further assessments as they believe their child just has a language delay. However, helping parents become more aware of the benefits and additional resources that can become accessible following a diagnosis, beyond language delay, is crucial in offering more intensive supports to students who require it in all areas of development. In the present study, teachers shared that they have students at the preschool and kindergarten level who present with severe needs in more than one developmental domain and will likely receive additional diagnoses later on. However, at the moment, they are just diagnosed with ASD only or just a severe language delay but are not considered as complex needs yet, even though they present with high needs similar to students with complex needs.

Research Aim 3: Describe the profiles of preschool and elementary children with complex needs

This final purpose aimed to describe the basic demographics of preschool and elementary children with complex needs attending a special educational setting, such as Renfrew. No known literature, especially in Canada, has examined the profiles of students specifically with complex needs. Although existing literature is available discussing comorbid disorders and the features of the diagnoses, no known literature has focused specifically on students with complex needs. For this particular study, the demographics describe the students of teachers who participated in the focus groups discussions. The demographics relate to the age of the students, the frequency of identified male and female students, the number and type of diagnoses, and the most common educational codes assigned to this population, along with the educational program they are enrolled in within their schools. Although the information used to describe their profiles are limited for this particular study, it will help us gain some insight into the students that were discussed by teachers within the focus groups.

Based on the demographic findings, out of 397 students, only 53 students were selected in the dataset who had more than one diagnosis and all had an educational code at a severe level. It is important to not that many of the younger students in preschool and kindergarten only have a single diagnosis upon entrance to the school combined with some parents declining further assessments contributes to a smaller number of students with complex needs identified than likely exists in the school. The most common diagnoses were ASD, CP, and a medical condition that severely impacts students' ability to function in the classroom. A few students also had severe multiple disabilities such as Down Syndrome, brain malformations, severe visual impairment and other severe multiple disabilities like microcephaly, CP, and epilepsy

that impacts both cognitive and physical abilities. Even within this dataset of 53 students, the number of diagnoses varied for each child with most students commonly have two diagnoses, to a few other students having three or more diagnoses. The types of diagnoses also varied greatly with ASD being the most common one with associated comorbid disorders, along with other students having medical disorders, rare genetic syndromes, CP, epilepsy and visual impairments. Eighteen of the students at the elementary level beyond the age of six had a diagnosis of ID, while the preschool and kindergarten students had diagnoses of global developmental delay that will likely lead to a diagnosis of ID later on. These wide range of diagnoses and varying needs of each student coincides with the discussions the teachers had in the focus groups that a diverse range of students and needs are present in each classroom and certain students require large amounts of supports than others. Students in the dataset with multiple severe disabilities impacting both their cognitive and physical abilities likely require one-on-one support in many areas, including bathroom changes and supporting their self-care skills. Although students with complex needs are the focus of this study, teachers also need to support students in their classroom who are not classified as complex but still require some level of assistance. Connecting the experiences of teachers mentioned in the focus groups along with the data shines light on how having such a range of different needs can make it difficult to create a classroom environment that is developmentally appropriate for all children, with different resources, toys, and activities required. Coupled with the limitation of available staff members teachers shared in the focus groups and the varying high needs of students can make it more demanding to manage the classroom safely, allow for efficient programming of activities, and become challenging to take the students out in the community.

It is clear that twice as many male students are identified as students with complex needs in the dataset, which is consistent with previous literature that shows a consistent characteristic of special education services has been the disproportionate number of male students served (Dymond & Orelove, 2010). Although the reasons for the higher number of males is not straightforward, it has been suggested that overrepresentation is due to biological factors, because boys are generally more vulnerable to some genetically determined disorders and predisposed to specific learning disabilities, such as ASD (Wehmeyer & Schwartz, 2001). The mean age of students with complex needs within this dataset is 7.6 years. This likely is related to additional diagnoses such as ID or ADHD given within the elementary years instead of early on in the preschool years. It should be known that many preschool students had a diagnosis of severe language delays and speech delay when receiving services. However, some of these students might later go on to have different primary diagnosis or additional diagnoses such as ASD or ADHD. Current literature shows that children with severe receptive-expressive language impairment are more likely to have lower cognitive scores, ASD, social-emotional difficulties, or comorbid behavioural disorders, compared to their peers (Lindsay et al., 2010). Especially, because as teachers highlighted in the focus groups, some parents are hesitant on pursuing further assessments in the early preschool years. Furthermore, quite a few students with language delays and speech delays enrolled in the junior kindergarten and kindergarten programs for PUF services move onto other schools in elementary. The students who are enrolled within the elementary services are those who have higher needs with extensive support required and are not able to function independently within a mainstream classroom. However, as teachers mentioned, the funding level drops by Alberta Education for students in elementary schools compared to the funding for the preschool and kindergarten level, which equates to less

time received by professionals and increased wait times for equipment and devices needed, even though students present with severe needs.

The diversity of students with differing diagnoses and support levels explains the need for a variety of supports and resources required in the classroom. Although most students in the dataset had just two diagnoses, 15 students had three or more diagnoses. In relation to the literature, it is expected that as the number of diagnoses increase the expected level of supports required and the level of independence in school and societal integration decrease (Costello et al., 2003). As teachers mentioned, the assistive technology and consultation by professionals from different disciplines accessible at the school is a crucial resource needed to work with a wide range of students. Since many of these students likely have limited language skills and some also have diagnoses such as CP impacting their physical abilities, the need for communication devices, software programs like Boardmaker and eye gaze communication system, along with walkers and adaptive chairs are central supports to effectively working with students with complex needs. Furthermore, due to the minimal language skills students with complex needs were discussed to have, the necessity of visual resources is a major tool teachers relied on for transitions, classroom activity schedules to teach self-care and more functional skills for promoting independence. Additionally, taking students with complex needs out for community outings can only be safely possible when sufficient staff numbers are available due to students having multiple high needs and a few also having physical disabilities as well, thus requiring one on one support. Finally, teachers also discussed the opportunity for professional development available. This is especially resourceful as teachers are working with such varying high needs in their classroom from visual impairments, DS, students with ASD, and those who have seizures or other medical conditions; therefore, require additional training and learning

opportunities to expand their knowledge and skillset to better understand their students' needs and the response required. Professional development is a necessary resource because even though universities across Canada offer courses in special education areas, the only province that requires extra qualifications for special education teachers is Ontario (McBride, 2008). Other provinces note that such qualifications are desirable but not necessarily required for teaching in segregated special education settings (McBride, 2008).

In the dataset, a common comorbidity seen was ASD and ID. As mentioned in chapter two, ASD and ID can co-occur, especially with severe receptive and expressive language delays, and repetitive and restricted behaviours also increase as the severity of the ID increases (Matson & Nebel-Schwalm, 2007). Other common comorbid conditions found in the dataset sample was epilepsy and CP. All the students diagnosed with epilepsy were above the age of six. Based on previous literature, children with comorbid conditions of cerebral palsy and developmental delays along with epilepsy had moderate to severe learning disabilities, scored the lowest in adaptive functioning and language skills, and were more likely to access special educational services (Beckung & Hagberg, 2002; Duncan et al., 2007; Prasad et al., 2014). Medical and cognitive conditions can also be comorbid with children diagnosed with epilepsy (Seidenberg et al., 2009), which is seen in the dataset as two of the students with epilepsy also presented with rare brain malformations. The students in the dataset require an additional level of support best available with a special educational setting due to their difficulties in academic achievements in early childhood. Along with the combination of cerebral palsy and epilepsy, students also presented with difficulties in their vision, cognition, and motor function. Students who had CP also presented with hemiplegia, that includes paralysis of one side of the body, along with quadriplegia, that is paralysis impacting all four limbs, including the torso. Other

students also had spasticity in which muscles stiffen or tighten, affecting muscles and joints of growing children, and impact movement, speech, and gait (Beckung & Hagberg, 2002).

Intellectual abilities and the severity of gross motor function is a strong indicator of future level of functional independence and participation in society in areas of academics, occupation, and social integration (Gabis et al., 2015). Considering some of the students with CP also experienced hearing loss and visual impairments, this further impacts their functional level in daily life and requires teachers to use a variety of devices, adaptive supports, different technologies and consultation with professionals to assist these students.

Strengths and Limitations

The study has both strengths and limitations for future research. The study considers the gap in research when exploring the supports students with complex needs receive. A strength is that it is among the first to contribute to understanding the supports students with complex needs are currently receiving, possible barriers in providing these supports, and understand how teachers can support them better. This is an area of growth needed in literature, especially using the voices of teachers.

Another strength is that it focuses on teachers' perspectives as they are the ones providing the firsthand support within an academic environment while managing their classrooms and providing day to day programming and instruction for all students. Research has focused more on what leads to stress and teacher burnout but less of a focus has been from a teachers' perspectives on identifying specific barriers or resources or understand how teachers can improve these supports for students. Therefore, this offers that insight as teachers are the ones primarily assisting complex needs students in the classroom. Another strength was this research was a qualitative research design, which allowed us to use thematic analysis as the

method of analysis, and this analytical process is very useful when doing novel, inductive research by allowing a researcher to create themes without the use of existing background information (Vaismoradi et al., 2013). Furthermore, the demographic information exploring the basic profiles of the students who are discussed in the focus groups gave us some insight into the diversity of diagnoses and ages of students classified as complex students within this specialized school.

Finally, the diversity of teachers as participants ranged from those who had fifteen or more years of experience, to those who were within their first few years of teaching with seven years or less. These teachers in the focus group also had varying level of education, from a bachelor's degree to those who also had a master's degree along with lots of professional development. This can be seen as a strength as we got to acknowledge the different perspectives of teachers coming from heterogenous backgrounds, both at the preschool and elementary levels, which is expected in a school setting, and the kinds of supports they utilized in their classroom.

At the same time, this can also be seen as a limitation since we were not able to connect the demographic information provided by teachers, such as their educational level or years of experience, to perhaps the kinds of supports they provided or how they managed their work-life balance and self-care. However, to maintain participant anonymity, the focus group discussions and viewpoints were grouped together and not based on site. As a result, we were not able to determine if there were any differences between the focus groups based on the area of city and ages of students served. In the demographic data, all the teachers within our study were female. This is fairly representative of what is observed in early education, with male teachers facing suspicion as to why they would choose primary teaching and this field remains predominantly

female (Haase, 2008). This is a limitation for our study because young children are only exposed to females on how to interact, solve problems, and learn at school. Another limitation involves the lack of direct participant quotes to portray the results. No direct quotes from the focus groups were used within the results and group information was summarized instead because use of direct quotes was not indicated in the consent. Since the consent forms did not specify that quotes would be used and the results can also be shared with the organization where the focus groups were conducted, the researchers offered a summary of the results.

Additionally, using an interview protocol for the focus groups provided more flexibility for moderating group discussions, so that the focus centered on focus group participants' conversations on the topic and with one another. At the beginning of each focus group, the researcher shared multiple viewpoints are welcomed and acknowledged and that there are no particular views being solicited. Even though confidentiality pertaining to not sharing any information discussed within the focus groups was reviewed each time, researchers cannot guarantee all participants will hold up to this standard. Therefore, it is important to acknowledge that a possible limitation might be that some participants' might be hesitant to share personal experiences, viewpoints, or their challenges in a focus group format with their colleagues. Member checking is used to explore the trustworthiness of results, where the results are returned to participants to check for accuracy and confirms it represents their experiences. This additional step for member checking and reviewing the themes emerged with the participants would have strengthened the validity of this study, and the absence of member checking is seen as an additional limitation.

Another possible limitation is that it is suspected that more younger students attending the specialized school sites likely have additional diagnoses, but perhaps have not yet been diagnosed and require further assessments. As such, it is possible that the demographic information provided does not encompass all students with complex needs attending Renfrew. Furthermore, in relation to the demographics profile, the severity levels related to the ID diagnoses and ASD diagnoses was not always given, which made it difficult to determine the exact severity level of the students with complex needs. In addition, it was unfortunate that the primary and secondary diagnoses was not indicated in the demographic dataset. This made it challenging to know which diagnosis a primary diagnosis and which ones were secondary diagnoses. A further limitation was the lack of information related to the English proficiencies of the families. This information would have provided insight into the extent that limited English proficiency impacted families of students with complex needs. For future studies, these should be considered as an additional piece of data to be added to better understand the profiles of students.

Finally, a substantial consideration and limitation is that since the focus group data and demographics data was all gathered from one educational organization, specifically an organization specializing in providing services to children with special needs, it is difficult to generalize the results to public school settings. First of all, whenever possible, the focus of public schools is primarily to place students in least restrictive settings that allow opportunities for integration (McBride, 2008). Even though public schools consist of specialized classrooms for students with high needs that make mainstream integration less of an option, the availability of some of the supports and resources mentioned in this study might differ or may not be available at the same level, such as accessibility of therapists for consultation, resources for families, sensory rooms, or specialized equipment and devices. Also, the types of students with

complex needs within specialized programs at public school sites may also differ in their profiles compared to the students in the present study.

Implications & Directions for Future Research

The findings from the present study have a practical utility for researchers and educators of special educational settings. This contributes to reducing a gap in the literature because minimal literature has investigated the supports teachers access for students with complex needs in a school environment related to their academics and developmental needs.

The present study extends our knowledge in supporting students with complex needs as teachers provided specific examples of barriers they have experienced in the classroom. There is a need to listen to and hear the voices of teachers in order to understand the additional supports required to better assist students with complex needs. Therefore, the results of this study have the potential to benefit administrators at the school-site level, more so in specialized settings, in identifying essential specific supports required for students in the classroom that should be included or maintained, supporting novice and experienced teachers through providing opportunities for training and increased resources and discussions for promoting a healthy work-life balance and self-care.

For teachers, it helps them understand the perspectives and potential barriers special education teachers experience while supporting students with complex needs and be aware of possible supports and resources being utilized. It also helps emphasize to teachers the need to maintain a balance and ensure their own self-care to better support their students in the classroom. Specifically, for school psychologists, it provides insight to a general need to offer more opportunities for professional workshops for teachers as an opportunity to expand their skills and be better equipped to support their students. Furthermore, school psychologists can

play a further role in helping parents understand the need and benefits for further assessments if it is deemed beneficial, for assessing additional diagnoses.

These findings may also shed light on some of the characteristics of students with complex needs that the teachers were supporting within specialized settings. Although the information related to the profiles of the students was brief, it provided a small snapshot of the potential high needs and diverse range of diagnoses possibly present in classrooms that teachers need to support. Based on the diagnoses, it also suggested more students with rare medical disorders and severe neurodevelopmental disorders as the primary diagnoses falling under complex students, with co-occurring conditions added as they get older. In better understanding the profiles of students with complex needs and the difficulties teachers experience in supporting students with complex needs, specific resources required and problem-solving ways to overcome present barriers can be generated. It also highlights the need to conduct further research on exploring the profiles of students with more than one disorder to help teachers assist them better.

For further steps, the present study was an initial attempt in understanding the types of supports students with complex needs are currently receiving, identifying barriers, and how to better support them in the classroom, based on the voices of teachers. This attempt occurred primarily in a specialized school setting, not connected with the public-school board. An interesting future direction can be to also focus on the supports provided to students with complex needs and possible barriers within specialized programs in a public board and see how they compare. This will give further insight into the levels of supports provided in public schools and if different types of resources are available for students with complex needs that might not be present in specialized schools.

Another interesting future development of the findings from this study would be to also explore the kinds of supports received in middle school and high school in comparison to the supports received in the early educational levels. The barriers related to the supports and the ways teachers can assist them better could also differ as students enter puberty and into the teenager years, with a larger focus on vocational goals and increased independence.

In addition, gathering increased information regarding the profiles of students with complex needs would be another beneficial future aim. This could also look at the profiles of students in middle school and high school or those attending specialized programs within public schools to see how they compare and help expand our current information on the types and number of diagnoses. Along with the basic demographic information looked at within this study, it will also be helpful for future studies to also look at IPP goals of students with complex needs, their academic profiles, and the types of funding and supports they receive outside of school hours.

Teachers in the present study provided unique viewpoints regarding the barriers they identified to supporting students and ways to support them better. Future studies may also employ the use of qualitative methods to explore the perspective of professionals, that also consult and provide therapy to the students, as to any specific challenges they experience in working with students with complex needs along with recommendations to assist students better.

Conclusion

Overall, the primary interest and focus of this study was to explore the kinds of supports students with complex needs are currently receiving, along with understanding challenges teachers experience. Based on the conversations generated among the study participants, a

121

variety of supports are utilized consisting of multi-disciplinary teams, equipment and devices, sensory rooms, visuals and material resources, resources for families, and community services, along with wellness programs and professional development to help teachers in their roles. Teachers also experience unique challenges in supporting students with complex needs due to a lack of available staffing, limited prep time, funding and long wait times, classroom sizes, the wide range of needs within the classrooms, and difficulties in communication with families. This study's findings also brought to the light the unequal work-life balance teachers shared they had been experiencing, leading to mental stress and lack of self-care outside of school hours. The study highlighted recommendations by teachers for better assisting their students within the classroom included increased discussions and openness regarding the need for selfcare and maintaining a healthy work balance, smaller classrooms sizes, better identification of students that require an extra level of support, and increased awareness around the services available for children with developmental delays. Along with understanding the types of supports and barriers, the demographics of students with complex needs provided us with brief information that most students had 2 diagnoses, while others also had 3 or more co-occurring diagnoses. Most of the students had primary diagnoses related to ASD, CP, and other rare genetic syndromes, with more students falling within the elementary school range. This is just the beginning of better understanding the profiles of students with complex needs present in classrooms and hopefully this research study has planted the seeds for exploring the resources currently used and ways to assist students with complex needs more effectively within the academic environment.

References

- Achinstein, B., Ogawa, R. T., Sexton, D., & Freitas, C. (2010). Retaining teachers of color: A pressing problem and a potential strategy for "hard-to-staff" schools. *Review of Educational Research*, 80, 71-107. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654309355994
- Adera, B. A., & Bullock, L. M. (2010). Job stressors and teacher job satisfaction in programs serving students with emotional and behavioural disorders. *Emotional and Behavioural Difficulties*, 15, 5-14. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838015622440
- Ahmed, A., Quraishi, M. M., & Abdillahi, A. (2017). Optimising rigour in focus group analysis: using content/thematic and form/structural approaches to understand British Somali's experiences of policing in London. *International Social Sciences Review*, 93, 4-34. Retrieved from https://digitalcommons.northgeorgia.edu/issr/vol93/iss2/3. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794107085301
- Alberta Education. (2012). *Special education coding criteria 2012-2013* (2nd ed.). Alberta Education.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders*, (5th edition).
- Andrew, T. (2012). What is social constructionism? *The Grounded Theory Review, 11*, 39-46.

 Retrieved November 19, 2020, from http://groundedtheoryreview.com/2012/06/01/what-is-social-constructionism/
- Angold, A, Costello, E. J., & Erkanli, A. (1999). Comorbidity. *Journal of Child Psychology* and Psychiatry, 40, 57-87. https://doi.org/10.1111/1469-7610.00424
- Barbour, R. (2007). Doing focus groups. SAGE Publications.

- Barkley, R. A. (2006). Attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: A handbook for diagnosis and treatment (3rd ed.). Guilford Press.
- Barkley, R. A. (2010). Deficient emotional self-regulation is a core component of ADHD.

 **Journal of ADHD and Related Disorders, 1(2), 5-37. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-007-1003-7
- Barkley, R. A. (Ed). (2014). Attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: A handbook for diagnosis and treatment. (4th ed.). Guilford Publications.
- Bax, M., & Gillberg, C. (2010). Comorbidities in developmental disorders. In J. K., Brown &P., Eunson (Eds.), Heterogeneity in Cerebral Palsy (pp. 20-39). Mac Keith Press.
- Beckung, E., & Hagberg, G. (2002). Neuroimpairments, activity limitations, and participation restrictions in children with cerebral palsy. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*, 44, 309-316. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794107085301
- Bedard, A. C., & Tannock, R. (2008). Anxiety, methylphenidate response, and working memory in children with ADHD. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 11, 546-557. https://doi: 10.1177/1087054707311213
- Beltman, S., Mansfield, C., & Price, A. (2011). Thriving not just surviving: A review of research on teacher resilience. *Educational Research Review*, *6*(3), 185-207. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794107085301
- Bennett, T., Szatmari, P., Bryson, S., Volden, J., Zwaigenbaum, L., Vaccarella, L., Duku, E., & Boyle, M. (2008). Differentiating autism and asperger syndrome on the basis of language delay or impairment. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *38*, 615-625. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732307306927

- Berghofer, P. (2019). Husserl's noetics- towards a phenomenological epistemology. *Journal of the British Society for Phenomenology*, *50*, 120-138. https://doi.org/10.1080/00071773.2018.1525798
- Bjorgaas, H. M., Hysing, M., & Elgen, I. (2012). Psychiatric disorders among children with cerebral palsy at school starting age. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, *33*, 1287-1293. https://doi.org/10.1080/13668250802010394
- Bloomberg, L. D., & Volpe, M. (2008). Completing your qualitative dissertation: A roadmap from beginning to end. SAGE.
- Bowen, G. A. (2008). Naturalistic inquiry and the saturation concept: A research note.

 *Qualitative Research, 8(1), 137-152. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794107085301
- Bowles, T., & Arnup, J. L. (2016). Early career teachers' resilience and positive adaptive change capabilities. *The Australian Educational Researcher*, 43(2), 147-164. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-007-1003-7
- Boyle, J., McCartney, E., O'Hare, A., & Law, J. (2010). Intervention for mixed receptive-expressive language impairment: A review. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*, 52, 994-999. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8749.2010.03750.x
- Bracken, S. (2010). Discussing the importance of ontology and epistemology awareness in practitioner research. *Worcester Journal of Learning and Teaching*, (4), 1-9. https://doi: 10.1177/1087054707311213
- Bradshaw, J. L., & Sheppard, D. M. (2000). The neurodevelopmental frontostriatal disorders: Evolutionary adaptiveness and anomalous lateralization. *Brain and Language*, 73, 297-320. https://doi.org/10.1080/11468794107085301

- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2013). Successful qualitative research: A practical guide for beginners. Sage.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research* in *Psychology*, 3, 77-101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Braun, V., Clarke, V., & Terry, G. (2015). Thematic analysis. In P. Rohleder, & A. C. Lyons (Eds.), *Qualitative research in clinical and health psychology*. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Britten, L. (2014). The enhanced critical incident technique: Using semi-structured interviews to work with vulnerable and marginalized populations. *SAGE Research Methods Cases*. https://doi.org/10.4135/978144627305013508499.
- Brown, T. E. (2000). Attention-deficit disorders and comorbidities in children, adolescents, and adults. American Psychiatric Press.
- Brunsting, N. C., Sreckovic, M. A., & Lane, K. L. (2014). Special education teacher burnout: A synthesis of research. *Education and Treatment of Children, 37,* 681-711. https://doi.org/10.1080/00098655.2010.489387
- Butterfield, L. D., Borgen, W. A., Maglio, A. S. T., & Amundson, N. E. (2009). Using the enhanced critical incident technique in counselling psychology research. *Canadian Journal of Counselling*, 43, 265-282. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.n et/profile/William_Borgen/publication/277032635_Using_the_Enhanced_Critical_Incide nt_Technique_in_Counselling_Psychology_Research/links/563234c808ae053037900a7e .pdf
- Caelli, K., Ray, L., & Mill, J. (2003). 'Clear as mud': Toward greater clarity in generic qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 2*(2), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794107085301

- Carter, S. M., & Little, M. (2007). Justifying knowledge, justifying method, taking action: Epistemologies, methodologies, and methods in qualitative research. *Qualitative Health Research*, *17*, 1316-1328. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732307306927
- Castro, A. J., Kelly, J., & Shih, M. (2010). Resilience strategies for new teachers in high-needs areas. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 26(3), 622-629. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794107085301
- CDC. (2016). Prevalence and characteristics of autism spectrum disorder among children aged 8 years autism and developmental disabilities monitoring network, 11 sites, United States, 2012. *MMWR Surveillance Summaries*, 65, 1-23. http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.ss6503al.
- Chang, M. L. (2009). An appraisal perspective of teacher burnout: Examining the emotional work of teachers. *Educational Psychology Review*, *21*, 193-218. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.20173
- Chang, Y. C., Quan, J., & Wood, J. J. (2012). Effects of anxiety disorder severity on social functioning in children with autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Developmental and Physical Disabilities*, 24, 235-245. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794107085301
- Chapman, E., & Smith, J. A. (2002). Interpretative phenomenological analysis and the new genetics. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 7, 125-130. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794107085301
- Christensen, D. L., Baio, J., Van Naarden, B. K, Bilder, D., Charles, J., Constantino, J. N.,

 Fitzgerald, R. T., Shenouda, J., Daniels, J. L., Warren, Z., Yeargin-Allsopp, M. (2018).

 Prevalence and characteristics of autism spectrum disorder among children aged 8 years –

 Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network, 11 Sites, United States,

- 2012. MMWR Surveillance Summaries, 65, 1-23. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054715613437
- Coman, D., Alessandri, M., Gutierrez, A., Novotny, S., Boyd, B., Hume, K., Sperry, L., & Odom, S. (2013). Commitment to classroom model philosophy and burnout symptoms among high fidelity teachers implementing preschool programs for children with autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 43, 345-360. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Combs-Orme, T., Heflinger, C. A., & Simpkins, C. G. (2002). Comorbidity of mental health problems and chronic health conditions in children. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioural Disorders*, 10, 116-125. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054707308486
- Connor, D. F., & Doerfler, L. A. (2008). ADHD with comorbid oppositional defiant disorder or conduct disorder. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 12, 126-134. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794107085301
- Connor, D. F., Steeber, J., McBurnett, K. (2010). A review of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder complicated by symptoms of oppositional defiant disorder or conduct disorder.

 Journal of Developmental and Behavioural Pediatrics, 31, 427-440.

 https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Costello, E. J., Mustillo, S., Erkanli, A., Keeler, G., & Angold, A. (2003). Prevalence and development of psychiatric disorders in childhood and adolescence. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 60, 837-844. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794107085301
- Cotugno, A. (2009). Social competence and social skills training and intervention for children with autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *39*, 1268-1277. https://doi.org/10.1177/108835760001500307

- Craig, F., Savino, R., & Trabacca, A. (2019). A systematic review of comorbidity between cerebral palsy, autism spectrum disorders and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *European Journal of Paediatric Neurology, 23,* 31-42. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054707308486
- Creswell, J. W. (2012). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research (4th ed.). Pearson.
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches (4th ed.). SAGE Publications, Ltd.
- Creswell, J. W., & Plano Clark, V. L. (2011). *Designing and conducting mixed methods* research (2nd ed). SAGE.
- Cuffe, S. P., Visser, S. N., Holbrook, J. R., Danielson, M. L., Geryk, L. L., Wolraich, M. L., & McKeown, R. E. (2020). ADHD and psychiatric comorbidity: Functional outcomes in a school-based sample of children. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 24, 1345-1354. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054715613437
- Daniels, H., Hedegaard, M., & ebrary, Inc. (2011). *Vygtosky and special needs education* support for children and schools. Continuum International Pub. Group.
- Debes, N., Hjalgrim, H., & Skov, L. (2008). Validation of the presence of comorbidities in a Danish clinical cohort of children with Tourette syndrome. *Journal of Child Neurology*, 23, 1017-1027. https://doi.org/10.1177/0883073808316370
- Debes, N., Hjalgrim, H., & Skov, L. (2010). The presence of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and obsessive-compulsive disorder worsen psychosocial and educational problems in Tourette syndrome. *Journal of Child Neurology*, *25*, 171-181. https://doi.org/10.1177/0883073809336215

- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2005). The Sage handbook of qualitative research (3rd ed). Sage.
- De Stasio, S., Fiorilli, C., & Benevene, P. (2017). Burnout in special needs teachers at kindergarten and primary school: Investigating the role of personal resources and work wellbeing. *Psychology in the Schools, 54,* 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.22013.
- Dettmer, S., Simpson, R. L., Myles, B. S., & Ganz, J. B. (2005). The use of visual supports to facilitate transitions of students with autism. *Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities*, 15, 163-169. https://doi.org/10.1177/108835760001500307
- Dicke, T., Parker, P. D., Marsh, H. W., Kunter, M., Schmeck, A., & Leunter, D. (2014). Self-efficacy in classroom management, classroom disturbances, and emotional exhaustion: A moderated mediation analysis of teacher candidates. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 106, 569-583. https://doi.org/10.1080/10503300902798375
- Dib, N., & Sturmey, P. (2007). Reducing student stereotypy by improving teachers' implementation of discrete-trial teaching. *Journal of Applied Behaviour Analysis*, 40, 339-343. https://doi.org/10.1177/108835760001500307
- Dressler, A., Perelli, V., Bozza, M., Bargagna, S. (2011). The autistic phenotype in Down syndrome: Differences in adaptive behaviour versus Down syndrome alone and autistic disorder alone. *Functional Neurology*, *26*, 151-158. https://doi.org/10.1080/00098655.2010.489387
- Dukes, S., Smith, M., & Smith, S. (2007). Working with parents of children with special educational needs (Hands on Guides). Paul Chapman Publications.

- Duli, S. (2015). Proactive coping and professional burnout in special education. *Academic Journal of Interdisciplinary Studies*, 4, 18-23. https://doi.org/ 10.5901/ajis.2015.v4n3s1p18
- Duncan, G. J., Dowsett, C. J., Claessens, A., Magnuson, K., Huston, A. C., Klebanov, P.,
 Pagani, L. S., Feinstein, L., Engel, M., Brooks-Gunn, J., Sexton, H., & Duckworth, K.
 (2007). School readiness and later achievement. *Developmental Psychology*, 43, 1428-1446. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.43.6.1428
- Dymond, S. K., Gilson, C. L., & Myran, S. P. (2007). Services for children with autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Disability Policy Studies*, *18*, 133-147. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10464-005-3399-x
- Dymond, S. K., & Orelove, F. P. (2010). What constitutes effective curricula for students with severe disabilities? *Exceptionality*, *9*, 109-122. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327035EX0903_2
- Ekstein, S., Glick, B., Weill, M., Kay, B. & Berger, I. (2011). Down syndrome and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). *Journal of Child Neurology*, *26*, 1290-1295. https://doi.org/10.1177/0883073811405201
- Elia, J., Ambrosini, P., & Berrettini, W. (2008). ADHD characteristics: Concurrent comorbidity patterns in children and adolescents. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health*, 2, 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1186/1753-2000-2-15ß
- Fassbender, C., Kraftt, C. E., & Schweitzer, J. B. (2015). Differentiating SCT and inattentive symptoms in ADHD using fMRI measures of cognitive control. Clinical, 8, 390-397. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nicl.2015.05.007

- Fereday, J., & Muir-Cochrane, E. (2006). Demonstrating rigor using thematic analysis: A hybrid approach of inductive and deductive coding and theme development. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *5*, 80-92. Retrieved from http://ejournals.library.ualberta.ca/index.php/IJQM/article/view/4411
- Franz, N. K. (2011). The unfocused focus group: Benefit or bane. *The Qualitative Report*, *16*(5), 1380-1388. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.43.6.1428
- Freeman, R. D. (2007). Tic disorders and ADHD: Answers from a world-wide clinical dataset on Tourette syndrome. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, *16*, 15-23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-007-1003-7.
- Gabis, L. V., Tsubary, N. M., Leon, O., Ashkenasi, A., Shefer, S. (2015). Assessment of abilities and comorbidities in children with cerebral palsy, *Journal of Child Neurology*, 30, 1640-1645. https://doi.org/10.1177/0888406414557284c
- Gargaro, B. A., Rinehart, N. J., Bradshaw, J. L., Tonge, B. J., & Sheppard, D. M. (2011).

 Autism and ADHD: How far have we come in the comorbidity debate? *Neuroscience and Biobehavioural Reviews*, *35*, 1081-1088. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.43.6.1428
- Gibbs, S., & Miller, A. (2013). Teachers' resilience and well-being: A role for educational psychology. *Teachers and Teaching*, 20(5), 609-621. https://doi:10.1037/0735-7028.15.6.785
- Gillott, A., Furniss, F., & Walter, A. (2001). Anxiety in high-functioning children with autism. *Autism*, 5, 277-286. https://doi:10.1016/0022-4405(86)90040-3
- Goldberg, D. P., Krueger, R. F., Andrews, G., Hobbs, M. J. (2009). Emotional disorders: Cluster 4 of the proposed meta-structure for DSM-V and ICD-11. *Psychological Medicine*, *39*, 2043-2059. https://doi.org/10.1080/13664530.2013.813763

- Grayson, J. L., & Alvarez, H. K. (2008). School climate factors relating to teacher burnout: A mediator model. *Teaching & Teacher Education*, 24, 1349-1363.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-3802.12043
- Grudens-Schuck, N. Allen, B. L., & Larson, K. (2004). Focus group fundamentals. [Fact Sheet]. Iowa State University Extension.
- Guba, E. G., & Lincoln, Y. S. (1994). Competing paradigms in qualitative research. In N. K.

 Denzin & Y. S. Lincolm (Eds.), *Handbook of qualitative research* (pp. 105-117).

 Retrieved December 10, 2020, from

 http://steinhardtapps.es.its.nyu.edu/create/courses/3311/reading/10-guba_lincoln_94.pdf.
- Hallett, V., Ronald, A., Colvert, E., Ames, C., Woodhouse, E., Lietz, S., Garnett, T., Gillan, N.,
 Rijsdijk, F., & Happe, F. Exploring anxiety symptoms in a large-scale twin study of
 children with autism spectrum disorders, their co-twins and controls. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 54, 1176-1185. https://doi:10.1016/0022-4405(86)90040-3
- Hamilton-Jones, B., & Vail, C.O. (2013). Preparing special educators for collaboration in the classroom: Pre-service teachers' beliefs and perspectives. *International Journal of Special Education*, 28, 56-68. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-3802.12043
- Harvey, E. A., Breaux, R. P., Lugo-Candelas, C. (2016). Early development of comorbidity between symptoms of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and oppositional defiant disorder. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 125, 154-167. https://doi.org/10.1037/abn0000090
- Hays, D. G., & Singh, A. A. (2012). *Qualitative inquiry in clinical and educational settings*.

 The Guilford Press.

- Hazell, P. (2010). Review of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder comorbid with oppositional defiant disorder. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 18, 556-559. https://doi.org/10.3109/10398562.2010.498049
- Hendren, R. L., Haft, S. L., Black, J. M., White, N. C., & Hoeft, F. (2018). Recognizing psychiatric comorbidity with reading disorders. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *9*, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-3802.12043
- Hess, J.A., Matson, J.L. & Dixon, D.R. (2010). Psychiatric symptom endorsements in children and adolescents diagnosed with autism spectrum disorders: a comparison to typically developing children and adolescents. *Journal of Developmental and Physical Disability*, 22, 485-496. https://doi:10.1016/0022-4405(86)90040-3
- Hoglund, W. L. G., Klingle, K. E., Hosan, N. E. (2015). Classroom risks and resources:

 Teacher burnout, classroom quality and children's adjustment in high needs elementary school. *Journal of School Psychology*, *53*, 337-357. https://doi:10.1037/0735-7028.15.6.785
- Hoglund, W. L. G., & Leadbeater, B. J. (2004). The effects of family, school, and classroom ecologies on changes in children's social competence and emotional and behavioural problems in first grade. *Developmental Psychology*, 40, 533-544. https://doi:10.1177/1609406917733847
- Hurting, T., Ebeling, H., Taanila, A., Miettunen, J., Smalley, S., McGough, J, Loo, S., Jarvelin,
 M. R., & Moilanen, I. (2007). ADHD and comorbid disorders in relation to family
 environment and symptom severity. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 16, 362-369. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654315626800

- Jarrett, M. A., Wolff, J. C., Davis, T. E., Cowart, M. J., & Ollendick, T. H. (2016).
 Characteristics of children with ADHD and comorbid anxiety. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 20, 636-644. https://doi.org/10.1080/13664530.2013.813763
- Joffe, H. (2012). Thematic analysis. In D. Harper & A. R. Thompson (Eds.), *Qualitative* research methods in mental health and psychotherapy: A guide for students and practitioners. (pp. 209-223). Wiley-Blackwell. Retrieved from http://public.eblib.com/choice/publicfullrecord.aspx?p=818736
- Johnson, B., & Christensen, L. (2014). Educational research: Quantitative, qualitative, and mixed approaches (5th ed.). Sage.
- Jones, M. L. (2009). A study of novice special educators' views of evidence-based practices.

 Teacher Education and Special Education, 32, 101-120.

 https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654315626800
- Jones, N. D., Youngs, P., & Frank, K. A. (2013). The role of school-based colleagues in shaping the commitment of novice special and general education teachers. *Exceptional Children*, 79, 365-383. https://doi.org/10.1177/001440291307900303
- Jordan, A., Schwartz, E., & McGhie-Richmond, D. (2009). Preparing teachers for inclusive classrooms. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 25, 535-542. https://doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.159.9.1548
- Kaff, M. S. (2004). Multitasking in multi-taxing: Why special educators are leaving the field. *Preventing School Failure*, 48, 10-17. https://doi:10.1177/1609406917733847
- Kane, R. G., & Francis, A. (2013). Preparing teachers for professional learning: Is there a future for teacher education in new teacher induction? *Teacher Development*, 17, 362-379. https://doi.org/10.1080/13664530.2013.813763

- Kang, S., & Berliner, D. (2012). Characteristics of teacher induction programs and turnover rates of beginning teachers. *The Teacher Educator*, 47, 268-282. https://doi.org/10.1080/08878730.2012.707758
- Kato, K., Mikami, K., Akama, F., Yamada, K., Maehara, M., Kimoto, K., Kimoto, K., Sato, R., Ichimura, A., Matsumoto H. (2013). Clinical features of suicide attempts in adults with autism spectrum disorders. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, 35, 50-53. https://doi.org/10.3109/13682820903165693
- Klassen, R. M. (2010). Teacher stress: he mediating role of collective efficacy beliefs. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 103, 342-350. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-012-0278-5
- Klassen, R. M., & Chiu, M. M. (2010). Effects on teachers' self-efficacy and job satisfaction: Teacher gender, years of experience, and job stress. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 102, 741-756. https://doi:10.1177/1609406917733847
- Knodel, J. (1993). The design and analysis of focus group studies: A practical approach. In D.L. Morgan (Ed.), Successful focus groups: Advancing the state of the art (pp. 35–50).Sage.
- Kourkoutas, E., Langher, V., Vitalaki, E., & Ricci, M. E. (2015). Working with parents to support their disabled children's social and school inclusion: An exploratory counseling study. *Journal of Infant, Child, and Adolescent Psychotherapy*, 14, 143-157. https://doi.org/10.17583/ijep.2017.2126
- Krueger, R. A. (2000). Focus groups: A practical guide for applied research (3rd ed.). Sage.

- Krueger, R. A. (2007). *Problems, challenges and headaches with focus groups interviewing and strategies for responding*. Workshop presented at the American Evaluation Association annual conference. Baltimore, Maryland.
- Krueger, R. A., & Casey, M. A. (2009). Focus groups: A practical guide for applied research.

 Sage.
- Langher, V., Caputo, A., & Ricci, M. E. (2017). The potential role of perceived support for reduction of special education teachers' burnout. *International Journal of Educational Psychology*, 6, 120-147. https://doi.org/10.17583/ijep.2017.2126
- Larson, K., Russ, S. A., Kahn, R. S., & Halfon, N. (2011). Patterns of comorbidity, functioning and service use for US children with ADHD. *Pediatrics*, *127*, 462-470. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2010-0165
- Lebowitz, E. R., Motlagh, M. G., Katsovich, L., King, R. A., Lombroso, P. J., Grantz, H., Lin, H., Bentlet, M. J., Gilbert, D. L., Singer, H. S., Coffey, B. J., Kurlan, R. M., & Leckman, J. F. (2012). Tourette syndrome in youth with and without obsessive compulsive disorder and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 21, 451-457. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-012-0278-5
- Leech, N. L., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2008). Qualitative data analysis: A compendium of techniques for school psychology research and beyond. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 23, 587-604. https://doi.org/10.17583/ijep.2017.2126
- Leko, M. M., Brownell, M. T., Sindelar, P. T., & Murphy, K. (2012). Promoting special education preservice teacher expertise. *Focus on Exceptional Children, 44*, 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1177/001440291107700205

- Lerman, D., Tetreault, A., Hovanetz, A., Strobel, M., & Garro, J. (2008). Further evaluation of a brief, intensive teacher-training model. *Journal of Applied Behaviour Analysis*, 41, 243-248. https://doi.org/10.1177/001440291107700205
- Levy, F., Young, D. J., Bennett, K. S., Martin, N. C., & Hay, D. A. (2013). Comorbid ADHD and mental health disorders: are these children more likely to develop reading disorders?

 ADHD Attention Deficit and Hyperactivity Disorders, 5, 21-28.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-3802.12043
- Levy, F. (2004). Synaptic gating and ADHD: A biological theory of comorbidity of ADHD and anxiety. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *29*, 1589-1596. https://doi.org/10.17583/ijep.2017.2126
- Leyfer, O. T., Folstein, S. E., Bacalman, S., Davis, N. O., Dinh, E., Morgan, J., Tager-Flusberg,
 H., Lainhart, J. E. (2006). Comorbid psychiatric disorders in children with autism:
 Interview development and rates of disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 36, 849-861. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-012-0278-5
- Lichtman, M. (2012). Qualitative research in education: A user's guide. Sage.
- Lilienfeld, S. O., Waldman, I. D., & Israel, A. C. (1994). A critical examination of the use of the term and concept of comorbidity in psychopathology research. *Clinical Psychology:*Science and Practice, 1, 71-83. https://doi.org/10.1177/001440291107700205
- Lindsay, G., Dockrell, J., Desforges, M., Law, J., & Peacey, N. (2010). Meeting the needs of children and young people with speech, language and communication difficulties.

 International Journal of Language & Communication Disorders, 45, 448-460.

 https://doi.org/10.3109/13682820903165693

- Lin, H., Katsovich, L., Ghbremichael, M., Findley, D. B., Grantz, H., Lombroso, P. J., King, R. A., Zhang, H., & Leckman, J. F. (2007). Psychosocial stress predicts future symptom severities in children and adolescents with Tourette syndrome and/or obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Journal of Child Psychology & Psychiatry*, 48, 157-166. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2006.01687.x.
- Loeber, R., Burke, J., & Pardini, D. A. (2009). Perspectives on oppositional defiant disorder, conduct disorder, and psychopathic features. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *50*, 133-142. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917733847
- Maddox, B. B., & White, S. W. (2015). Comorbid social anxiety disorder in youth with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *45*, 3949-3960. https://doi:10.1080/02619768.2017.1296535
- Madill, A., Jordan, A., & Shirley, C. (2000). Objectivity and reliability in qualitative analysis:

 Realist, contextualist and radical constructionism epistemologies. *British Journal of Psychology*, 91, 1-20. https://doi.org/10.1348/000712600161646
- Mannion, A., Brahm, M., & Leader, G. (2014). Comorbid psychopathology in Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Review Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 1, 124-134.
- Mash, E. J., & Barkley, R. A. (2014). Child psychopathology. The Guilford Press.
- Matson, J. L., & Nebel-Schwalm, M. S. (2007). Comorbid psychopathology with autism spectrum disorder in children: An overview. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 28, 341-352. https://doi:10.1002/jclp.20196
- Matson, J. L., & Goldin, R. L. (2013). Comorbidity and autism: Trends, topics and future directions. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 7, 1228-1233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2013.07.003

- Mayes, S. D., Gorman, A. A., Hillwig-Garcia, J., & Syed, E. (2013). Suicide ideation and attempts in children with autism. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, *5*, 474-485. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2006.01687.x.
- Mazzone, L., Ruta, L., & Reale, L. (2011). Psychiatric comorbidities in Asperger syndrome and high functioning autism: Diagnostic challenges. *Annals of General Psychiatry*, 11, 2-13. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054715613437
- McBride, S. (2008). A cross-Canada review of selected issues in special education. McBride Management.
- McKean, C., Reilly, S., Bavin, E. L., Bretherton, L., Cini, E., Conway, L. Cook, F., Eadie, P., Prior, M., Wake, M., & Mensah, F. (2017). Language outcomes at 7 years: Early predictors and co-occurring difficulties. *Pediatrics*, 139, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2016-1684.
- McLaughlin, M. R. (2011). Speech and language delay in children. *American Family Physician*, 83, 1183-1188. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794107085301
- Mee, M., & Haverback, H. (2014). Commitment, preparation, and early career frustrations: Examining further attrition of middle school teachers. *American Secondary Education*, 42, 39-51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ienj.2010.05.001
- Merikangas, K. R., He, J. P., Brody, D., Fisher, P. W., Bourdon, K., & Koretz, D. S. (2010).

 Prevalence and treatment of mental disorders among US children in the 2001-2004

 HANES. *Pediatrics*, 125, 75-81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2013.07.003
- Montes, G., & Halterman, J. S. (2007). Bullying among children with autism and the influence of comorbidity with ADHD: A population-based study. *Ambulatory Pediatrics*, 7, 253-257. https://doi:10.1080/02619768.2017.1296535

- Morewood, A., & Condu, A. (2012). A preservice special education teachers' construction of knowledge: Implications for coursework and retention in the field. *Rural Special Education Quarterly*, 31, 15-21. https://doi.org/10.1177/875687051203100103
- Morgan, D. L. (1996). Focus groups. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 22, 129–152. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.soc.22.1.129
- Morgan, D. L., & Krueger, R. A. (1993). When to use focus groups and why. In D. L. Morgan (Ed.), Successful focus groups: Advancing the state of the art (pp. 3–19). Sage.
- Morris, S. E., & Cuthbert, B. N. (2012). Research domain criteria: Cognitive systems, neural circuits, and dimensions of behaviour. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, *14*, 29-37. https://doi:10.1002/jclp.20196
- Newcorn, J. H., Halperin, J. M., & Miller, C. J. (2009). ADHD with oppositionality and aggression. In T. E. Brown (Ed.), *ADHD comorbidities: Handbook for ADHD complications in children and adults* (pp. 157-176). American Psychiatric Publishing.
- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis: striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 16*, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917733847
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., Dickinson, W. B., Leech, N. L., & Zoran, A. G. (2009). A qualitative framework for collecting and analyzing data in focus group research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 8(3), 1-21. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917733847
- Oxelgren, U. W., Myrelid, A., Annern, G., Ekstam, B., Goransson, C., Holmbom, A., Aberg, M., & Fernell, E. (2017). Prevalence of autism and attention-deficit-hyperactivity disorder in Down syndrome. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*, 59, 276-283. https://doi.org/10.1111/dmcn.13217

- Pas, E., Bradshaw, C. P., & Hershfeldt, P. A. (2012). Teacher and school-level predictors of teacher efficacy and burnout: Identifying potential areas of support. *Journal of School Psychology*, *50*, 129-145. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917733847
- Pennington, B. F., McGrath, L. M., Peterson, R. L. (2019). *Diagnosing learning disorders:*From science to practice (3rd ed.). Guilford.
- Pianta, R. C., & Allen, J. P. (2008). Building capacity for positive youth development in secondary school classrooms: Changing teachers' interactions with students. In M. Shinn, & H. Yoshikawa (Eds.), *Toward positive youth development: Transforming schools and community programs* (pp. 21-40). Oxford University Press.
- Piercy, F., Franz, N., Donaldson, J., & Richard, R. (2011). Consistency and change in participatory action research: Reflections on a focus group study about how farmers learn. *The Qualitative Report*, *16*, 820-829. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917733847
- Pietkiewicz, I., & Smith, J. A. (2014). A practical guide to using interpretative phenomenological analysis in qualitative research psychology. *Psychological Journal*, 20, 7-14. https://doi.org/10.14691/CPPJ.20.1.7
- Pliszka, S. R., Carlson, C., & Swanson, J. M. (1999). ADHD with comorbid disorders: Clinical assessment and management. Guilford.
- Prasad, A. N., Burneo, J. G., & Corbett, B. (2014). Epilepsy, comorbid conditions in Canadian children: Analysis of cross-sectional data from Cycle 3 of the National Longitudinal Study of children and youth, *Seizure*, *23*, 869-873. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917733847

- Prasad, A. N., Sang, X., Corbett, B. A., & Burneo, J. G. (2011). Prevalence of childhood epilepsy in Canada. *The Canadian Journal of Neurological Sciences*, *38*, 719-722. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0317167100054081
- Prather-Jones, B. (2011). Flow school administrators influence the retention of teachers of students with emotional and behavioural disorders. *The Clearing House, 84*, 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1080/00098655.2010.489387
- Probst, P., & Leppert, T. (2008). Brief report: Outcomes of a teacher training program for autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *38*, 1791-1796. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579409990265
- Reilly, C. (2009). Autism spectrum disorders in Down syndrome: A review. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, *3*, 829-839. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2009.01.012
- Richler, J., Huerta, M., Bishop, S., & Lord, C. (2010). Developmental trajectories of restricted and repetitive behaviours and interests in children with autism spectrum disorders.

 Development and Psychopathology, 22, 55-69.

 https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579409990265
- Riddle, M. A., Yershova, K., Lazzaretto, D., Paykina, N., Yenokyan, G., Greenhill, L., & Posner, K. (2013). The preschool attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder treatment study (PATS) 6-year follow-up. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 52, 264-278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2012.12.007
- Rio-Roberts, M. D. (2011). How I learned to conduct focus groups. *The Qualitative Report, 16*, 312-315. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol16/iss1/22

- Rogers, S. J., & Vismara L. A. (2008). Evidence-based comprehensive treatments for early autism. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, *37*(1), 8-38. https://doi.org/10.1177/875687051203100103
- Ruppar, A. L., Neeper, L. S., & Dalsen, J. (2016). Special education teachers' perceptions of preparedness to teach students with severe disabilities. *Research and Practice for Persons with Severe Disabilities*, 41, 273-286.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1540796916672843
- Schatz, D. B., & Rostain, A. L. (2006). ADHD with comorbid anxiety. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 10, 141-149. https://doi:10.1080/02619768.2017.1296535
- Scherff, L. (2008). Disavowed: The stories of two novice teachers. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 24, 1317-1332. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781473906907
- Schroeder, J. H., Cappadocia, M. C., Bebko, J. M., & Weiss, J. (2014). Shedding light on a pervasive problem: A review of research on bullying experiences among children with autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 44, 1520-1534. https://doi:10.1002/jclp.20196
- Scotland, J. (2012). Exploring the philosophical underpinnings of research: Relating ontology and epistemology to the methodology and methods of the scientific, interpretive, and critical research paradigms. *English Language Teaching*, *5*, 9-16. https://doi.org/10.5539/elt.v5n9p9.
- Seidenberg, M., Pulsipher, D. T., & Hermann, B. (2009). Association of epilepsy and comorbid conditions. *Future Neurology*, *4*, 663-668. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-011-9170-y
- Sexton, C. C., Gelhorn, H. L., Bell, J. A., Classi, P. M. (2012). The co-occurrence of reading disorder and ADHD: epidemiology, treatment, psychosocial impact, and economic

- burden. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, *45*, 538-564. https://doi.org/10.4236/ce.2016.713182
- Sharp, W., Sherman, C., & Gross, A. (2007). Selective mutism and anxiety: A review of the current conceptualization of the disorder. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, *21*, 568-579.
- Silver, C., & Lewins, A. (2014). *Using software in qualitative research: A step-by-step guide*. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781473906907
- Simonoff, E., Pickles, A., Charman, T., Chandler, S., Loucas, T., & Baird G. (2008).

 Psychiatric disorders in children with autism spectrum disorders: Prevalence, comorbidity, and associated factors in a population-derived sample. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 47, 921-929.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/875687051203100103
- Sinzing, J., Morsch, D., Bruning, N., Schmidt, M. H., & Lehmkuhl, G. (2008). Inhibition, flexibility, working memory and planning in autism spectrum disorders with and without comorbid ADHD symptoms. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health, 2,* 1-12. https://doi.org/10.4236/ce.2016.713182
- Skaalvik, E. M., & Skaalvik, S. (2007). Dimensions of teacher self efficacy and relations with strain factors, perceived collective teacher efficacy, and teacher burnout. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 99, 611-625. https://doi.org/10.1080/10503300902798375
- Skaalvik, E. M., & Skaalvik, S. (2016). Teacher stress and teacher self-efficacy as predictors of engagement, emotional exhaustion, and motivation to leave the teaching profession.

 Creative Education, 7, 1785-1799. https://doi.org/10.4236/ce.2016.713182
- Skirbekk, B., Hansen, B. H., Oerbeck, B., Kristensen, H. (2011). The relationship between sluggish cognitive tempo, subtypes of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder, and anxiety

- disorders. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology, 39,* 513-525. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-011-9170-y
- Skokauskas, N., & Gallagher, L. (2012). Mental health aspects of autistic spectrum disorders in children. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, *56*, 248-257. https://doi:10.1002/jclp.20196
- Smethem, L. (2007). Retention and intention in teaching careers: Will the new generation stay?

 *Teachers and Teaching: Theory and Practice, 13, 465-480.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10464-005-3399-x
- Smithson, J. (2008). Focus groups. In N. Denzin & Y. Lincoln (Eds.), *Handbook of qualitative* research (2nd ed., pp. 357-370). Sage Publications.
- Soklaridis, S. (2009). The process of conducting qualitative grounded theory research for a doctoral thesis: Experiences and reflections. *The Qualitative Report*, *14*, 719-734.
- Spain, D. S., Sin, J., Linder, K. B., McMahon, J., Happe, F. (2018). Social anxiety in autism spectrum disorder: A systematic review. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, *52*, 51-68. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10298-013-9180-w
- Spence, S. H. (1997a). The Spence Children's Anxiety Scale. Windsor: NFER-Nelson.
- Spencer, T., Biederman, J., & Wilens, T. (1999). Attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder and comorbidity. *Pediatric Clinics of North America*, *46*, 915-927. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-011-9170-y
- Spilt, J. L., Koomen, H. M. Y., & Thijs, J. T. (2011). Teacher wellbeing: The importance of teacher-student relationships. *Educational Psychology Review*, 23, 457-477. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-014-2161-3

- Stainton Rogers, W., & Stainton Rogers, R. (1997). Does critical psychology mean the end of the world? In T. Ibáñez & L. Íñiguez (Eds.), *Critical Social Psychology* (pp. 67-82).

 Sage.
- Steffenburg, H., Steffenburg, S., Gillberg, C., & Billstedt, E. (2018). Children with autism spectrum disorders and selective mutism. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment, 14*, 1163-1169. https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S154966
- Strang, J. F., Kenworthy, L., Daniolos, P., Case, L., Wills, M. C., Martin, A., & Wallace, G. L. (2012). Depression and anxiety symptoms in children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorders without intellectual disability. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 6, 406-412. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10464-005-3399-x
- Syriopoulou-Delli, C. K., Cassimos, D. C., Tripsianis, G. L., & Polychronopoulou, S. A. (2012). Teachers' perceptions regarding the management of children with autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 42, 755-768.
- Tannock, R. (2009). *ADHD comorbidities: Handbook for ADHD complications in children and adults*. American Psychiatric Publishing.
- Tannock, R., Ickowicz, A., & Schachar, R. (1995). Differential effects of methylphenidate on working memory in ADHD children with and without comorbid anxiety. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 34*, 886-896. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10298-013-9180-w
- Tebes, J. K. (2005). Community science, philosophy of science, and the practice of research.

 American Journal of Community Psychology, 35, 213-230.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10464-005-3399-x

- Thapar, A., Cooper, M., Eyre, O., & Langley, K. (2013). What have we learnt about the causes of ADHD? *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *54*, 3-16. https://doi.org/10.1177/1540796916672843
- Tuvblad, C., Zheng, M., Raine, A., & Baker, L. A. (2009). A common genetic factor explains the covariation among ADHD, ODD, and CD symptoms in 9-10 year old boys and girls. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 37, 153-167. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.20173
- Van Droogenbroeck, F., Spruyt, B., & Vanroelen, C. (2014). Burnout among senior teachers:

 Investigating the role of workload and interpersonal relationships at work. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 43, 99-109. https://doi.org/10.1080/03055698.2014.930340
- Van Loo, H. M., & Romeihn, J. W. (2015). Psychiatric comorbidity: fact or artifact.
 Theoretical Medicine and Bioethics, 36, 41-60.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1043454214555194
- Vannest, K. J., & Hagan-Burke, S. (2010). Teacher time use in special education. *Remedial and Special Education*, 31, 126-142. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794107085301
- Vaughn, S., Schumm, J. S., & Sinagub, J. (1996). Focus group interview in education and psychology. Sage.
- Vloet, T. D., Konrad, K., Herpetz-Dahlmann, B., Polier, G. G., & Gunther, T. (2010). Impact of anxiety disorders on attentional functions in children with ADHD. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 124, 283-290. https://doi.org/10.1177/0888406414557284
- Waddell, C., Schwartz, C., & Shepherd, C. (2014). Child and youth mental disorders:

 Prevalence and evidence-based interventions—A research report for the British

 Columbia ministry of children and family development Children's Health Policy Centre.

 Simon Fraser University.

- Wasburn-Moses, L. (2009). An exploration of pre-service teachers' expectations for their future roles. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, *32*, 5-16. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794107085301
- Wechsler, D. (2014). *The Wechsler intelligence scale for children* (5th ed.). The Psychological Corporation.
- Wehmeyer, M. L., & Schwartz, M. (2001). Disproportionate representation of males in special education services: Biology, behaviour, or bias? *Education and Treatment of Children*, 24, 28-45. https://doi.org/10.1177/1540796916672843
- Westling, D. L., Fox, L. L., & Carter, E. W. (2015). *Teaching students with severe disabilities*.

 Pearson.
- White, S. W., Oswald, D., Ollendick, T., & Scahill, L. (2009). Anxiety in children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorders. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 29, 216-229. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10464-005-3399-x
- Wilens, T. E., Biederman, J., Brown, S., Tanguay, S., Monuteaux, M. C., Blake, C., & Spencer,
 T. J. (2002). Psychiatric comorbidity and functioning in clinically referred preschool
 children in school-age youths with ADHD. *Journal of the American Academy of Child*and Adolescent Psychiatry, 41, 262-268. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579409990265
- Willig, C. (2012). Perspectives on the epistemological bases for qualitative research. In H. Cooper (Ed.), *APA handbook of research methods in psychology* (pp. 5-21). American Psychological Association.
- Wolff, J. C., & Ollendick, T. H. (2006). The comorbidity of conduct problems and depression in childhood and adolescence, *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 9, 201-220.

- Woolsey, L. (1986). The critical incident technique: An innovative method of research.

 Canadian Journal of Counselling, 20, 242-254.

 https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654315626800
- Xerri, D. (2018). The use of interviews and focus groups in teacher research. *The Clearing House: A Journal of Educational Strategies, Issues and Ideas*, 91(3), 140-146. https://doi.org/10.1080/13668250802010394
- Yin, R. K. (2011). Qualitative research from start to finish. Guilford Press.
- Yoshimasu, K., Barberesi, W. J., Colligan, R. C., Voigt, R. G., Killian, J. M., Weaver, A. L., & Katusic, S. K. (2012). Childhood ADHD is strongly associated with a broad range of psychiatric disorders during adolescence: a population-based birth cohort study. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 53(10), 1036-1043. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794107085301
- Young, K. (2018). Co-Create: Teachers' voices to inform special education teacher evaluation.

 *Issues in Educational Research, 28, 220-236. https://doi.org/10.1177/0888406414557284

Appendices

Appendix A

Focus Group Guide

Complex Students: Understanding how to best supports students with a comorbid developmental or physical health need.

I. INTRODUCTION AND INSTRUCTIONS:

Hello, my name is Carly, and this is Muzna. Thank you for agreeing to participate in this focus group meeting. Just to remind everyone, we're discussing your experiences and opinions regarding students with complex needs in the classroom and the services you use to support these students. To clarify, when we say complex students we mean those who have a neurodevelopmental or medical disorder (e.g., Learning Disability, Autism Spectrum Disorder, Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, Epilepsy) as well as a mental health issue (e.g., Anxiety, Depression).

What is a focus group? A focus group is an interactive group discussion where we can gain several perspectives about a topic and members of the group can think about and comment on what others have said in the group. The data collected will be used as part of the audio transcription to reflect and analyze the discussion topics for the study.

Hand out name tags – people should use their first name or participant ID only. In a minute, we will all introduce ourselves – first names only. But first, I would like to walk you through the consent form that is in front of you.

Review informed consent form and answer any questions about it. Collect signed consent forms.

Confidentiality: [READ ALOUD] - Before we begin our discussion, I want to spend a few moments talking about confidentiality and to go over some basic ground rules for our focus group discussion today:

- Everyone's views are welcomed and important.
- The information which we will collect today will be attributed to you as a group.
- We will not identify quotes or ideas with *any one person* of this group. This information will be used to describe the whole group and will not be associated with any individual participants..
- We *are* assuming that when we learn about one another's views, they remain confidential and not disclose anything from the focus group.
- Having said this, and having made these requests, you know that we cannot guarantee that the request will be honoured by everyone in the room.
- So we are asking you to make only those comments that you would be comfortable making in a public setting; and to hold back making comments that you would not say publicly.

- If you want to stop being in the focus group you may leave or stay and simply stop contributing.
- All voices are to be heard, so we will step in if too many people are speaking at once or to make sure that everyone has a chance to speak.
- We may also step in if we feel the conversation is straying off topic.
- After the discussion, we will invite you to fill in an anonymous "background information sheet" to us help generally describe the kind of people who were part of the group today.
- You can also use a piece of paper to write down your opinions or a comment during the discussion, if you don't feel comfortable saying it in front of everyone else, or if we run out of time.
- You can expect this discussion group to last about 2 hours.

Use of Tape Recorder

- As you will recall, this focus/discussion group will be recorded to increase accuracy, analyze the discussion topics and to reduce the chance of misinterpreting what anyone says.
- Transcripts will be created using the audio recordings of the focus/discussion groups. All tapes and transcripts will be kept under lock and key by the researcher.
- Names will be removed from transcripts. Participants will have coded numbers attached to their name which only we will know.
- Only I and the co-researchers will have access to transcripts (with your personal names removed) of this focus group.
- I'll also ask that when using abbreviations or acronyms, you say the full name at least once to aid transcription.
- We may also write down key points during the focus group and take notes.

Group members introduce themselves to the group – remind them that it is first name only.

Hand out a copy of the questions for private responses.

II. INTERVIEW

Facilitator will remind the group that when we refer to a complex student, we we mean those who have a neurodevelopmental or medical disorder (e.g., Learning Disability, Autism Spectrum Disorder, Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, Epilepsy) as well as a mental health issue (e.g., Anxiety, Depression).

Focus group discussion begins with the facilitator asking the first question. Interview questions:

- 1) What resources are available to you to support students with complex needs?
- 2) What resources do you use regularly:
 - a) From your school?
 - b) From community?

- c) For teachers/staff?
- d) For students?
- 3) How easy or challenging is it for you to access resources to support students with complex needs?
- 4) What do you see as barriers for supporting students with complex needs?
 - a) In the classroom
 - b) In your school
 - c) In your community
- 5) How effective are the resources:
 - a) For teachers/staff?
 - b) For students?
- 6) Do you feel the students are adequately supported as a result of using the resources that you have available?
- 7) What do you need as a teacher/staff to better support students with complex needs?

Is there anything we missed or is there something else important that we should know about?

III. CONCLUSION

- Introduce the background information sheet and have participants complete and leave the sheet face down.
- Remind participants that what was said in the focus should not be repeated
- Thank the participants.

Appendix B



Recruitment Email Sent on Behalf of the Researcher By the Renfrew Educational Services

Carly McMorris, PhD University of Calgary

Study Title:

Complex Students: Understanding how to best supports students with a comorbid developmental or physical health need.

Email Subject: University of Calgary study about supporting students with complex needs.

A message for all staff:

Dr. Carly McMorris, a researcher from the University of Calgary, has contacted Renfrew Educational Services asking us to inform staff about a study she is completing on students with complex needs. Students with both a developmental or physical health issue have complex needs, and Carly is interested in understanding how these students are supported within classrooms at Renfrew, and what resources staff use or need to help students with complex needs to be successful.

You are encouraged to take part in a 1-hour group discussion with a small group of teachers/staff (focus group) to share your experience working with students with complex needs. Lunch will be provided and you will have your name entered in to win 1 of 3 Visa gift cards worth \$25.00

The focus group will meet during lunch hour at various Renfrew locations. As discussing experiences is personal, the information you provide is handled confidentially and you may stop being in the study at any point. Information received from the focus group will be presented back to Renfrew Education Services as aggregated data (group data). Thus no individual or identifying information will be associated responses provided in the focus group.

The purpose of the focus group is to collect information from teachers/staff that will inform Renfrew and local decision-makers about how teachers/staff and students access resources and the gaps that exist in current supports. If you have a unique opinion on how to support students with complex needs, this is an opportunity to share your perspective through research that aims to improve future education policies and practice.

If you are interested in participating in the focus group, please **contact Carly directly** via email at camcmorr@ucalgary.ca and she would be happy to give you more information and full details of the study.

The University of Calgary Conjoint Faculties Research Ethics Board has approved this research study.

Thank you,

Carly McMorris, PhD, R. Psych

Assistant Professor, Werklund School of Education

Alberta Children's Hospital Research Institute (ACHRI)

University of Calgary

EDT 508; 2500 University Dr. NW

Calgary, AB T2N 1N4

403-220-5457

The Owerko Centre Child Development Centre (CDC) 355, 3820- 24 Avenue NW, Third Floor Calgary, AB T3B 2X9 403-441-8410

Appendix C



Name of Researcher, Faculty, Department, Telephone & Email:

Carly McMorris

Werklund School of Education, School and Applied Child Psychology 403-220-5457, camemorr@ucalgary.ca

Gabrielle Wilcox

Werklund School of Education, School and Applied Child Psychology 403-220-2534, gwilcox@ucalgary.ca

David Nordstokke

Werklund School of Education, School and Applied Child Psychology 403-220-4212, dnordsto@ucalgary.ca

Research Assistant:

Muzna Choudhry Werklund School of Education, School and Applied Child Psychology michoudh@ucalgary.ca

Renfrew Researcher:

Ryan Matchullis @renfreweducation.org

Title of Project:

Complex students: Understanding how to best supports students with a comorbid developmental or physical health need

Sponsor:

Werklund Research Collaboration Grant Werklund School of Education, University of Calgary

This consent form, a copy of which has been given to you, is only part of the process of informed consent. If you want more details about something mentioned here, or information not included here, you should feel free to ask. Please take the time to read this carefully and to understand any accompanying information.

The University of Calgary Conjoint Faculties Research Ethics Board has approved this research study.

Participation in this study is completely voluntary. You are free to discontinue participation at any time during the study.

Purpose of the Study

Approximately 20% of youth in Canada suffer from a mental health issue. Individuals with neurodevelopmental or medical disorders are at even higher risk for experiencing poor mental health than the general population. Students who experience multiple complex issues require more academic, behavioural, and social-emotional supports. Little is known about what supports these individuals are accessing, what they need, and how to support them at school. The purpose of the study is to identify the academic needs of students with complex needs (e.g., a mental health disorder and a developmental issue), and understand how teachers and staff support these students in an academic environment. Findings from this study could improve the use and accessibility of resources, as well as teacher and staff well-being within schools in Calgary.

What Will I Be Asked To Do?

You will participate in a focus group comprised of teachers and staff from Renfew Education Services to discuss current matters pertaining to services for students who have complex needs in the classroom. Complex students may have a neurodevelopmental (e.g., Learning Disability, Autism Spectrum Disorder, Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, Epilepsy) as well as a physical or mental health issue, and require more support at school. Researchers from the study will act as group facilitators to guide a collaborative discussion based on your experience of how school or community services are accessed or coordinated for these students. Your group will consist of a maximum 15 participants, and the focus group will convene during lunch, for approximately 1 hour, at a Renfrew location. Lunch will be provided and your name will be entered into win 1 of 3 Visa cards (\$25.00).

An audiotape of the entire meeting will be recorded for the researchers to reflect and analyze the discussion topics for the purpose of the study.

All participants are invited to freely and respectfully express their opinion, build and elaborate on the ideas of others, and share their personal experiences or challenges on the topic. Additionally, participants may discuss issues that the researchers had not previously considered. This allows the researchers to gain a more authentic understanding of teacher perspectives without over-guiding the discussion.

An example of a discussion topic we would like to explore is: "What resources are available to you to support students with complex needs?"

Participation is completely voluntary. You may refuse to participate altogether, refuse to participate in parts of the study, decline to answer any and all questions, and may withdraw from the study at any point in time without judgment or penalty from the researchers, or Renfrew Education Services.

What Type of Personal Information Will Be Collected?

Minimal personal information is collected in this study. Should you agree to participate, you will be asked to provide your gender, teaching area, years of experience, experience with complex students and current position. This information will be used to describe the whole group and will not be associated with any individual participants.

The audio recording of the focus group will only be accessed by members of the research team and will not be shown to the public at any time. Your given name may be used during the discussion, but it will be excluded from the audio transcription.

There are several options for you to consider if you decide to take part in this research. You can choose all, some, or none of them. Please review each of these options and choose Yes or No:

I grant permission to be audio-taped:	Yes:	_ No:
I wish to remain anonymous:	Yes:	_No:
I wish to remain anonymous, but you may refer to me by a pseudonym:	Yes:	_No:
You may quote me if I remain anonymous:	Yes:	_No:
The pseudonym I choose for myself is:		

Are there Risks or Benefits if I Participate

There are no foreseeable risks associated with this research project. However, some teachers or staff may feel uncomfortable when sharing a difficult experience working with a challenging student. You do not have to disclose information that you are not comfortable sharing. You will have an opportunity to provide a private written statement to the researchers to disclose information you are not comfortable sharing in the focus group.

Hearing other teachers and staff express their challenges and successes in the classroom can be a rewarding experience, and it is beneficial to learn about new and effective services or resources used in practice by other teachers.

What Happens to the Information I Provide?

The research team, including the research assistant, will have access to the information collected, but each participant will be coded with a participant ID to ensure anonymity. All identifiable information will be encrypted. Your employer will not have access to the information you provide, and your participation will not affect your job position.

The nature of the focus group prevents complete confidentiality, as participants are exposed to the personal responses of other group members through the context of discussion. All participants will be asked not to disclose anything said during the focus group, and by consenting to participate, you agree to not disclose anything from the focus group.

You can withdraw your participation and data collected at anytime. Please contact Dr. Carly McMorris at camemorr@ucalgary.ca or 403-220-5457 should you decide to withdraw. All previously collected data you have provided will be destroyed. Withdrawal from the study does not impact your ability to participate in future research with the University of Calgary. There are certain limitations to this withdrawal process. Focus groups involve participants building off of the contributions of others, meaning that even if one statement is removed, the participant's contribution could be alluded to by others. Additionally, voices may be difficult to distinguish, so removing the entire contribution of a participant may be infeasible.

No one except the researchers will be allowed to see or hear any of the focus group responses or the audio recording. None of the administrators will be present for the focus groups and information provided by the participants will not be shared with Renfrew Educational Services. Only group information will be summarized for any presentation or publication of results. The data are kept in a locked cabinet only accessible by the researcher team. The anonymous data will be stored for five years on a computer disk, at which time, it will be permanently erased.

yes, please provide your contact information (e-mail addi	ress, or phone number)

Signatures

Your signature on this form indicates that 1) you understand to your satisfaction the information provided to you about your participation in this research project, and 2) you agree to participate in the research project.

In no way does this waive your legal rights nor release the investigators, sponsors, or involved institutions from their legal and professional responsibilities. You are free to withdraw from this research project at any time. You should feel free to ask for clarification or new information throughout your participation.

Participant's Name: (please print)	
Participant's Signature:	
Date:	
Researcher's Name: (please print)	
Researcher's Signature:	Date:

Questions/Concerns

If you have any further questions or want clarification regarding this research and/or your participation, please contact:

Dr. Carly McMorris Werklund School of Education, School and Applied Child Psychology 403-220-5457, camemorr@ucalgary.ca

If you have any concerns about the way you've been treated as a participant, please contact the Research Ethics Analyst, Research Services Office, University of Calgary at (403) 220-6289/220-4283; email cfreb@ucalgary.ca. A copy of this consent form has been given to you to keep for your records and reference. The investigator has kept a copy of the consent form.

Appendix D

Focus group discussion begins with the facilitator asking the first question. Interview questions:

1)	What resources are available to you to support students with complex needs?
2)	What resources do you use regularly: e) From your school? f) From community? g) For teachers/staff? h) For students?
3)	How easy or challenging is it for you to access resources to support students with complex needs?
4)	What do you see as barriers for supporting students with complex needs? a) In the classroom b) In your school c) In your community
5)	How effective are the resources: c) For teachers/staff? d) For students?
6)	Do you feel the students are adequately supported as a result of using the resources that you have available?
7)	What do you need as a teacher/staff to better support students with complex needs?

Is there anything we missed or is there something else important that we should know about?

Appendix E

Focus Group Background Information Sheet

Complex Students: Understanding How to Best Support Students with Mental Health Issues and a Comorbid Developmental of Physical Health Need

Instructions:

The following information will be used to describe the whole focus group. Please complete the background information questions and **do not provide your name**:

	I am a (Check one):] Male [] Female [] Prefer not to say [] Other:
2.	What is your job title:
2.	How many years have you been in this role:
3.	How many years of experience do you have working with children with developmental or physical disabilities:
1.	Please outline your education background:
_	
).	My training or experience in working with mental health needs is:
	[] limited (less than 1 year)
	[] moderate (1-5 years)
	[] extensive (more than 5 years)
ó.	Do you have any specialized training in working with students with
	mental health needs?